
For requests for further information 
Contact: Rachel Graves 
E-Mail:     rachel.graves@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
To register to speak on an application please email: Speakingatplanning@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

 

 
 

Northern Planning Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Wednesday 14th January 2026 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: The Capesthorne Room - Town Hall, Macclesfield, SK10 1EA 
 

Please note that members of the public are requested to check the Council's 
website the week the Northern Planning Committee meeting is due to take place as 
Officers produce updates for some or all of the applications prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and after the agenda has been published 
 

 

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the top of each report. 
 
Please Note: This meeting will be live streamed. This meeting will be broadcast live, and a 
recording may be made available afterwards. The live stream will include both audio and 
video. Members of the public attending and/or speaking at the meeting should be aware 
that their image and voice may be captured and made publicly available. If you have any 
concerns or require further information, please contact Democratic Services in advance of 
the meeting. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest/Pre Determination   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary interests, other registerable interests, and non-registerable interests in 
any item on the agenda and for Members to declare if they have a pre-
determination in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 

3. Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 12 November 2025 as a correct 

record. 
 

4. Public Speaking   
 
 A total period of 5 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for 

the following: 
 

• Ward Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee 

• The relevant Town/Parish Council 
 
A period of 3 minutes is allocated for each of the planning applications for the 
following individuals/groups: 
 

• Members who are not members of the planning committee and are not the 
Ward Member 

• Objectors 

• Supporters 

• Applicants 
 

5. 25/2053/FUL - LAND OF THE FORMER KNOWLE HOUSE, SAGARS ROAD, 
HANDFORTH, SK9 3EA: Erection of care home facility to provide 76no. 
bedspaces including new parking, landscaping and other works to facilitate 
the development (Pages 9 - 54) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
6. 25/3610/OUT - LAND AT PIGGINSHAW, ALTRINCHAM ROAD, SK9 5NW: 

Outline application for the phased development of up to 4 residential self-
build, custom-build or open market dwellings, all matters reserved apart 
from primary access point and associated infrastructure (Pages 55 - 74) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
7. 25/3557/FUL - QC65 FIRST AVENUE, POYNTON, STOCKPORT, SK12 1ND: 

Change of use of QC65, First Avenue from Use Class B2 (General Industry) 
to Use Class B8 (Storage and distribution) and alterations to the existing 
building (Pages 75 - 88) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
8. 25/4184/PIP - LAND AT LOSTOCK HALL ROAD, POYNTON: Permission in 

principle for one dwelling (Pages 89 - 110) 
 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
 

 



 
 

9. 25/3963/PIP - CAUDEBEC CONGLETON ROAD, ALDERLEY EDGE, 
CHESHIRE EAST, SK9 7AL: Permission in principle for the construction of 
up to 2 dwellings (Pages 111 - 128) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
10. 25/1197/FUL - DAWSON FARM BUXTON ROAD, BOSLEY, MACCLESFIELD, 

CHESHIRE EAST, SK11 0PX: Demolition of existing agricultural buildings 
and dwellinghouse, and construction of new replacement dwellinghouse 
with associated renewables and landscaping (Pages 129 - 156) 

 
 To consider the above planning application. 

 
 
 
 

 
Membership:  Councillors M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, T Dean, K Edwards, A Harrison, 
S Holland, T Jackson, J Knight, J Smith, J Snowball, F Wilson (Vice-Chair) and M Warren 
(Chair) 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Northern Planning Committee 
held on Wednesday, 12th November, 2025 in the The Capesthorne Room - 

Town Hall, Macclesfield, SK10 1EA 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor M Warren (Chair) 
Councillor F Wilson (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, T Dean, K Edwards, A Harrison, 
S Holland, T Jackson, J Smith and J Snowball 

 
Officers in attendance 
Paul Wakefield, Planning Team Leader 
Nick Hulland, Principal Planning Officer 
Emma Hood, Principal Arboriculture Officer 
Neil Jones, Highways Officer 
Andrew Poynton, Planning and Highways Lawyer 
Rachel Graves, Democratic Services Officer 

 
 

21 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PRE DETERMINATION  
 
In relation to Item 7: 25/0958/PIP Land off Bolshaw Farm Lane, Heald 
Green, Councillor J Smith declared in the interests of openness that she 
was one of the ward councillors for this application and stated that she had 
not taken part in any discussions on the application. 
 
In relation to Item 6: 25/0454/PIP Land of Waterloo Road, Poynton, 
Councillor M Beanland declared in the interests of openness that he was a 
member of the Poynton Town Council Planning Committee and when that 
committee had considered this application, he had not taken part any 
discussion or decision and had not predetermined the application. 
 
In relation to Item 6: 25/0454/PIP Land of Waterloo Road, Poynton, 
Councillor S Holland declared in the interests of openness that she knew 
one of the public speakers on this application but had not discussed the 
matter with them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 3



23 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 October 2025 be confirmed as a 
correct record. 
 

24 PUBLIC SPEAKING  
 
The public speaking procedure was noted. 
 

25 25/1064/OUT - LAND ADJOINING JENNY HEYES HEYES LANE, 
ALDERLEY EDGE, CHESHIRE EAST, SK9 7LH: OUTLINE PLANNING 
APPLICATION FOR 9 DWELLINGS (ACCESS CONSIDERED ALL 
OTHER MATTERS RESERVED).  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
Wilmslow Town Councillor Jon Newell, Alderley Edge Parish Councillor Ali 
Bates and Mr Stephen Harris (Agent).   
 
A written statement was read out on behalf of Councillor Craig Browne 
(Alderley Edge ward member). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be REFUSED against officer recommendations, for 
the following reasons: 
 
Inappropriate development in the Green Belt – Site does not meet the 
definition of Grey Belt as it makes a strong contribution to purpose (a) and 
is contrary to paragraph 155a.  Proposal also contrary to paragraph 155c, 
as it is not in a sustainable location 
 
Should the application be the subject of an appeal, approval is given to 
enter into a S106 Agreement with the following Heads of Terms: 
 

S106 Amount Trigger 

Provision of Affordable 
Housing 

2 affordable units should 
8 or 9 dwellings come 
forward at Reserved 
Matters. 
 
1 affordable unit should 7 
dwellings come forward 
at Reserved Matters 

To be completed before 
50% of the market 
housing is sold or let 

On-site incidental open 
space management and 
maintenance 

Establishment of a 
private management 
company 

Prior to the occupation of 
the first dwelling 

Page 6



 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of Northern 
Planning Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

26 25/0454/PIP - LAND OFF WATERLOO ROAD, POYNTON, CHESHIRE 
EAST, SK12 1RZ: PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE FOR UP TO 2 NO. 
DWELLINGS  
 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
Councillor Jos Saunders (ward councillor), Poynton Town Councillor 
Laurence Clarke, Jennie Jefferies (objector) and Mr Gareth Salthouse 
(agent). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be REFUSED against officer recommendations, for 
the following reasons: 
 
Inappropriate development in the Green Belt – Site does not meet the 
definition of Grey Belt as it makes a strong contribution to purpose (a) and 
is contrary to paragraph 155a.  Proposal also contrary to paragraph 155c, 
as it is not in a sustainable location. Additional harm to the Green Belt 
arising from conflict with Green Belt purpose c) – safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment 
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of Northern 
Planning Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

27 25/0958/PIP - LAND OFF BOLSHAW FARM LANE, HEALD GREEN, 
CHEADLE, CHESHIRE EAST, SK8 3JZ: PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE 
FOR UP TO 6NO. DWELLINGS  

 
Consideration was given to the above planning application. 
 
The following attended the meeting and spoke in relation to the 
application: 
Handforth Town Councillor Roger Small and Mr Matt Claxton (agent). 

Page 7



 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the application be REFUSED against officer recommendations, for 
the following reasons: 
 
Inappropriate development in the Green Belt – Site does not meet the 
definition of Grey Belt as it makes a strong contribution to purpose (a) and 
is contrary to paragraph 155a.  Proposal also contrary to paragraph 155c, 
as it is not in a sustainable location. Additional harm to the Green Belt 
arising from conflict with Green Belt purpose c) – safeguarding the 
countryside from encroachment. 
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning 
had delegated authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of Northern 
Planning Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 

28 CHESHIRE EAST BOROUGH COUNCIL (CHELFORD - LAND SOUTH 
OF PEPPER STREET) TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 2025  
 
The Committee considered the report on the background and issues 
surrounding the making of a Tree Preservation Order on 15 July 20205 at 
land south of Pepper Street, Chelford, and the considered the 
representation made to the Council with regard to the content of the Tree 
Preservation Order. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Tree Preservation Order at Land south of Pepper Street, 
Chelford, be confirmed with no modifications. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 10.30 am and concluded at 2.49 pm 
 

Councillor M Warren (Chair) 
 

 

Page 8



Application No: 25/2053/FUL 

Application Type: Full Planning 

Location: Land Of The Former Knowle House, Sagars Road, Handforth, 
SK9 3EA 
 

Proposal: Erection of care home facility to provide 76no. bedspaces 
including new parking, landscaping and other works to facilitate 
the development. 
 

Applicant: Wrightcare Developments Ltd and Deansgate M5 Ltd 

  

Summary 
 
The proposal is for erection of a new residential care home with associated parking, 
landscape and access.  The development would include 76 bedrooms providing residential 
and dementia care.  There has previously been a residential home on the site which was 
demolished following a fire. 
 
The proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt. There are no other exceptions 
under Green Belt policy that would apply in this case.  As a major housing proposal, the 
‘Golden Rules’ under NPPF paragraph 155/156 apply. There are not considered to be very 
special circumstances that outweigh Green Belt harm.  
 
The Council has a ‘Home First’ strategy of care aimed at keeping people living 
independently for as long as possible.  The Council is in the process of updating an 
Accommodation Strategy with regard to housing with specialist care, however at present 
there is not sufficient date to formally object to the planning application with regard to 
identified need.  The delivery of 76 bed care units would help relieve an identified unmet 
need including the provision of residential care and specialist dementia care and would 
contribute to housing land supply.  Parking and impact on highways is on balance 
acceptable.  Developer’s contributions would be required for the NHS. 

 
The height and elevational treatment of the building and relationship with nearby buildings is 
considered acceptable and due to separation distances, there are no significant residential 
amenity concerns. 
 
However the design appears to be a standard design that has been applied to the site which 
raises a number of issues with the layout and legibility. There are a number of matters 
highlighted, relating  
to the relationship with the Local Wildlife Site / Priority woodland, surface water drainage and 
the Dobbin Brook, tree root protection areas and social relationship with trees to the south.  
 
There is outstanding information required in relation to Biodiversity Net Gain.  

 
Summary recommendation  
 
Refuse 

 

1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
1.1. The application relates to a ‘Small-Scale Major Development’, and under the terms of the 

Constitution it is required to be determined by the Northern Planning Committee. 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



 
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 
 

2.1. The site comprises an area of land, some of which was previously occupied by a private 
nursing care facility which was demolished (following a fire) in 1996. The site covers an area 
of approximately 1.07 hectares. It is located within the Green Belt and the Bollin Valley locally 
designated landscape. The site is bounded to the west by Dobbin Brook which is located in a 
woodland corridor, to the south by an area of woodland and to the east by existing residential 
development. The site is accessed from Sagars Road to the north, with an access driveway 
to the south where the site opens out to a cleared area of land. 
 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 
3.1. The proposal is for the construction of a new build 76 bed care home to provide nursing and 

residential care for a range of needs including dementia care within a specialist unit.    
 

3.2. The Council offers a pre-application advice service for major development. No pre application 
advice was provided for the current care home proposal.  An informal enquiry was made, and 
the applicant’s agent was directed to the formal pre-application service, but this was not taken 
up. 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

20/3562M - Erection of 26 dwellings of which 13 affordable with improvement to existing 
access. Refused 09-04-2021 APP/R0660/W/21/3284310 Appeal Dismissed 
 
13/3883M - Residential development of 20 dwellings and associated works. Refused 31-01-
2014 

 

02/1131P - Replacement dwellinghouse – Withdrawn 12.08.2002 
 

01/0507P - Residential development of footprint of Knowle House (outline) – Refused 
25.04.2001  

 

96/0564P - Two 48 bedroomed nursing homes – Refused 03.03.1996  
 

96/1725P - Rebuilding of Knowle House to provide nursing care unit (outline application) – 
Withdrawn 13.01.1997  

 

71134P - Health care facility to include 24 bed acute care unit 12 bed nursing care unit 12 no. 
Low dependency units administrative unit and 16 no. Garages  

 
 

5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 

5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 
March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications and 
the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be taken into 
account for the purposes of decision making. 

 
5.2. The latest version of the NPPF was released in December 2024, with further amendments 

in February 2025. Of particular relevance are chapters in relation to: Achieving sustainable 

Page 10



development, Decision making, Promoting healthy and safe communities, Making effective 
use of land,  Achieving well designed places and Conserving an enhancing the historic 
environment. 

 

6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 
 

6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 
planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) was 
adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was adopted 
in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this application are set 
out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where applicable to the application 
site. 

 
6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and Cheshire East Site 

Allocations and Development Plan Policies Document (SADPD) 
 

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (LPS) 

MP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

PG1 Overall Development Strategy 

PG 3 Green Belt 

PG 6 Open Countryside 

SC3 Health and Wellbeing 

SC4 Residential Mix 

SD1 Sustainable development in Cheshire East 

SD2 Sustainable development principles 

SE 1 Design 

SE 3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

SE 4 The Landscape 

SE 6 Green Infrastructure 

SE 8 Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

SE12 Pollution Land Contamination and Land Instability 

CO 1 Sustainable Travel and Transport 

CO 4 Enabling Business Growth Through Transport Infrastructure 

Appendix C Parking Standards 

 

Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) 

PG 9 Settlement boundaries 

GEN 1 Design Principles 

GEN 5 Aerodrome safeguarding 

ENV 3 Landscape Character 

ENV 5 Landscaping 

ENV 6 Trees, hedgerows and woodland implementation 

ENV 7 Climate Change 

ENV 12 Air Quality 

ENV 14 Light Pollution 

ENV 15 New development and existing uses 

ENV 16 Surface water management and flood risk 

HOU 1 Housing Mix 

HOU 2 Specialist Housing Provision 

HOU 8 Space, accessibility and wheelchair housing standards  

HOU 12 Amenity 

Page 11



HOU 13 Residential standards 

INF 3 Highway safety and access 

INF 9 Utilities 

 
6.3. Handforth Neighbourhood Plan 

 
Policies of the Neighbourhood Plan relevant to the consideration of this application are: 
 

H1 New Housing in Handforth  
H2 Providing appropriate House Types, Tenures and Sizes to meet Local Needs 
H8 Landscape and Biodiversity  
H9 Trees and Hedgerows  
H11 Encouraging High Quality Design  
H12 Surface water management  
H13 Supporting the Local Economy 
H16 Congestion and Highway Safety  
H18 Promoting sustainable transport  
H19 Improving access to the countryside in Handforth and the surrounding area 
 

 
7. RELEVANT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS OR GUIDANCE 

 
7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the Development Plan 

but may be a material consideration in decision making. The following documents are 
considered relevant to this application: 
 

7.2.   SuDS SPD 
Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain SPD 
Developer Contributions SPD 
Cheshire East Design Guide SPD 
Cheshire East Local Landscape Designation Review 2018 
Housing SPD 
Housing Strategy 2013-2023 
Council’s Housing Monitoring Update April 2025 
Vulnerable and Older Persons’ Housing Strategy 2020-2024 
Cheshire East Local Landscape Designation Review 2018 
Green Belt Assessment Update 2015 

 

 
8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 

 
United Utilities: Condition requested for drainage scheme. Advice provided. 

 

Environmental Protection: Noise impact assessment accepted, to be conditioned. 
Informatives/ conditions provided in relation to hours of construction, dust management, piling, 
air quality, light pollution. 

 

Contaminated Land:  Comments made regarding submitted Geotechnical report.  No formal 
objection raised, conditions and informatives requested in the case of an approval.  

 

Highways:  Further information requested regarding parking provision initially. No objections 
on receipt of additional information.   
 
Adult Social Care:   The Council  promotes a ‘Home First’ strategy to optimise independence 
as long as possible. The Council is in the process of updating the Market Position Statement 

Page 12



and developing an Accommodation Strategy which will provide a clearer view of future 
commissioning intentions and systems capacity.  The Head of Service does not actively 
support the application at this stage, however at present there is not sufficient date to formally 
object to the planning application with regard to identified need.  
 
Strategic Housing: No objection – does not trigger Council’s affordable housing policy.  

 

NHS – concerns raised over Primary Care and community services capacity and impact on 
existing service provision in the area. The NHS has provided a number of responses, including 
requesting a developer contribution. The final response has raised an objection. 
 
Manchester Airport – conditions requested relating to exterior lighting, solar panels, 
birdstrike control and landscaping.  Informatives are requested in relation to drones, dust, 
cranes and tall equipment. On reconsultation a query was raised over the BNG statement.  
 
LLFA – Following receipt of additional information – no objections.  
 
Handforth Town Council – Strongly recommends refusal 
 - 20/3562M for 26 dwellings appeal upheld – Green Belt harm, urban sprawl in gap between 
Handforth and Wilmslow. Since then Fairways estate surely means development of Knowle 
House site would not now cause substantial harm to openness. 
Green belt land in Dean valley ensures separation between Handforth and Wilmslow. 
Therefore site’s contribution to Green belt is now minimal. Other reasons for objection: 
- Care home not needed. – other carehomes nearby listed, a number include 

respite/dementia care. Home First strategy. Closure of homes in Stockport. Does not 
demonstrate a need.  

- Additional pressure on GP and related health services. 
- Access to site  - narrow in poor state of repair. Parking concerns on Sagars Road. 
- May contradict with HNP H1 para 4 – new housing supported provided appropriate and 

safe access can be achieved. 
- Lack of surface water drainage information. 
- Outside of settlement boundary – subject to policies including CELPS PG6. 
- Adjacent to SSSI Dobbin Brook Clough – impact on flora and fauna and tranquillity of the 

woodland walk (APP/R0660/W/21/3284310) 
- Site not recommended for development in HNP. Concern over design, conflict with H11 

para.1. 
- Possible Japanese knotweed on site. 
 
Following amendments (December 2025) - Town Council object raising the same issues 
above, with the exception of drainage matters. 
 

9. REPRESENTATIONS 
 

32 representations raising concerns/objections received in response to the initial 
proposals, from 26 addresses  

- Access unsuitable for construction or increased traffic 
- Impact on local infrastructure – roads, healthcare. Recent 250 house development 

already significant impact. 
- Congestion, cars often parked along Sagars Rd reducing it to single lane for most of 

its length.  
- Gateway is used as a turning area as road beyond not fit for vehicles. 
- Noise, dust and vibration impact from traffic and construction 
- Noise from bike/motorbike parking close to neighbours 
- Noise from mechanical plant – concerned that this relies on a future review.  
- Roads damaged by construction traffic. Request for financial contribution. 

Page 13



- Funding request for improving pedestrian and cycle networks  
- Invest in local green space 
- Safety concerns.  
- 7.5T weight limit on Sagars Rd – access via Meriton Rd/ Hampson Cres has had 

continuous site traffic for over a number of years with Fairways development.  
- Wheel washing mitigation not carried out on other development, likely again. 
- Low pressure water supply – will be exacerbated by increased demand 
- Loss of green space.  Impact on adjacent area used for recreation and wellbeing 
- No material change since previous refusal/appeal. 
- Green Belt objections 
- Site adjacent to SSSI, impact on wildlife, hedgehogs , bats, owls 
- Insufficient parking on site.  
- Flooding concerns off site, poor drainage.  
- Bus service timings unsuitable for shift workers 
- No off site parking for operatives vehicles.  
- Request for all residents of Sagars Rd and Queens Terrace are notified.  
- Other carehomes nearby, no need for another carehome. 
- Impact on property value 
- Imposing design not welcoming or homely. 
- Too large for the site 
- Land contamination concerns 
- Handforths requirements covered mainly by Growth village. Queries over housing 

requirement methodology.  
- Disappointing loss of onsite biodiversity in BNG metric (off site compensation) 
- Concern over management of invasive plant species on the site. 
- Overlooking concerns 
- Concern over changes post permission 
- Land contamination concerns 
- Handforths requirements covered mainly by Growth village. Queries over housing 

requirement methodology.  
 

Representations received following amendments and reconsultation (December 2025): 
13 objections from interested parties including Patients Participation Group (PPG) 

- Concerns over disruption and vibration from construction traffic and additional traffic, 
following other recent development in the area. 

- No significant changes to satisfy loss of Green Belt land and other previous objections. 
- Impact on health services 
- No definitive demonstration of need for another carehome in the area 
- There is a need for affordable housing 
- Insufficient parking 
- Noise concerns 
- Negative impact on woodland, ecology, Dobbin Brook. 
- Overlooking of neighbours 
- Drainage concerns 
- Patients Participation Group (PPG) for Handforth Health Centre -  Objection.  
- 2 care homes in the immediate vicinity with vacancies, no further need. 
- Attracts people from outside CE 
- Residents initially self funded but then CE are expected to pay 
- Impact on GP practices, less appointments for Handforth residents 
- Input needed from other health services as well. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
Procedural Matters 
 

9.1. Neighbours have been consulted and a site notice was erected by the site boundary. The 
application site has been reduced in scale during the application process to remove small 
areas along the eastern boundary from the site edged red, in line with the applicant’s 
ownership.  
 

10. OFFICER APPRAISAL  
 

Principle of the development 
 

10.1.  The application site is located within the Green Belt. The current application site has 
previously been occupied by Knowle House, a care home destroyed by fire and subsequently 
demolished.  

 
10.2. Paragraph 154 of the NPPF states that development in the Green Belt is inappropriate. A 

number of exceptions are given within paragraph 154 which are broadly consistent with 
CELPS policy PG 3. This includes (g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment 
of previously developed land (including a material change of use to residential or mixed use 
including residential), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), 
which would not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt. 

 

10.3. The NPPF definition for previously developed land includes the following:  Land which has 
been lawfully developed and is or was occupied by a permanent structure and any fixed 
surface infrastructure associated with it, including the curtilage of the developed land 
(although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed). It 
also includes land comprising large areas of fixed surface infrastructure such as large areas 
of hardstanding which have been lawfully developed. 

 

10.4. The NPPF definition excludes land that was previously developed but where the remains of 
the permanent structure of fixed surface have blended into the landscape. 

 

10.5. Application 20/3562M for 26 dwellings and associated works on the site was refused due to 
conflict with Green Belt policy. A second reason for refusal was due to no details of how it 
would protect, restore and enhance the character an appearance of the Bollin Valley Local 
Landscape Designation Area.  The application was dismissed at appeal (ref: 
APP/T3725/W/18/3218529). 

 

10.6. The inspector’s decision considered the site as previously developed land, although noting 
that it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage of previously developed land 
should be developed, in accordance with the NPPF definition of previously developed land.  
The proposal was found to amount to substantial harm to Green Belt openness, and therefore 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Additional Green Belt harm was considered in 
terms of conflict with Green Belt purposes (a), (b) and (c).  
 

10.7. The current proposal likewise would introduce a substantial amount of built form to the site, 
resulting in an impact on openness. Given that the existing site is currently vacant with the 
exception of some remains of the former development at ground level there would be harm to 
openness as a result of the proposals. It is considered that the current proposal would result 
in substantial harm to Green Belt openness and as such would not meet the exception within 
the NPPF for previously developed land. 

 

10.8. Since determination of application 20/3562M there have been changes in planning policy 
both at national and local level. Most significant for this application is the amendments to the 

Page 15



NPPF in December 2024, introducing the concept of ‘Grey Belt’, with subsequent minor 
update to the NPPF and also associated National Planning Practice Guidance notes to assist 
in interpretation of the NPPF changes, in February 2025.  

 

10.9. Although the current application proposals do not fall into any of the exceptions to 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt within paragraph 154 of the NPPF and Policy 
PG3 of the CELPS, consideration needs to be given to Paragraph 155 of the NPPF, which 
introduces a new exception to inappropriate development.  

 

10.10. Paragraph 155 states that ‘The development of homes, commercial and other 
development in the Green Belt should also not be regarded as inappropriate where all the 
following apply: 

 
a. The development would utilise grey belt land and would not fundamentally undermine 

the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan. 
b. There is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed. 
c. The development would be in a sustainable location, with particular reference to 

paragraphs 110 and 115 of this Framework; and 
d. Where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements 

set out in paragraphs 156-157 below.’ 
 

10.11. The Planning Statement asserts that the proposed development meets the new ‘grey 
belt’ exception.  The following considers whether the site would be classed as ‘Grey Belt’:  
 
Identifying Grey Belt – Purposes a,b and d (NPPF par 155 (a)) 
 

10.12. Grey Belt is defined within Annex 2: Glossary of the NPPF as: 
‘For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined as land in 
the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that, in either 
case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in paragraph 143. 
‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the policies relating to the areas or 
assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason for refusing 
or restricting development.’ 
 

 
10.13. The question in relation to whether the site should be classed as ‘grey belt’ is initially 

whether the site does not strongly contribute to either purpose (a), (b) or (d) of the Green Belt 
as defined by paragraph 143 of the NPPF. 
 

• Purpose (a) is – ‘to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas’. 

• Purpose (b) is – ‘to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another’ 

• Purpose (d) is – ‘to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns’ 
 

10.14. The Green Belt Assessment Update 2015 for Cheshire East considered a number 
of parcels of land under the Green Belt purposes within the NPPF. This includes a larger 
parcel of land which the current application forms a part, listed within the Assessment as 
HF01.  HF01 was found to have a significant contribution to the Green Belt under an 
assessment of Green Belt purposes.   
 

10.15. It is necessary to consider the contribution of the wider parcel of land as well as 
the site’s contribution to this wider parcel of land.  The following assessment considers 
the above purposes in relation to the application site, also referencing the considerations 
within the 2015 Assessment.  

 

Page 16



10.16. The Green Belt assessment 2015 considered the larger parcel of land, extending 
to the south east, to the south of Knowle Park and Valley Drive, to the west of Manchester 
Road. Site HF01 was considered to make a major contribution to the green belt. It was 
considered to have a strong contribution to Purpose (a), having a role in preventing 
southward sprawl of Handforth as well as ribbon development along Manchester Road.  
The assessment notes the parcel HF01 as having strong boundaries including from 
wooded area to the north and River Dean to the south. The current application site is a 
small part, to the north west of parcel HF01.  

 

10.17. The inspector’s decision in relation to application 20/3562M considered as 
follows in relation to that proposal: The current physical boundary along the edge of the 
Knowle Park estate provides a clear distinction between the built-up area and surrounding 
Green Belt. In my opinion, the spread of built development of this size across an open 
site which has no buildings on it would amount to urbanisation and sprawl. The fact that 
it would be contained by existing landscape features is not a sound basis for me to 
conclude that the development would not conflict with purpose (a).   

 

10.18. The subsequent PPG guidance provides additional steps in assessment since 
the issue of the updated NPPF.  

 

Purpose (a)  (Sprawl) 
 

10.19. Under assessment for Purpose (a) (Sprawl) using paragraph 005 of the PPG, an 
area that contributes strongly is likely to be free of existing development, and lack physical 
feature(s) in reasonable proximity that could restrict and contain development.  Also likely 
to include all of the following features: 

- be adjacent or near to a large built up area 
- if developed, result in an incongruous pattern of development (such as an extended 
“finger” of development into the Green Belt) 

 

10.20. With regard to Purpose (a) (Sprawl) it is considered that the contribution that the 
land subject to the proposed residential development is ‘Moderate’.  
 

10.21. Whilst there are no existing buildings on the site, the site does contain remains 
of development. The site is largely enclosed on all sides, with residential development to 
the east, woodland to the west and south, and the narrow access strip between these two 
off Sagars Road to the north.  These physical features do provide restriction and 
containment for development within the site. However, it is noted that there is some 
proposed incursion into the edges of the woodland. 

 

10.22. The site is adjacent to the settlement boundary of Handforth, and around 250 
metres north of the edge of the Stanneylands development extension to Wilmslow. Both 
of these are identified as Key Service Centres in policy PG 2 of the CELPS. As such it 
would be considered to be adjacent or near to a built up area. 

 

10.23. Part of the consideration for Purpose (a) (Sprawl) relates to whether the site 
would result in a “an incongruous pattern of development (such as an extended “finger” 
of development into the Green Belt)”.  

 

10.24.  The site is to the west of the Knowle Park area. The site is wider at the south, 
where the main development would be a relatively consolidated block rather than spread 
across the entire site.  It would be a wedge shape of development alongside a built up 
area and on balance would not be considered an incongruous pattern of development.  

 

Page 17



10.25. The site contributes to the role of the larger parcel referenced above as HF01 in 
preventing sprawl. However in consideration of the remaining gap to the south this would 
remain largely consistent in separation from development to the south, as that which 
exists further to the east towards Manchester Road.   

 

10.26. In accordance with the PPG guidance the land subject to the application 
proposals is on balance not deemed to ‘strongly contribute’ to the purposes of the Green 
Belt in relation to Purpose (a) (Sprawl).  

 

Purpose (b) (preventing towns merging).  
 

10.27. Purpose (b) relates to the merging of towns, not villages. Under planning practice 
guidance relating to an assessment under purpose (b)  a strong contribution would have 
the following features:  

 

Assessment areas that contribute strongly are likely to be free of existing development 
and include all of the following features:  
 
- forming a substantial part of a gap between towns 
 
- the development of which would be likely to result in the loss of visual separation of 
towns  

 

10.28. A moderate contribution would be areas that are likely to be located in a gap 
between towns, but include one or more features that weaken their contribution to this 
purpose, such as (but not limited to):  
 
- forming a small part of the gap between towns 
 
- being able to be developed without the loss of visual separation between towns. This 
could be (but is not limited to) due to the presence or the close proximity of structures, 
natural landscape elements or topography that preserve visual separation 

 

 

10.29. With regards to Purpose (b) (towns merging), it is considered that the application 
site’s contribution that the land subject to the development with regards to the merging of 
towns would be ‘Moderate’. This is because the site lies adjacent to or near a large built-
up area and includes features that weaken its contribution, in the form of landscape 
elements and existing boundary edges as described above.  The 2015 assessment 
likewise found that HF01, along with HF02 played a major contribution to preventing 
Handforth and Wilmslow merging. It is noted that Wilmslow and Handforth have merged 
in places and these parcels were considered vital to maintain the gap. This site however 
is a relatively small part of a gap.  

 
Purpose (d) (Setting and character of historic towns) 

 
10.30. The 2015 Green Belt update considered parcel HF01 not to contribute to purpose 

(d) as Handforth is not an historic town. This remains the case and the site would not 
contribute strongly to purpose (d).  

 
Identifying grey belt – Footnote 7 
 

10.31. Footnote 7 states the following:   

Page 18



The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in development 
plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 194) and/or 
designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local 
Green Space, a National Landscape, a National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or 
defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other 
heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); and areas at risk of 
flooding or coastal change. 

 
10.32. The woodlands surrounding the site are a Local Wildlife Site. It is not a Site of 

Special Scientific Interest nor a habitat site as defined under paragraph 194. The site is 
within Flood Zone 1 where there is not a high risk of flooding. There are no designated 
heritage assets or other constraints within the paragraph above other than that of 
designated Green Belt.  
 

10.33. Based on the assessment above under the relevant Green Belt purposes, there 
is no strong reason for refusing or restricting development purely within Green Belt 
considerations.  

 

Identifying grey belt – Conclusions 
10.34. Given that the site is not considered to strongly contribute to purposes (a), (b) 

and (d) of the Green Belt and there is no other strong reason under footnote 7 for refusing 
or restricting development, the site can be considered as ‘grey belt’.  
 
Grey belt and fundamentally undermining purposes of Green Belt (155a) 
 

10.35. The second part of paragraph 155a requires consideration as to whether the 
development would fundamentally undermine the purposes taken together of the 
remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan.  
 

10.36. The inspector’s decision to the previous application on the site found conflict with  
purpose (c), which sought permission for 26 dwellings spread across the site. The 
current application does introduce further activity to the site but with built form within a 
more consolidated block.   Even if it is considered that there is some level of 
encroachment under the current proposal, this would be limited in the context of the 
parameters of 155a. With regard to (d) the site is not urban land, although it is partially 
derelict land. Therefore its reuse in principle would not undermine purpose (d).   

 

10.37. Given the scale of the proposals in relation to the whole Green Belt across 
Cheshire East, it is not considered in this case that the proposal would fundamentally 
undermine the purposes (a, b, c, d and e taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
area across the plan.  

 

Unmet Need  (155b)  
 
Housing Land Supply 

 

10.38. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy was adopted on the 27th July 2017 and forms 
part of the statutory development plan. The plan sets out the overall strategy for the pattern, 
scale and quality of development, and makes sufficient provision for housing (36,000 new 
dwellings over the plan period, equating to 1,800 dwellings per annum) in order to meet the 
objectively assessed needs of the area.  
 

10.39. As the plan is more than five years old, deliverable housing land supply is measured 
using the local housing need figure (plus 5% buffer), which is currently 2,603 dwellings per 
year rather than the LPS figure of 1,800 dwellings per year. 

Page 19



 

10.40. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies the circumstances in 
which relevant development plan policies should be considered out-of-date. These include:  

 

• Where a local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (with appropriate buffer) or:  
• Where the Housing Delivery Test Measurement indicates that the delivery of housing was 
substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing required over the previous three years.  

 

10.41. In accordance with the NPPF, the council produces an annual update of housing 
delivery and housing land supply. The council’s most recent Housing Monitoring Update (base 
date 31 March 2024) was published in April 2025. The published report identifies a deliverable 
five year housing land supply of 10,011 dwellings which equates to a 3.8 year supply 
measured against the five year local housing need figure of 13,015 dwellings.  
 

10.42. The 2023 Housing Delivery Test Result was published by the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing & Communities on the 12 December 2024 and this confirms a Housing Delivery 
Test Result of 262%. Housing delivery over the past three years (7,392 dwellings) has 
exceeded the number of homes required (2,820). The publication of the HDT result affirms 
that the appropriate buffer to be applied to the calculation of housing land supply in Cheshire 
East is 5%.  

 

10.43. In the context of five-year housing land supply, relevant policies concerning the supply 
of housing should be considered out-of-date and consequently the ‘tilted balance’ at 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged.   

 

Need for Care Home  
 

10.44. Policy HOU2 of the SADPD advises that the delivery, retention and refurbishment of  
supported and specialist housing, which meets an identified need, will be supported. 
Supported and specialist housing should be designed to satisfy the requirements of the 
specific use or group it is intended for, whilst being adaptable and responsive to changing 
needs over the lifetime of the development and meet the requirements of other relevant local  
plan policies.  Policy SC 4 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy states the following : 
Development proposals for accommodation designed specifically for the elderly and people 
who require specialist accommodation will be supported where there is a proven need; they 
are located within settlements; accessible by public transport; and within a reasonable walking 
distance of community facilities such as shops, medical services and public open space. 

 
10.45. The submitted Needs Assessment includes at appendix 2, the following table shows 

a breakdown of existing registered care for the elderly within a residential nursing environment 
in the borough.   
 

 
 

10.46. This is followed by an assessment of demand, identifying an undersupply of 569 
ensuite bedrooms for the elderly across the borough by 2030.  

Page 20



 
 

10.47. Cheshire East Council’s strategy is ‘Home First’ to optimise independence for as long 
as possible, supporting people to remain in their own home. 
 

10.48. The Head of service for Urgent & Emergency Care and New Models of Care has 
acknowledged the robustness of the assessment of need submitted by the agent and does 
not dispute the identified need. Anecdotally there are increased vacancies across existing 
homes and there is an estimated approximately 414 new beds across the borough within ‘a 
significant pipeline of planning applications’ plus a further potential 71 beds in extension 
applications.  

 
10.49. Closures referenced by the applicant’s documents include locations outside of the 

borough, which would not demonstrate a need for additional care home provision in Cheshire 
East. It should also be considered that there is a wider impact of additional care home 
developments, which may place further strain on primary care, community services and 
workforce availability.  

 

10.50. The Council is in the process of updating the Market Position Statement and 
developing an Accommodation Strategy which will provide a clearer view of future 
commissioning intentions and systems capacity.  The Head of Service does not actively 
support the application at this stage, however at present there is not sufficient data to formally 
object to the planning application with regard to identified need.  
 

10.51. The needs assessment considers other recent applications for care home beds to 
take into account other provision, with a need for beds outstanding. The current proposal 
would relieve some of this unmet need having regard for the unmet need including provision 
of specialist dementia care and as such it is considered to comply with policy HOU 1.  In 
accordance with the Council’s Housing Monitoring Update April 2025, housing completions 
include older person’s bed spaces, where each residential bedspace is counted as a single 
gain, counting towards housing delivery targets. This is a significant benefit of the proposal.  

 

10.52. Matters such as staff recruitment and retention policies and demonstration of viability 
issues would not be determinative in the planning assessment. The applicant is advised that 
the financial model should not rely on the local authority funding places and would have no 
obligation if a service user can no longer cover the weekly care fees. The proposal is to include 
dementia care within the development as well as more general residential and nursing care.  

 

10.53. Overall, there is a clear and demonstrable unmet need for the type of development 
proposed. 

 

Page 21



Sustainable location (155c) 
 

10.54. Paragraph 155 (c) sets out that the development should be in a sustainable location. 
It states that particular reference should be made to paragraphs 110 and 115 of the NPPF. 
10.1.32 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF states that significant development should be focused in 
locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering 
a genuine choice of transport modes.  
 

10.55. Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states that a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised, 
b) safe and suitable access can be achieved c) the design of the scheme should meet national 
guidance and d) any highways impact mitigated.  
 

10.56. The site is at the edge of a built up area where there are existing services. The 
Paddock local shopping area is located around 0.7 km from the site, with shops, a bus stop, 
and adjacent to a play area. Handforth Health Centre is located at the east end of Sagars 
Road, approximately 600m from the site entrance.  The planning statement notes public 
transport links with a bus stop 600m to the east along Sagars Road, with the 130 and 132 bus 
routes between Handforth, Manchester Airport, Handforth Dean Macclesfield and Wilmslow. 
Handforth railway station is approximately 750m east of the site.  It is noted also that these 
distances are taken from the entrance to the site which has a relatively long driveway to the 
building itself.  
 

10.57. Sagars Road from the west side of the site entrance has pavements and street 
lighting. The site is clearly within an area that has walkable access to key services. The site 
is considered to be in a sustainable location.  

 

Golden Rules (155 d) 
 

10.58. ‘Golden Rules’ under paragraphs 156 and 157 relate to contributions and affordable 
housing requirements for housing development in the Green Belt. The proposals are not use 
class C3 dwellings of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended) and Strategic Housing have commented that it would not trigger requirements for 
affordable housing under CELPS policy SC 5. Whilst the council’s policy under SC 5 does not 
specify requirement for affordable housing for this type of development, in accordance with 
the revised NPPF, Golden Rules apply under paragraph 155-156 for major housing proposals. 
As a major housing proposal, these rules would therefore apply. No affordable housing 
contributions have been offered, as such the proposal does not meet the Golden Rules of the 
NPPF and fails to comply with the requirements of the NPPF.   
 
Grey Belt conclusion 

 
10.59. The proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Concerns raised 

in representations with respect to the location have been taken into consideration. Following 
the above assessment it is considered whilst other Grey Belt considerations are met, the 
proposals would not meet the requirements of Golden Rules as a major housing proposal.  

 
Design and impact on the character of the area, and impact of design on future 
residents. 
 

10.60. New development should respect and enhance the existing architectural design 
themes, materials and scale within the immediate area and also not to detrimentally impact 
built heritage assets without clear and convincing justification given to outweigh any defined 
harm. The most applicable policies for consideration are SD1, SD2, SE1 and SE7 of the 
CELPS and GEN 1, HER 1, HER 4 of the SADPD, as well as chapters 12 and 16  of the NPPF.  
 

Page 22



10.61. GEN 1 of the SADPD  seeks for development to create high quality beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places, avoiding the imposition of standardised and /or generic 
design solutions where they do not establish and/or maintain a strong sense of quality and 
place. Handforth Neighbourhood Plan Policy H11 (Encouraging High Quality Design) requires 
that proposals should not feature designs specific to a generic scheme and must display how 
they take account of the locally distinctive character of the surrounding environment.   

 

10.62. SE 1 seeks for development proposals to achieve a sense of place through a number 
of means including encouraging innovative and creative design solutions that are appropriate 
to the local context.  

 

10.63. The  design officer has applied an assessment under the Building For a Healthy Life 
(BFHL) template, although noting as it is not a standard housing proposal it is not a perfect fit 
for this model. 

 

10.64. Natural Connections  - lack of clarity has been raised over pedestrian connection to 
Sagars Road. It is understood that the access road would have a pedestrian walkway 
alongside which would provide this access 

 

10.65. Walking, cycling and public transport - subject to a footway access the development 
is within walking distance of Handforth Station and local bus services. This is also discussed 
above within the sustainability considerations for the Green Belt assessment. 

 

10.66. Facilities and Services – A number of facilities are proposed within the development 
(eg hairdressers, cinema room) and the site is within reasonable proximity to other facilities 
within Handforth and a wider selection in Wilmslow. There is open space within the enclosed 
front communal garden and the woodland walk, considered as appropriate in initial design 
comments. However comments from the landscape team noted that the security fence to the 
northern side  is close to residents windows.  The Open Space officer has provided informal 
comment raising concerns of enclosure by a 1.8m high fence.  As elsewhere it is noted that 
there is no secure shared garden area – the central one being also the main access, and the 
rear woodland walk being access through the carpark and around the plant area.  

 

10.67. Homes for everyone – the specialist housing would not normally trigger affordable 
housing policy, but as noted in order to qualify as an exception to inappropriate development 
affordable housing in accordance with the Golden Rules should be provided. There is no 
affordable provision within the scheme. 

 

10.68. Making the most of what’s there – Mature trees border the south are noted as retained 
within the design officers response, however further consideration by the arboricultural officer 
raised concerns elsewhere in terms of social proximity and extent of pruning required. The 
building is noted as being of a similar scale to neighbouring properties, with regard to being 
two story in height although with a larger footprint. 

 

10.69. A memorable character – The Design consultee has commented that the area does 
not have an overriding architectural style, consisting of varied of two storey post war brick and 
tile semi-detached and detached houses . The low key design approach is supported, subject 
to materials palettes for the building and hard surfaces, in line with the CE Design Guide. The 
scale and massing is a relatively large floorplate building in the area, but with a precedent of 
a larger building on the site with the former home destroyed by fire understood to have been 
larger than the buildings typically nearby. Limiting the building to two-storeys, along with the 
use of a relatively shallow pitch has reduced the potential overlarge roof issues created by the 
deep plan, and this coupled with the articulation of the two wings helps to reduce the bulk. 
This is further assisted by the addition of the cladding to the protruding balcony terrace 
elements and some textured brick detailing creating a clean and contemporary building. 

Page 23



Following further discussion, the elevational treatment has been further amended to remove 
stone cills and include further articulation with textured brick. Proposed elevations include only 
one of the two inner faces of the wing, it is assumed the northern side would be a mirror image 
of the southern side.  A condition can be included in the case of an approval, for a 100mm 
reveal to windows to create a shadow line for visual interest and rather than flush windows. 
Amendments have provided greater attention to detail on the rear elevation, with a more 
prominent gable and brick detailing which is positive in terms of the external appearance of 
the building, given that there is a rear entrance which would serve as access for staff, 
ambulance parking and overflow visitor parking.  
 

10.70. Well defined streets and spaces - This is not directly relevant to a development of this 
type. It is noted that the building encloses a shared garden area, surrounded by private patios. 
However, this area also serves as the main entrance to the building. 

 

10.71. Easy to find your way around – Although considered easy to navigate in the initial 
design consultee response, later comments by the landscape consultee raised concerns 
about reliance on signage and about the access by ambulance. Ambulance parking has now 
been provided at the back, and a canopy over the rear entrance has been provided on the 
revised elevations, in response to comments from the landscape officer. Following informal 
comments from Open Space regarding wearability and accessibility for wheelchair users, the 
woodland walkway has been amended from loose gravel to a bound gravel surface.  The 
internal layout has been amended, but it remains the case that there are effectively two 
entrances, the front entrance from the limited number of visited parking spaces, including one 
accessible parking space, would lead through the central garden area to the front entrance 
inside the V shaped plan. The overflow parking however would lead to a small lobby then a 
series of 3 further internal doors before leading to the main reception area. Whilst this may be 
acceptable for staff arrivals it is less coherent for visitors accessing the area via the overflow 
parking or for ambulance staff.  

 

10.72. Cycle and car parking – as a higher need care home for people in receipt of daily care 
car parking is focussed on the needs of staff and visitors. The carparks are separated with 
some limited visitor parking at the front and with overflow and staff parking at the rear. Cycle 
storage is also provided at the frontage.  Amendments have provided ambulance parking at 
the rear adjacent to the rear entrance in response to queries by the landscape officer in terms 
of layout.  

 

10.73. Green and blue infrastructure - Concerns were raised initially regarding water 
management. SuDs features have been included in the drainage strategy although not shown 
on plans and would need to be conditioned. 

 

10.74. Back of pavement, front of home – Ground floor rooms have provided outside space 
with raised planters to separate from public areas which is positive. It is noted however that 
those on the northern elevation are relatively close looking out onto the entrance driveway. 
Waste storage has been shown to be at the rear of the building, design comments requested 
enclosure for these and concerns were raised by the landscape team requesting the clustering 
of plant away from the busy parking area, to enhance the user experience of the rear 
landscape. Amendments show the bin storage area adjacent to the rear wall of the building. 
However the amendments also show a large plant area central to the parking area,  separating 
the building visually and functionally from the woodland walk, and is now more prominent and 
visually intrusive than the original site plan. A query was raised by officers as to whether the 
plan could be altered to have the kitchen at the southern end, effectively mirroring the 
proposed layout, to enable access to bin store further from the carpark and access. The 
applicants team advised that the kitchen layout had already been designed and did not want 
to consider alternatives.  

 

Page 24



10.75. It is noted that the proposal is very similar to a recent development, Castlewood 
carehome for 68 beds in Clitheroe by the same provider.  It is understood that an important 
driver in the design was for no bedroom windows to overlook a carpark. This is achieved by 
the siting of bedroom windows either side of the two ‘wings’ of the V shaped plan, with services 
at the centre facing towards the carpark at the rear, and a smaller parking area at the end of 
one of the ‘wings’. Whilst this is a positive aspect in the design, it is noted that the current 
proposal differs in being for a larger number of rooms but on a site with constraints of the 
surrounding woodland. The Clitheroe site differs in directly fronting the road to the south, with 
a greater number of parking spaces at the front than at the Handforth site. The Clitheroe site 
includes a resident’s garden area adjacent to the west side of the site, separate from the 
central courtyard and access area and parking areas. Key differences are for example 
approximately 12 metre separation at Clitheroe from ground floor windows to the side access 
road around to the rear, with additional buffering from a hedge in between. There is also a 
more compact arrangement of external services, at the far end of the carpark, compared to 
the current proposal where the carparking wraps around a large plant area, separating the 
building visually and functionally from the woodland walk. Generally whilst there have been 
attempts to address concerns raised by officers, it would appear that a standard design 
approach has been taken that was used elsewhere and reapplied to this application  site,  
rather than a genuine approach to allow the constraints of the surroundings to inform and 
shape a site specific design.   
 

10.76. In comparison whilst the overall site area is larger for the current site this includes the 
extended driveway and the tree constraints around the edges of the site, overall resulting in a 
more cramped situation at Handforth than appears to be the case from the approved plans for 
the Clitheroe site. The access driveway along the northern side of the site is from 8.6 metres 
from the road edge, to around 4.3 metres at the western end of this elevation, resulting in a 
restricted arrangement of patio areas for some of these rooms, and close relationship to the 
access road.   

 

10.77. As noted above the woodland walk would be separated from the building by a rear 
carpark and large external plant enclosure. The woodland walk offers seating areas, but it 
appears that it would need to be accessed through or around the edge of the carpark rather 
than easily accessible from the building.  The Golden Rules seek to secure good quality 
greenspaces within a short walk, on site or off site.  The success of the woodland walk is 
heavily compromised by its positioning. The allotment space in the south west corner would 
likely be heavily shaded by the trees immediately to the south.   The windows to the southern 
elevation would also have potential to be impacted by the close proximity of tree canopies 
which are shown to be significantly cut back to accommodate the development, considered in 
more detail in the Arboricultural section of the report. 

 

10.78. The proposals have been amended following initial comments from officers. Officers 
have been advised that dementia patients would be accompanied whilst outside in the central 
landscaped gardens, such that the access through this area to the main front entrance would 
not be a concern for vulnerable residents. However it has not been demonstrated if an 
alternative layout would be possible, with provision of separate private amenity spaces, away 
from busy access points. Again as with the design section above it is considered that the 
standardised design has resulted in issues which could potentially have been considered at 
an earlier design stage. 

 

10.79. Overall to summarise whilst there are a number of matters which have not been raised 
as objections in the design response, with further consideration and assessment by the 
landscape officer it appears that there are a number of matters relating fundamentally to the 
design and layout of the site. The design appears to be a standardised layout which does not 
adequately respond to the constraints of the site, resulting in a cramped development with 

Page 25



issues in the layout which conflict with Policies HNP policy H11, SADPD GEN 1, CELPS SD 
2 and SE 1.  

 
Landscaping 

 

10.80. CELPS policy SE 4 seeks for development to conserve landscape character and to 
incorporate appropriate landscaping. In Local Landscape designation areas, the council sill 
seek to conserve and enhance the quality of the landscape to protected it from development 
which is likely to have an adverse effect on its character and appearance and setting. Here 
development is considered to be acceptable in principle, measures will be sought to integrate 
it into the landscape character. SADPD policy ENV 5 seeks for landscaping schemes to meet 
criteria including responding to topography, landscape features and existing green and blue 
infrastructure. ENV 3 relates specifically to Landscape character and Local Landscape 
Designations.  
 

10.81. The site is within the Bollin Valley Local Landscape Designation (LLD) area. The LVA 
as initially submitted was reviewed and found lacking in detail in terms of local character 
assessment and receptor weight to the Bollin LLD. The site was previously built on and in an 
area of enclosure through an urbanised side and wooded boundaries. The proposals are 
overall modest in height in respect to the surrounding mature wooded landscape. The site 
does not deliver characteristics which would typically closely associate it with the Bollin LLD, 
even though it is within it. These features mean it is for the most part associated with the 
adjacent built development, and is considered not to have major adverse visual impacts 
overall within the Bollin Valley LLD due to the mature woodland screening, and height and 
scale. There is a discretionary footpath around the western and southern boundary of the site, 
within the edge of the woodland, which is marked on maps on the Handforth Parish Council. 
There may be some local negative visual effects which could be overcome with planting buffer 
zones. Revisions have included buffer planting in response to these comments, details and 
specifications of which can be secured by condition. Overall, the proposals are acceptable 
under the above policy, with regards to the Local Landscape Designation (LLD) area. 
 

10.82. Landscaping has also been considered above within the overall design section, 
relating to internal to the site itself. 

 

Amenity 
 

10.83. SADPD Policies HOU 12 and HOU 13 between them require that development 
proposals must not cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of adjoining or nearby 
occupiers of residential properties, sensitive uses, or future occupiers of the proposed 
development due to 1. loss of privacy; 2. loss of sunlight and daylight; 3.the overbearing and 
dominating effect of new buildings; 4. Environmental disturbance or pollution; or 5. traffic 
generation, access and parking. Policy HOU13 provides standards for housing allow light and 
privacy between buildings, with reference to Table 8.2 in the SADPD. Policy SE1 of the CELPS 
states that development should ensure an appropriate level of privacy for new and existing 
residential properties. Handforth Neighbourhood Plan Policy H11 (Encouraging High Quality 
Design) is also relevant.   
 
 

10.84. The built form has been designed not to encroach within a 22-metre distance of 
existing dwellings. Taking into consideration the separation distances within table 8.2 of policy 
HOU13 these distances are acceptable back to back between 2 storey buildings.  The closest 
distance from the building to the boundary to the east side, understood to also be the boundary 
to residents gardens, is around 14 metres, with the proposed building at an angle such that 
the elevations would not directly face towards these neighbouring properties, and there is the 
benefit of screening from planting to much of these boundaries. Whilst there would be a 

Page 26



significant built form, taking into consideration that the proposal follows the surrounding 
pattern of two storey buildings, and the separation distances it is considered on balance that 
there would not be a substantial harm to neighbouring properties in terms of overbearing 
impact, loss of light or privacy and is acceptable under relevant policies above.  
 
Parking, Highways safety and Traffic Generation 

 

10.85. Policy H11 of the HNP seeks for provision of on site parking in accordance with 
Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy Standards.  
 

10.86.  The site is proposed for a 76 bed care home where most vehicle trips would typically 
be for staff and visitors. The existing access and private access driveway would be retained.  
Details of space for turning of refuse / delivery vehicles has been submitted and is considered 
acceptable. 34 parking spaces are proposed on the revised site plan, including one accessible 
EV parking space plus 2 other accessible spaces. 20% are proposed as cable -enabled bays. 
Ambulance parking space and turning space for large vehicles is provided on the revised 
plans in addition. CELPS appendix C standards are for 1 space per three beds, plus 1 per 
resident staff and 1 per non resident staff.  The Transport statement indicated unknown staff 
numbers at this stage. Subsequent information provided by the agent indicates 15 residential 
and 8 non residential. As such the proposal would be significantly below that of the CELPS 
standard.  

 

10.87. The submitted Transport Statement includes TRICS data to estimate vehicle trips to 
and from the site in peak hours, estimating 13 trips (0800-0900) and 10 trips (1600-1700). The 
Highways consultee requested further information and is now satisfied with the parking 
provision, turning areas and bin storage provision. Figure 6.1 in the statement makes an 
assumption of 10 vehicles for overnight staff and peak occupancy is expected not to exceed 
20 vehicles across a typical day. It is not clear how this is calculated in terms of the ratio of 
staff to visitors within this, particularly taking into account the staffing levels provided above.  

 

10.88. The parking provision equates to 0.43 spaces per bed. Whilst there are some other 
care homes with comparable or lower ratios it is noted that there are concerns raised locally 
about on street parking. The Highways consultee has commented that the site is large enough 
to accommodate further parking if required, but provision of unused hard standing is not good 
practice. Overall however on balance there are no objections with regard to parking provision 
on the basis of the information provided in terms of staffing.  

 

10.89. The access driveway would remain an unadopted road. The Highway consultee has 
considered the predicted level of traffic within the submitted information, anticipating this to 
have a minor traffic impact and not to cause any capacity issues on the local road network.  
As noted above in consideration of sustainability of the location, there are bus services within 
walking distance of the site. A travel plan can be requested by condition.  

 

10.90. Details are included for a covered cycle storage facility for 10 cycles. The requirement 
under Appendix C for C 2 uses is 1 space per 10 units for sheltered residential accommodation 
or 1 space per 10 staff for hospitals. The care homes use would not fall within either of these 
categories but taking into account the anticipated number of staff at any one time this would 
be considered acceptable.  However given that there are concerns over the cramped layout 
on the site it is considered that there is a knock on effect on the parking provision which could 
be addressed in a reconsideration of the design overall at an early stage. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



Trees 
 

10.91. CELPS policy SE 5 requires that all developments should ensure the sustainable 
management of trees, woodlands and hedgerows including the provision of new planting 
within new development to retain and improve canopy cover, enable climate adaptation 
resilience and support biodiversity. SADPD ENV 6 seeks for development proposals to seek 
to retain and protect trees, woodlands and hedgerows. The site is within the Bollin Valley 
Locally Designated Landscape Area.   
 

10.92. Under HNP policy H9, trees which are identified as making a significant contribution 
to the amenity, biodiversity and landscape character of the surrounding area must be 
preserved and development which would adversely impact upon them will not normally be 
supported unless substantial public benefits can be demonstrated, and their loss adequately 
demonstrated. Furthermore new developments should be designed to protect existing health 
mature trees either through the provision of TPOs or a permanent arboriculture management 
programme for the site.  

 

 

10.93. HNP Policy H8 requires that new development will be expected to protect and / or 
conserve the historical and ecological qualities of the area. The policies specifically includes 
Woodland in the Dobbin Brook Clough, the area immediately adjacent to the site.  H9 seeks 
for protection of Trees and Hedgerows.  
 

10.94. Following initial feedback an updated Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) and 
associated drawings has been submitted. This includes mitigation for loss of copper beech 
tree (T6).  Having regard to Policy SE 5 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS), 
the proposed level and type of planting is considered sufficient to mitigate the impact of the 
Beech tree removal and maintain the site’s landscape character. 

 

10.95. The AIA indicates that proposed hard surfaces, new buildings, and landscaping works 
will encroach into the Root Protection Areas (RPAs) of several trees and states that calculated 
RPA incursions are provided in Table 4. Table 4 does not include any calculated RPA incursion 
data. As a result, it is not possible to verify the extent of encroachment or assess whether the 
proposals comply with the requirements of BS5837. The requirement to define the extent of 
new hard standing proposed within RPA’s was referred to in previous consultation comments. 
The absence of data identifying the extent of RPA encroachment in respect of trees T3, T5, 
T8 and W1 where no existing hard surfacing is present and requirement of a justification for 
construction is contrary to the design requirements of BS5837:2012.  

 

10.96. The building footprint extends into RPAs of the retained woodland (W1) and it is noted 
that the revised AIA relies on ‘specialist foundations’ provided by the project architect and 
structural engineer. Any reliance on special engineering foundations must be justified with 
robust, site-specific evidence demonstrating that the proposed solution is technically feasible 
within the constraints of the site and compatible with the structural design of the building which 
was highlighted in previous consultation responses. An Arboricultural Method Statement 
(AMS) has been provided but does not provide detailed information/methodology of how 
foundations are to be constructed within the area affected. Details of proposed special 
engineering foundation is required to demonstrate the methodology is technically feasible and 
minimises impact on the RPA of trees and sensitivity of the woodland edge.  In this case it is 
not considered there is enough information to give confidence that this can be dealt with by 
condition. 

 

10.97. The revised AIA states that the southern elevation of the proposed build will have 
adequate clearance from tree stems (Para 4.1) with only minor lateral pruning required. The 
matter of relationship between proposed building and retained trees was highlighted in the 

Page 28



previous consultation comment, having regard to social proximity, shading and availability of 
daylight with a request for a shading diagram and daylight/sunlight assessment. This 
information has not been provided. A comprehensive assessment is required to evaluate the 
impact of woodland W1 on the living conditions within the care home. This should include 
shading diagrams and a sunlight/daylight analysis addressing potential reductions in daylight, 
increased shading, and the visual dominance of trees, which may lead to requests for 
significant pruning or felling. The absence of such an assessment is inconsistent with the 
design principles set out in BS5837:2012 and is contrary to Policy SE 5 of the Cheshire East 
Local Plan Strategy (CELPS). 

 

10.98. In response to the previous consultation, a revised site section (Revision P1) has 
been submitted showing the relationship between the Care Home building and woodland area 
W1. The section includes a feature labelled as a ‘retaining wall’; however, it appears to depict 
a free-standing wall without any retaining function. The drawing suggests that existing ground 
levels and woodland will remain unchanged, but it does not provide details regarding the 
extent of root protection areas or whether these may be impacted. Clarification is required on 
the retaining wall design and function. If it has a retaining function, then engineering details 
are required to demonstrate that the construction will not impact on Root Protection Areas 
(RPA’s). 

 

10.99. A revised drainage strategy has been submitted, which appears to indicate proposed 
surface water drainage extending into the woodland areas to the north and south of the site. 
This raises potential conflicts with root protection areas (RPAs) and the need to safeguard the 
integrity of the woodland. 

 

10.100. Paragraph 4.3 of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) currently states that no 
proposed drainage works are under consideration. However, in light of the submitted drainage 
strategy, the AIA must be updated to assess the potential impacts of the proposed drainage 
layout on trees and woodland and follow mitigation hierarchy. 
 

10.101. To conclude in relation to impact on trees, the updated Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment (AIA) and supporting documents have addressed some previous concerns, 
including clarification on the removal of Beech (T6) and mitigation for its loss. However, 
significant arboricultural issues remain unresolved. 

• Absence of quantified Root Protection Area (RPA) incursion data for several 

retained trees (T3, T5, T8, W1), in compliance with BS5837:2012 

• Lack of detailed methodology for proposed specialist foundations for the care 

home within RPAs of Woodland W1  

• No shading diagram or daylight/sunlight assessment to address social proximity 

and living conditions, contrary to previous consultation requests. 

• Clarification on the retaining wall design and its potential effect on RPAs. 

• Revised drainage strategy not assessed within the AIA, which raises concerns 

around potential conflicts with RPAs and the integrity of Woodland W1. 

10.102. Whilst mitigation planting is proposed, this does not overcome the lack of technical 
detail and assessment required to ensure the development can be delivered without 
unacceptable harm to retained trees and woodland. As such the proposals conflict with 
CELPS SE 5, ENV 6, HNP H8 and H9.  

 

 

Page 29



Ecology 

10.103.  The application site is located adjacent to and partly within the boundary of the 
Dobbin Brook Clough Local Wildlife Site (LWS). The LWS Supports priority woodland habitats. 
Sites such as this receive protection through CELPS policy SE 3. 
 
Impact on LWS / Priority Woodland.  
 

10.104. The submitted ecological assessment records priority woodland within the red line of 
the application towards the south of the site, indicating that the red line of the application 
extends into the boundary of the LWS in this location. The ecologist has advised that provided 
that the woodland edge trees can be satisfactorily retained the proposed development would 
not result in a significant direct impact upon the Local Wildlife Site / Priority Woodland. 
Conversely if it is not possible to satisfactorily retain all the trees on the woodland edge the 
proposals would result in a significant direct adverse impact on the LWS/ priority woodland. 
As noted above there is a lack of information to assess the impact on the root protection areas 
of trees in the woodland area W1. Consequently there is insufficient information to 
demonstrate that there would be no adverse impact on the LWS/ priority woodland.  This 
relates to not only to the area of proposed build, but also to the potential impact of the 
proposed drainage connection through the woodland to discharge into the Dobbin Brook. This 
drainage connection may have an adverse effect on protected species associated with Dobbin 
Brook. 

 

Biodiversity Net Gain 
 

10.105. The application is subject to mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. The Council’s Ecologist 
has advised that whilst the BNG report advises that previous comments have been addressed, 
a copy of the Metric spreadsheet has not been submitted. This is a statutory requirement, 
required prior to determination so that calculations can be validated.  

 

10.106. Assuming that the figures quoted within the BNG statement reflect metric calculations, 
it is considered that the proposed development is unlikely to deliver the required net gains on 
site. Additional off site habitat creation will be needed to achieve the required net gain which 
can be dealt with by condition.  

 

CEC Ecological Network 
 

10.107. The application site falls within a Core Area of the CEC ecological network. SADPD 
Policy ENV1 therefore applies to the determination of this application. This policy requires 
developments within core area to lead to an increase in Priority Habitat. This policy obligation 
would be fulfilled through the creation of the mixed native species hedgerows on site as part 
of the landscaping scheme (as shown on Rev F of the submitted landscape proposals). This 
planning application provides an opportunity to incorporate features to increase the 
biodiversity value of the development in accordance with Local Plan Policy SE 3. An ecological 
enhancement strategy can be submitted by condition.  
 
Watercourse Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 
 

10.108. In order to safeguard the adjacent watercourses a condition is recommended to 
ensure that the proposed development proceeds in accordance with the submitted CEMP 
prepared by EW dated 24th April 2025.  
 
 
 
 

Page 30



Bats  
 

10.109. The submitted preliminary Ecological Appraisal advises that the site supports 
moderate quality habitats for foraging and commuting bats. No bat activity surveys have been 
undertaken so the importance of the site for bats is not fully known. Two trees are to be 
removed as part of the development as indicated by the arboricultural impact assessment. 
These trees have been subject to a detailed bat survey and found to have no potential to 
support roosting bats. Therefore, roosting bats are not reasonably likely to be directly affected 
by the removal of these trees. 
 
Lighting  

 

10.110. The close proximity of the proposed access road and the siting of the building 
extending adjacent to the priority/LWS woodland means that there may be an adverse impact 
upon foraging and commuting bats and other wildlife through the installation of additional 
lighting. In the absence of a bat activity survey the severity of this effect is unknown. Based 
upon the submitted lighting scheme there is no light spill onto the woodland to the south. The 
lighting of the access road is however likely to result in light spill of greater than 1 lux on the 
adjacent woodland, although this is difficult to discern from the submitted plan.  Consequently 
the lighting of the access road is likely to have an adverse impact upon foraging and 
commuting bats and other wildlife associated with the woodland edge adjacent to the access 
road. It is noted that back shutters are proposed for the lighting columns. It is not clear  whether 
the benefits of the back shutters have been included in the lighting model or which way the 
lighting columns are orientated so that the back shutters will in fact reduce light spill onto the 
woodland. Clarification of these points is required, which can be by condition. 
 
Badger  

 

10.111. Two potential badger setts are present just offsite. No evidence of badgers using 
these setts was recorded during the detailed surveys of the site. Badgers are however active 
on this site. Based on the current status of badgers on site. The council’s ecologist has advised 
that the proposed development will result in a minor impact on badgers as a result of the loss 
of potentially suitable foraging habitat. As the status of badger on a site can change in a short 
time scale, it is recommended that if consent is granted a condition be attached which required 
an updated badger survey to be undertaken and submitted prior to the commencement of 
development. 
 
 Hedgehog  

 

10.112. There are records of this priority species in the broad locality of the application site, 
this species may therefore occur on the application site on at least a transitory basis. In order 
to minimise the risk of hedgehogs being harmed during site clearance and construction works, 
it is recommended that a condition be attached in the event that planning consent is granted. 
 
Nesting Birds  

 

10.113. If planning consent is granted the following condition will be required to safeguard 
nesting birds 
 
Japanese Knotweed  
 

10.114. The applicant should be aware that Japanese Knotweed (Fallopia japonica) is present 
on the proposed development site. Under the terms of the Wildlife and Countryside act 1981 
it is an offence to cause Japanese Knotweed to grow in the wild. Japanese knotweed may be 
spread simply by means of disturbance of its rhizome system, which extends for several 

Page 31



meters around the visible parts of the plant and new growth can arise from even the smallest 
fragment of rhizome left in the soil as well as from cutting taken from the plant. Disturbance of 
soil on the site may result in increased growth of Japanese Knotweed on the site. If the 
applicant intends to move any soil or waste off site, under the terms of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 any part of the plant or any material contaminated with Japanese 
Knotweed must be disposed of at a landfill site licensed to accept it and the operator should 
be made aware of the nature of the waste. 
 
Ecology Conclusion 
 
 

10.115. The updated BNG Metric is required prior to determination. Currently this results in 
conflicts under SE3 of the CELPS and ENV 2 of the SADPD.  Should this information be 
satisfactorily be provided prior to determination it would remove a reason for refusal. 
 

10.116. In the event that the application is approved, conditions are recommended for a 
Biodiversity Gain Plan, habitat creation method statement, ecological enhancements and 
implementation, compliance with the submitted CEMP,  external lighting details, further badger 
survey, hedgehog reasonable avoidance and nesting bird protection.  

 

10.117. There is currently insufficient information to assess the impact on the LWS/Priority 
Woodland from the proposed drainage channel through the woodland, and any potential 
impact on protected species associated with Dobbin Brook. As such it is not currently 
demonstrate that the proposals would fully comply with Policy SE3 of the CELPS, H8 of the 
HNP. 

 
Environmental Protection 

 
10.118. Policy ENV15 relates to new development and existing uses. New development must 

effectively integrate with existing uses and existing uses must not have unreasonable 
restrictions placed on them as a result of it. A principal consideration in this instance would be 
possible environmental disturbance. 
 

Noise mitigation 

10.119. The proposal includes construction of a new care home. The site is located in close 
proximity existing residential premises as well as the new residents of the development. The 
building would have new mechanical plant fitted. 
 

10.120. A noise impact assessment (NIA) has been submitted which corresponded to the 
proposed layout as initially shown.  Environmental Protection officers have commented that 
any amendments to the layout must comply with the NIA or the NIA may need to be reviewed 
accordingly. There have been some minor changes to the layout which are unlikely to change 
the findings of the report. The impact of the noise from road traffic, aircraft and installed 
mechanical plant on the proposed development has been assessed in accordance with 
BS8233:2014 Guidance on Sound Insulation and Noise Reduction for Buildings and 
BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

 

10.121. The report includes noise mitigation measures to ensure occupants on nearby 
properties are not adversely affected by noise from mechanical plant noise. The report’s 
methodology, conclusion and recommendations are accepted.  Conditions are requested for 
implementation of the recommendations of the report prior to occupation, and for the 
mitigation to be maintained for the purpose originally intended throughout the use of the 
development.  

 

Page 32



Light pollution 
 

10.122. The Environmental Protection team have requested lighting to be in accordance with 
the External Lighting Plan submitted. However as noted above further information is requested 
on lighting by the ecologist. As such further assessment would be necessary before any 
condition wording can be confirmed in the event of an approval. 
 

Environmental disturbance during construction.  
 

10.123. Informatives are requested for hours of construction, demolition and grounds works 
and associated deliveries to and from the site. Pile foundations should be undertaken using a 
system which will cause the least possible degree of noise and vibration to the occupiers of 
nearby dwellings. Recommendations are provided including notification of the Regulatory and 
Health services of the commencement and times of pilling work. A site-specific dust 
management plan is required to be retained at the development site. Details of what the plan 
should include can be found within the Environmental Protection consultation response on the 
application file and to form part of an informative to a decision in the case of an approval.  

 
Air Quality 

 

10.124. The scheme is considered not to be of a scale that would require an air quality impact 
assessment, however there is a need for consideration of the cumulative impact of a larger 
number of developments in a particular area. An informative is requested in relation to electric 
vehicle infrastructure. 
 

10.125.  A travel plan condition is requested prior to first occupation with a means of promoting 
low carbon transport options for staff.  Transport options are also considered within the 
Highways section of the report.  
 
Contaminated Land 
 

10.126. The proposed end use is a sensitive use and could be affected by contamination 
present or brought to the site.  The building previously on the site was destroyed by fire and 
therefore the land may be contaminated.  
 

10.127. A Geoenvironmental Site Assessment has been submitted in support of the 
application.  The Environmental Protection team have raised a number of comments on the 
statement, although no objections raised. Conditions are requested for Phase I and Phase II 
investigations and reports to be completed and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. If the Phase II investigations indicate that remediation is necessary, a Remediation 
Strategy and Verification Report would be required to be submitted and approved in writing. 
This would be required prior to commencement of development, other than agreed demolition 
and site clearance works.  

 

10.128. Condition are also requested for testing of soil or soil forming materials to be brought 
to site, with evidence and verification report, prior to occupation. If further contamination not 
previously identified is found, further assessment would also be required by condition.  

 

10.129. An informative is provided, advising the applicant of a duty to adhere to relevant 
legislation with regard to contaminated land, and for purchasers, where applicable to satisfy 
themselves that land contamination issues, if present have been satisfactorily discharged.  

 

 

 

 

Page 33



Other matters 
 

10.130. An energy report is included setting out proposals to incorporate sustainable energy 
solutions within the scheme.  Details of such measures would be subject to separate 
assessment under building regulations.  
 
Drainage and flood risk 

 
10.131. The site is within floodzone 1 where there is generally a low probability of flooding. A 

flood risk assessment has been submitted, concluding that there would be a minimal risk of 
flooding to the development, and of increased flood risk elsewhere. 
 

10.132. The LLFA have provided advice and drainage information has been amended. A 
condition has been requested for drainage design in accordance with the proposed layout, 
and land drainage consent application is required.  United Utilities provided comment 
accepting the drainage scheme layout which includes surface water drainage into the Dobbin 
Brook watercourse, and no surface water permitted to drain into the public sewer.  SuDs 
features are mentioned in the drainage strategy, as permeable surfaces and planters to 
downspouts to slow water flow. These features are not although not specified in the hard 
landscape plan or other drawings and would need to be conditioned. The LLFA have also 
advised that as Dobbin Brook is classed as a Main River, the applicant should apply to the 
Environment Agency for permission to discharge into the watercourse. 
 

10.133. The proposed surface water drainage discharge into the Dobbin Brook, has however 
raised concerns in impact on the Local Wildlife site and any species within the watercourse 
as well as potential impact on trees in the woodland area. Currently there is insufficient 
information to alleviate these concerns and demonstrate a suitable drainage strategy.  
 
Planning Obligations  
 

10.134. NPPF chapter 8 and policy SC3 of the CELPS seek to support health and well-being 
through the planning process. Under Policy IN2 of the CELPS, developer contributions will be 
sought to make sure that the necessary physical, social, public realm, economic and green 
infrastructure is in place to deliver development, and to mitigate adverse impacts of 
development. The Council’s Developers Contribution SPD seeks for mitigation to be sought 
on a case-by-case basis in consultation with relevant NHS partners.  NHS services and 
infrastructure will be under evermore pressure due to population growth. In order to mitigate 
the impacts of the development on local healthcare, the NHS requested a financial 
contribution.  However, they have subsequently, raised an objection. Given the policy position 
it is not considered reasonable to refuse the proposal on these grounds, and a contribution is 
likely to be recommended.  Further details of this contribution will be provided as an update. 
 
Aerodrome safeguarding 

 

10.135. Manchester Airports Group (MAG) have requested a number of conditions and 
informatives for airport safety reasons. In the interest of birdstrike avoidance, conditions are 
recommended for measures to prevent the site being an attractant for birds hazardous to 
aircraft, and for any off site BNG measures. A query has been raised on reconsultation, with 
regard to BNG data. It is considered that this can be dealt with by condition in consultation 
with MAG given that the fundamental design and layout has not significantly changed since 
the first consultation response was received.   
 

10.136. Conditions are requested in relation to exterior lighting and a glint and glare 
assessment is required for an installation of solar photovoltaic roof panels.   Informatives are 
requested in regarding dust, drones and cranes.   

Page 34



 
 

11. PLANNING BALANCE / CONCLUSION 
 

11.1. The proposal would provide employment on a site which has partially been previously 
developed.  Although staff numbers do sound to be relatively low for a care home of this scale.  
This is a benefit that can be afforded moderate weight. 

 

11.2. The 76 bed care home would provide residential care for older persons including nursing 
and dementia care.  The proposed development would deliver 76 x 1-bedroom spaces in an 
acceptably sustainable location. The Council is in the process of updating the Market Position 
Statement and developing an Accommodation Strategy, however at present there is not 
sufficient data to formally object to the planning application with regard to identified need.  The 
delivery of a 76 bed care unit would help relieve an identified unmet need including the 
provision of specialist dementia care and would also add to the Council’s housing land supply.  
This attracts significant weight in favour of the development. 

 

11.3. The proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. As a major housing 
proposal, the ‘Golden Rules’ under NPPF paragraph 155/156 apply. There are no other 
exceptions under Green Belt policy that would apply in this case. There are not considered to 
be very special circumstances that outweigh Green Belt harm. This results in substantial 
weight against the development.  

 

11.4. Developer contributions would be required for the NHS. Subject to a S106 agreement, this 
matter is neutral in the planning balance given that it is required to mitigate for the impact of 
the development.  
 

11.5. There is harm arising from the matters raised in relation to the proposed layout on the site, 
but this is tempered by relatively limited visibility from public vantage points and is attributed 
limited to moderate weight. The height and elevational treatment of the building and 
relationship with nearby buildings is considered acceptable. Taking into consideration the 
separation distances, no significant impact on neighbouring amenity is anticipated.  However 
the design appears to be a standard design that has been applied to the site which arises in 
a number of issues with the layout in the useability/legibility of the development. This also 
results in an impact on parking provision which although broadly acceptable, could be 
increased in line with standards if the layout was less cramped, by designing out the need for 
ad hoc parking within the site.  
 

11.6.  There are a number of matters highlighted, relating to the relationship with the Local Wildlife 
Site / Priority woodland, Dobbin Brook, tree root protection areas and social relationship with 
trees to the south. These matters are given significant weight against the proposal.   

 

11.7. There is outstanding information in relation to BNG. It may be that this matter can be 
addressed with further information, however at the current time this is given significant weight 
against the proposal. 
 

11.8. Overall whilst there are identifiable benefits with the proposal in terms of housing provision 
and job creation, these matters do not clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and the 
other identified harm relating to the layout, trees/woodland and biodiversity.  As such very 
special circumstances have not been demonstrated. The application is therefore 
recommended for refusal. 

 

 
 

Page 35



12. RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE for the following reasons: 
 

1. Green Belt 
The proposed care home is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, as it does meet any 
of the identified exceptions to inappropriate development set out in local or national policy.   
Although not a C3 use, the application is for a major housing proposal to which the Golden 
Rules apply under paragraph 156 of the NPPF. No affordable housing provision has been 
provided, as such the proposal does not meet the Golden Rules and fails to comply with the 
requirements of the NPPF.  Very special circumstances have not been demonstrated that 
would clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and the other identified harm. The proposal 
is therefore contrary to policy PG3 of the CELPS and paragraphs 154 and 155 of the NPPF. 

 
2. Layout 
The design is a standardised layout which does not adequately respond to the constraints of 
the site, resulting in a cramped development with issues in the layout and legibility of the site, 
which has a knock-on effect on parking layout and provision. The proposals conflict with HNP 
policy H11, SADPD GEN 1, CELPS SD 2 and SE 1.   
 
3. Insufficient Information – impact on RPAs, LWS/Priority Woodland and protected species. 

The application fails to provide quantified Root Protection Area (RPA) incursion data where 
the proposed care home building extends into woodland W1 which relies on specialist 
engineering foundations. No detailed methodology or evidence has been provided to 
demonstrate that these foundations will be technically feasible and minimise harm to tree 
roots contrary to the requirements of BS5837:2012. Without this information, the Local 
Planning Authority cannot determine the extent of encroachment or assess whether the 
development can be delivered without unacceptable harm to retained trees. The revised 
drainage strategy indicates encroachment into woodland areas and RPAs, yet the 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment does not quantify or evaluate the extent of encroachment 
or propose mitigation. The absence of an assessment of drainage and tree rooting zones 
raises concerns about potential harm to retained trees and woodland contrary to Policy SE 
5 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy and BS5837:2012. The absence of this 
information results in insufficient information to be able to fully assess the impact on the Local 
Wildlife Site / Priority Woodland, and also any impact on protected species associated with 
Dobbin Brook where the drainage is proposed to discharge results in conflicts also with 
CELPS policy SE 3.  The submitted site section shows a retaining wall adjacent to woodland 
W1, but its design and function are unclear. No engineering details have been provided to 
demonstrate that its construction will avoid harm to RPAs. The absence of this information is 
contrary to Policy SE 5 and BS5837:2012 and HNP H8 and H9. 

 
4. Relationship to Woodland W1  
No shading diagram or daylight/sunlight assessment has been submitted to evaluate the 
impact of retained woodland W1 on the proposed care home. The absence of this assessment 
means the Local Planning Authority cannot determine whether the development would provide 
acceptable living conditions for future occupants, having regard to potential overshadowing, 
reduced daylight, and pressure for significant pruning or future tree removal. The absence of 
this information is contrary to Policy SE 5, ENV 6, HNP H8 and H9.   
 
5. BNG 

The application is subject to mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. The application is not 
supported by a BNG metric calculation and does not fulfil the statutory BNG validation 
requirements set out in Article 7 of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure Order 2015). Planning permission cannot therefore be granted due 
to a lack of information in respect of mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain. The lack of a 

Page 36



Biodiversity metric also means that the application fails to meet the requirements of SADPD 
Policy ENV2. 

 
 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such 
as to delete, vary or add Conditions / Informatives / Planning Obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Northern Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision. 

  

Page 37



 

P
age 38



 

 

25/2053/FUL 

Land Of The Former Knowle House, 

Sagars Road, Handforth, SK9 3EA 

 

P
age 39



1

2

De
f

22

Brook

7

2

1

13

Ash Grove

36

Ward Bdy

51

6

SUNNINGDALE CLOSE

58

7

30

CS

40

47

5

38

1

De
f

Southfield

As
h 

G
ro

ve

Close

1

W
ard Bdy

Dobbin

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2025. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

SAGARS ROAD

H
am

ps
on

 C
re

s

1:1250

0 12.5 25 37.5 50 62.5m

Rev. Description Date
P1 Client Details Change 28.05.25
P2 Red Line Boundary Alterations 30.06.25

SITE AREA RED LINE BOUNDARY - 10,616m²

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P2

 1 : 1250

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-100

MPT 11/04/24-

Existing Location Plan

13263
 1 : 1250

Location Plan
S

P
age 40

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.0 G1.5

G2.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.6

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G2.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

G3.0

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.2

G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2
G1.2 G1.2

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0

MG

MG

G2.5

1

2

De
f

22

Brook

7

2

1

Ash Grove

36

Ward Bdy

51

6

SUNNINGDALE CLOSE

58

7

30

CS

40

47

5

38

1

De
f

Southfield

As
h 

G
ro

ve

Close

1

Dobbin

SAGARS ROAD

H
am

ps
on

 C
re

s

I\R

P\R

P\R

C\B

P\R

BW

I\R

I\R

P\R

C\B

P\
R

P\R

P\R

B\W

P\R

P\R

P\R

C\
B

C\B

P\
R

C\B

C\B

C\P

C\B

C\P

CW

TARMAC

C\B

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

CONC

TARMAC

CONC

C
H

\L

C
H

\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

C\
P

C\P

C\P

P\R

C\P

C\B

C\B

P\R

TOP OF HEDGE

BW

SW
SW

WOOD MOUND

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT
SITE ACCESS

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

ROUGH GROUND

ROUGH GROUND

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

H
AM

PS
O

N
 C

R
ES

C
EN

T

SAGARS ROAD

TARMAC

TARMAC

KN
O

W
L 

PA
R

K

TARMAC

TARMAC

SAGARS ROAD

74
.6

4

74
.63

74.7074.70
74.63

74.57

74.51
74.47

74.50

74
.4

9
74

.5
9

74.51

74.49 74.60

74.66
74.70

74.79 74.74

74
.73

74
.7

1
74

.6
7

74
.69

74.72
74.71

74.64

74.58

74.54

GST

IC
CL74.57

IC
CL74.64

MKR
BT

74.55

74.71

74.76 74.80 74.76

74
.7

1

74.77
74.78

74.83

74.66
74.53

74.52

74.50
74.47

74
.4

6
74

.6
1

74.60
74.57

BT

MKR

74.64

74.59

74.62 74.51

74
.4

9
74

.5
1

74
.5

1

74.50

74.43

74.35

74.35

74.36

74.40

74.39

74.42

74.39

74.38

74.38

74.42

74.46

74.50

74.50

74.56

74.60

74.45

74.46

74.48

74.50
74.52

74.54

BT
RS

WST

74.95
74.84

74.74
74.71

74.63

74.56

74.8574.8074.84

74
.5

9

(76.50)

(76.50)

(76.48)

(75.52)

(75.59)

(76.03)

(76.12)

(75.88)

EAVES
79.97

RIDGE
82.47

SILL78.73

LP

TP

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

(77.77)

(79.36)

75.00

76.73
76.57

76.57
76.50

76.48

76.36
76.34

76.29
76.17

76.05
76.04

75.99

75.84
75.82

75.73
75.70

75.62
75.58

75.58
75.57

75.44
75.4475.32

75.23
75.22

75.05
75.03

74.93

74.81

74.73

74
.5

9
74

.6
5

74.77
74.87

74.95
75.07 75.14

75.32 75.25

75.39
75.51 75.45

75.60 75.67 75.68 75.71 75.77 75.74
75.85 75.93

76.01 76.07 76.16
76.25

76.31 76.37 76.45
76.57 76.53

76.60 76.72
76.83

74.75

74.82

74.86
74.72 74.85

74.88

74.86
74.88

75.03 75.08
75.10

75.26 75.28
75.41

75.32
75.30

75.25

75.18
75.15

75.05

74.94

OT

OT

OT

OT

75.27

75.08

74.97

74.86

74.74

74.75

74.67

74.62

74.52

74.49

74.42

75.29

75.15

74.99

74.88

74.77

74.75

74.68

74.61

74.58

74.56
74.56 74.51

74.53

PT
PT

PT
PT

74.49

74.51

74.56
74.63

74.60

BOL

SAP74.60

74.43
74.38

74.57
74.57

74.40

74.41

74.41

74.35

74.31

74.43

74.37

74.42

74.39

74.46

74
.5

0
74

.5
074

.5
2SAP 74.50

74.47

74.44

74.40

74.26

74.31

74.31

74.21

74.39

74.37

74.53

74.41

74
.6

1

74.85

74.82

74.58

74.69

74.81

74.77

75.08

75.06

75.17

75.32

75.76G1.0 G1.5

75.46

75.28

75.15

75.05

74.92

74.85

74.65

74.57

G2.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.8

(75.50)

(74.99)

(76.74)

(75.37)

(75.38)
(75.46)

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

74.52

74.58

74.53

74.57

74.65

74.77

75.06

75.58

75.56

75.62

75.65

74.70

74.83

75.00

74.43

74.88

74.64

(75.19)

(88.11)

MG

MG

MG

G1.6

74.82

74.93

74.90

74.69
74.71

75.00

74.84

75.17

75.28

(76.02)

(75.76)
74.69

74.67

74.68

74.83

74.79

74.96

74.95

75.08

75.27

75.52

75.30

75.13

74.89

74.75

74.62

74.58

74.35

74.18

74.08

74.09

74.06

74.02

74.08

74.28

74.4174
.3

9

74
.2

8

74
.0

2

73
.9

5

73
.96

74.06

74.07

74.15

74.33

74.51

74.56

74
.66

74
.86

75
.06

75
.20

75
.21

75
.27

75
.35

75
.53

75
.76

75
.92

76
.0

8

76
.1

4

76
.3

1

76
.3

3

76
.3

6

76
.4

3

76
.5

9

76
.6

0

76
.5

3

76
.6

4

76
.72

76.78

76.8276.79

76.80

76.78

76.73

76.61

76
.6

1

76.5976.73

76.62

76.49
76.49

76
.7

0

76.93

76.89

76.91

76.86

76.81

76.73

76
.7

6
76

.7
6

76
.77

76
.6

8

76
.6

2

76
.6

2
76

.5
6

76
.5

3

76
.2

4
76

.1
9

76
.1

2

76
.0

3

75
.85

75
.78

75
.56

75
.42

75
.32

75
.27

75
.09

74
.86

74.68

74.55

74.47

74.27

74.09

73.99

73.99

74
.01

73
.99

74
.0

8

74
.4

574.24

74.08

73.84

73.97

73.97

74.08

74.17

74.30

74.46

74.48

74.55

74.71

75.04

75.09
75.36

75.09

74.91

74.76

74.75

74.23

74.20

74.11

74.05

73.94

74.08

74.14

74.35

74
.1

9

74
.1

4

73.99

73.89

73.99

73
.97

74.01

74.15

74.16

74.21

74.33
74.42

74
.5

9

74.51

74
.16

74.25
74.42

(76.42)

(76.35)
(76.54)

(76.50)

(76.49)

(76.25)

(76.25)

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

74.55

74.41

74.43

RIDGE
80.17

EAVES
77.38

HL77.22

76.31

76.13

75.97

75.85

75.60

75.45

75.34

75.9075.97

76
.5

6

76
.4

2

76
.2

6
76

.3
0

76
.1

8

76
.0

7

75
.92

75
.77

75
.72

75
.47

75
.29

75
.2

7

75.36

75.47

75.55

75.66

75.98

76.08

76.17

76.29

75.81

75.62

75.35

75.18

75.13

G1.6

G2.8

SAP

SAP
SAP

SAPSAP
SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

RIDGE
80.94

EAVES
78.11

HL78.03

EAVES
81.46

(76.65)

(76.53)

75.47

75.45

75.36

75.25

74.85
74.98

75.34

75.70

75.92

76.09

76.06

75.44

75.75

74.65

74.37

74.43

74.84

MG

MG
75.68

75.69
75.91

75.73

75.85

MG

MG

MG
MG

SILL80.75

75.72

MG

76.88

76.84

76.76

76.70

76.62

76.68

76.65
76.71

76.66

76.53

76.33
76.43

76.40

IC
CL76.19

IC

76.28

76
.43

TP

IC
CL76.88

76.77

76.75
76.79

76.83
76.84

76.81

76.79

76.70

G3.0

PT

PT
76.96

77.01

76.98 77.03

77.02

76.95
76.88

76.68

76.57

76.51

76.33

76.25

G1.8

(78.85)

(78.73)

(78.36)

SILL80.73

RIDGE

RIDGE

85.15

84.49

EAVES

EAVES

81.97

82.61

75.72

76.05

75.98

76.19

76.24

76.34

76.47

76.53 76.67

76.79 76.84

(94.67)

(100.37)

(101.54)

75.71

75
.7

1

75.72

75.70

75.78

75.78

75.83

76.12

76
.4

2

76.51
76.71

76.49

76.55

76.51

76.36

76.29

76.14

75.94

75.81

75.83

75.88

75.83

75.83

75.78

75.74

75.82

75.77
75.77

75.79

75.72

75.85

75.72

75.76

75.84

75.89

76.10

76.21

76.26

76.32

76.88

76.81

76.77

76.67
76.68

76.70 76.55 76.79

76.82

76.89

76.8076.72

76.8476.7076.84

76.82

76.70

76.76

76.85
76.76 76.83 76.73 76.81

76.85

76.87

76.85

76.89

76.94
76.93

76
.8

7

76
.7

9

76
.75

76.6176.6476.52
76.55

76.58

76
.8

6

76.83
76.76

76.87

76.87

76.84

76.91

76.95

76.93

76.79

76.68

76.5776.53
76.5176.4876.52

77.07
76.90

76.72
76.77

76.78 76.86

76.90
76.83

76.8676.97
77.08

77.19
77.34

77.20
77.30

77.10

77.00

76.90
76.85

76.91

76.85

76.63
76.60

76.71

76.71

76.94

76.65

76.68

76.5276.37
76.31

76.18

76.02

75.8175.77

75.53
75.63

75.83

75.57

75.49

75.45

75.24

75.33

75.44

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

SILL81.35

EAVES
82.56

RIDGE
85.11

(90.26)

(96.96)

77.02

76.95

76.95

77.02

77.06

77.13

77.05

77.00

76.87

76.76

76.70

76.90

77.04

77.16

77.17

77.18

77.16

77.19

77.19

77.02

77.02

77.02

77.00

77.08

76.99

76.94

76.83

76.83

76.80

76.87

76.98

76.96

76.96

77.00

77.15

77.09

76.98

76.22

76.19

76.19

76.26

76.32

76.29

76.38

76.16

76.11

76.06

76.13

76.15
76.39

76.67
76.72

76.90

76.86

76.99
76.8876.81

76.80

76.75

76.80

76.79

76.77

76.46

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

77.00
PT

76.91

77.26

(79.08)

(79.38)

76.06

75.57
MG
MG

MG
MG

76.79

76.84

76
.9

0
76

.8
5

76.83 76.81

76
.88

76.76

76.71

76.7976.83

76
.89

76
.8

6

76.92

76.91

76.9576.95

76.88
76.83 76.89

76.8976.84

76.88

76.79

76.77
76.87

76.93
76.94

76.94
76.95

76.92
77.01

77.05

77.16

77.20

77.22

77.17

77.16 76.95

76.90

76.88
76.68

76.68

76.65

76.84

76.78

76.96

76.85

77.10

77.17

77.01

76.90
76.15

76.16

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

76
.9

3

76
.92

76.81
76.7376.75

76.7376.8576.92

76.80

76.5476.53

76.17 76.26 76.15

76.20 76.12

75.89

75.86

75.92

75.94

76.48

76.48

76.42

76.45

76.65

76.63

76.65

76.61

76.68

76.59

76.55

76.52

76.48

76.47

76.45

76.61
76.60

76.56

76.56

76.59

76.36

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

74.11

73.96

73.99

74
.35

75.04

75
.43

75
.49

75
.45

75
.50

75
.49

75
.5

9

75
.77

75.89

75.73

75.63

75.86

75
.98

75
.9

2

75
.8

2

75
.7

2

75
.7

0

75
.8

0

75
.7

2

75
.7

7

75
.6

3

75
.5

2

75
.21

75
.16

75.16
75.08

74.75

76.07 76.15

76.1476.09

75.86

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

(77.02)

73.23

73.13

73
.21

73
.17

72.96

72.69

72
.42

72
.37

72.35

72.66

72
.81

73
.33

74.25

74
.14

74
.17

73.93

73
.95

74.37

74.45

74.74

74.99

74.9974.5274.08
74.21

74.28

74.65

74.64

74.61

74.29

74.27

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

(77.20)

(75.65)

(75.46)

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

75.20

75.11

74.94

74.85

74.82

74.78

74.72

74.62

74.53

74.58
74.58

74.42

74.32

74.37

74.39

74.41

74.49

74.53

74.54

74
.5

8

74.45

73.62

73
.48

73
.40

73.24

73.22

73.18

73.18

74
.4

4

74
.38

73.84

73.88

73.82

73.89

74.24

74
.13

73.89

74
.40

74.49

74.53

74.38

74.34

74
.1

5

74
.1

6

74
.1

7

74
.66

74.78

74.99

75.22

75.38

75.35

75.42

75.48

75.39
75.36

75.45

75.43

75.47

75.35

75.36

75.38

75.29

75.33

75.59

75.46

75
.52

75
.57

75
.79

75
.85

75
.84

75
.84

75.88

75.79

76
.08

75
.9

8

76
.0

3

75
.9

4

75
.9

9

75
.9

9

75
.9

3
76

.1
2

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

74.13

74.28

74.13

73.92

WSTMH

MH

CL74.88

CL74.96
74.96

75.04
75.21

75.43

75.59 75.60 75.60
75.69

75.86
75.99

76.07
76.18

76.27
76.36

76.36
76.29

76.1876.08

75.94
75.83

75.71
75.67

75.56

75.40

75.26

75.14
75.07

74.98

75.11
75.19

75.33
75.44

75.55 75.62
MH
CL75.82

74.97

75.06
CTV

NP

74.99

74.8574.8074.75
74.70

75.13

75.48 75.50

75.72

75.83

75.98

76.14

76.33

LP

PT

BT

TP

WST

74.94

74.80

74.72

74
.6

0

O
T

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G1.5

G1.5

G1.2

G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2
G1.2 G1.2

NP
OT

OT

OT

OT

75.42 75.46

WST

75
.4

8

75.71
75.70

75.82

75.53

75.58
75.69

75.90

75.95
WST

75.97
75.97

76.07 76.18 76.34
76.51

WST

WST
WST

MH
CL76.78

BT

76.04

76.07

76.79

76.56

76.54
76.51

76
.5

2

76.56
76.45

76.33

76.38
76.49

76.60
76.73

MH
CL76.54

76.46

76.56
76.70

76.82

76.74
76.62

76.47
76.3776.33

76.28

76.21

76
.1

0
76

.2
3

76.34

76.40 76.40 76.43
76.59

76.73
76.84

76.85
76.62

76.46
76.3776.3976.34

76.21

76
.0

9

76
.0

6

BT
CTV

CB
76.66

76.71 76.77

76.65
76.5876.55

76.45
76.35

76
.3

3

76
.2

7

76.08

76.10

76.10

76.08

76.11

76.30

76.17
76.09

76.02

WST
WST

NP

TP

76.12
76.11

76.06

76.00

75.94
75.83

75.76

75.55

75.30

74
.99

CTV

76.01
75.99

76.00

75.94

75.84
75.83

75.73
75.63

75.59
75.55

75.44

75.30
75.19

75.13
74.99

74.92

74.83
74.75

74.70
74.64

74.5674.53

74
.4

9
74

.6
2

74.60 74.68
74.75 74.82

74.85
74.92

74.93 75.08
75.23

75.28
75.40

75.52

75.65 75.70 75.74
75.83

75.95 75.94

76.08

76.12

76.11
76.14

76.01
76.00

75.99

75.96

75.90

75.83
75.83

75.75
75.67

75.46

WST WST

CTV

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0

MG

MG

G2.5

SP

BIN

76.51

76.59 76.61 76.62

LP

SO1

SO2

SO3

SO4

SO5

SO6

SO7

SO8

SO9

G
74.44

FH

G
74.96

G

G
75.62

G
76.37

G
76.39

G
75.62

G
75.01

G

SILL82.08

SILL80.22

SILL80.22

(78.03)(77.99)(77.99)

(78.25)

(78.21)

SILL81.37

SILL81.37

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G
76.17

G
73.95

1:500

0 5 10 15 20 25m

Rev. Description Date
P1 Client Details Change 28.05.25
P2 Red Line Boundary Alterations 30.06.25
P3 Existing Trees Added 25.11.25

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P3

 1 : 500

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-101

MPT 11/04/24-

Existing Site Plan

13263
 1 : 500

Existing Site Plan
S

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

P
age 41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
385200E

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
385250E

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
385300E

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
383300N

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
383300N

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
383350N

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
383350N

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
383400N

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
383400N

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
NORTH



UP

UP UP
16 m²

Stair.01
A.00.126

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.130

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.129

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.132

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.131

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.137

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.138

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.139

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.140

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.146

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.145

4 m²
W.C

A.00.148
6 m²

Utility
A.00.147

42 m²
Dining

A.00.151

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.156

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.155

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.157

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.158

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.163

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.164

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.165

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.166

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.171

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.172

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.173

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.174

15 m²
Bathroom
A.00.176

4 m²
Hoist

A.00.175

59 m²
Circulation

A.00.170

5 m²
Nurse

A.00.167

16 m²
Lobby

A.00.150

46 m²
Circulation

A.00.152

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.128

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.127

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.134

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.133

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.136

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.135

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.142

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.141

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.144

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.143

56 m²
Lounge
A.00.149

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.153

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.154

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.159

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.160

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.161

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.162

7 m²
Store

A.00.168

20 m²
Coffee Area

A.00.188

5 m²
Entrance
A.00.246

62 m²
Lobby

A.00.189

19 m²
Library

A.00.191

6 m²
Reception
A.00.190

9 m²
Office

A.00.192

12 m²
Sluice

A.00.193

12 m²
Hair Salon
A.00.186

5 m²
W.C

A.00.187

10 m²
Sluice

A.00.169

24 m²
Circulation

A.00.185

4 m²
Lift.01

A.00.181

4 m²
Lift.02

A.00.180

8 m²
Office

A.00.182

8 m²
MEDS

A.00.183

11 m²
Electrics
A.00.177

29 m²
Plant Room

A.00.178

20 m²
Stair.02
A.00.197

4 m²
CH.W.C
A.00.198

8 m²
Nurse

A.00.195

5 m²
Store

A.00.194

4 m²
Hoist

A.00.199

15 m²
Bathroom
A.00.200

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.201

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.202

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.204

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.203

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.206

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.205

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.208

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.207

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.214

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.213

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.216

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.215

42 m²
Dining

A.00.220

56 m²
Lounge
A.00.219

4 m²
W.C

A.00.222
6 m²

Utility
A.00.223

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.224

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.225

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.230

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.229

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.236

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.235

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.238

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.237

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.244

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.243

16 m²
Stair.03
A.00.245

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.242

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.241

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.240

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.239

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.234

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.233

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.232

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.231

47 m²
Circulation

A.00.228

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.227

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.226

16 m²
Lobby

A.00.221

62 m²
Circulation

A.00.196

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.209

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.210

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.211

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.218

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.217

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.212

37 m²
Kitchen
A.00.247

12 m²
Water Tank

A.00.248

5 m²
Lobby

A.00.251

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do 
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Drawing Scale 1:100  @ A1

2m 8m6m4m0m

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P4

1 : 100

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

Wrightcare Development Ltd. &
Deansgate M5 Ltd.

HCH-CAA-XX-00-D-A-200

MPT 16.09.25N/A

S2 - INFORMATION

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

13263

Rev Description By Date
P1 Client Alterations - Internals & PV Arrangement MPT 16.09.25
P2 Client/Consultant Amendments - Materiality & Internal Layouts MPT 09.10.25
P3 Planning Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 12.11.25
P4 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 18.11.25

1 : 100

200_00-GROUND-FLOOR-PLAN1

GROSS INTERNAL GROUND FLOOR AREA - 1,832m2

GROSS INTERNAL FIRST FLOOR AREA - 1,812m2

TOTAL GROSS INTERNAL FLOOR AREA - 3,644m2

76 BEDROOM RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME

P
age 42



DN

DN DN

16 m²
Stair.01
A.00.054

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.024

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.023

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.026

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.025

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.027

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.028

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.029

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.030

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.031

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.032

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.018

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.007

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.006

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.019

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.020

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.005

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.004

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.021

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.022

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.003

46 m²
Circulation

A.00.053

16 m²
Lobby

A.00.052

56 m²
Lounge
A.00.008

42 m²
Dining

A.00.035

4 m²
W.C

A.00.0336 m²
Utility

A.00.034

27 m²
Balcony
A.00.036

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.037

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.038

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.009

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.017

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.016

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.010

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.040

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.039 17 m²

Bedroom
A.00.011

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.015

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.042

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.041

5 m²
Store

A.00.014

7 m²
Nurse

A.00.013

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.043

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.044

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.045

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.046

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.047

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.048

7 m²
Sluice

A.00.072

27 m²
Laundry
A.00.071

15 m²
Bathroom
A.00.049

4 m²
Hoist

A.00.050

59 m²
Circulation

A.00.051

31 m²
Gym

A.00.012

32 m²
Multi-Purpose

A.00.055

36 m²
Activity Room

A.00.056

67 m²
Circulation

A.00.076

4 m²
Lift.01

A.00.074

4 m²
Lift.02

A.00.075

4 m²
W.C

A.00.070

5 m²
MEDS

A.00.069

5 m²
Cleaners
A.00.068

10 m²
COMMS
A.00.066

C
ir

c
u

la
ti

o
n

20 m²
Stair.02
A.00.064

25 m²
Staff Room

A.00.063

6 m²
Lockers
A.00.062

7 m²
CH.W.C
A.00.061

6 m²
CH.W.C
A.00.060

3 m²
Store

A.00.065

7 m²
Sluice

A.00.058

7 m²
Store

A.00.057

10 m²
Nurse

A.00.059

55 m²
Circulation

A.00.077

4 m²
Hoist

A.00.078

15 m²
Bathroom
A.00.079

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.080

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.081

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.082

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.083

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.084

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.085

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.087

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.086

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.089

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.088

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.090

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.091

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.092

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.093

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.094

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.095

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.096

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.097

16 m²
Lobby

A.00.099

42 m²
Dining

A.00.100

56 m²
Lounge
A.00.098

27 m²
Balcony
A.00.101

6 m²
Utility

A.00.102

4 m²
W.C

A.00.103

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.107

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.106

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.104

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.105

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.111

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.110

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.109

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.108

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.117

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.116

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.113

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.112

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.115

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.114

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.119

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.118

17 m²
Bedroom
A.00.121

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.120

18 m²
Bedroom
A.00.124

4 m²
Ensuite
A.00.123

16 m²
Stair.03
A.00.122

47 m²
Circulation

A.00.125

5 m²
Store

A.00.249

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do 
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Drawing Scale 1:100  @ A1

2m 8m6m4m0m

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P4

1 : 100

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

Wrightcare Development Ltd. &
Deansgate M5 Ltd.

HCH-CAA-XX-01-D-A-201

MPT 16.09.25N/A

S2 - INFORMATION

Proposed First Floor Plan

13263

GROSS INTERNAL GROUND FLOOR AREA - 1,832m2

GROSS INTERNAL FIRST FLOOR AREA - 1,812m2

TOTAL GROSS INTERNAL FLOOR AREA - 3,644m2

76 BEDROOM RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME

Rev Description By Date
P1 Client Alterations - Internals & PV Arrangement MPT 16.09.25
P2 Client/Consultant Amendments - Materiality & Internal Layouts MPT 09.10.25
P3 Planning Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 12.11.25
P4 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 18.11.25

1 : 100

201_01-FIRST-FLOOR-PLAN1

P
age 43



01-First

3375

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

Level 00

0

01-First

3375

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

Level 00

0

01-First

3375

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

Level 00

0

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do 
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Drawing Scale 1:100  @ A1

2m 8m6m4m0m

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P7

1 : 100

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

Wrightcare Development Ltd. &
Deansgate M5 Ltd.

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-D-A-211

MPT 14.05.25LM

S2 - INFORMATION

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

13263

Rev Description By Date
P1 Client Comments Amendments MPT 27.05.25
P2 Client Details Change MPT 28.05.25
P3 Client Alterations - Internals & PV Arrangement MPT 16.09.25
P4 Client/Consultant Amendments - Materiality & Internal Layouts MPT 09.10.25
P5 Planning Alterations - Materiality MPT 27.10.25
P6 Planning Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 12.11.25
P7 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 18.11.25

1 : 100

PR SIDE NORTHERN ELEVATION1

1 : 100

PR SIDE SOUTHERN ELEVATION2

1 : 100

PR INTERNAL NORTHERN WING ELEVATION3

1 2 3 4 567

8 9

10

MATERIAL KEY:

1. Multi Faced Red Brickwork.

2. Wood Effect Grey Cladding. 

3. Concrete Slate Effect Roof Tiles.

4. Window Heads & Sills to be Three Brick Band in 
English Bond to Match Brick Detailing. 

5. Grey UPVC Windows & Doors.

6. Rainwater Goods to be UPVC to Match Windows & 
Doors.

7. UPVC Fascia & Soffits to Match Windows & Doors.

8. PV Panels Shown Indicatively, Final Numbers & 
Specification TBC.

9. Areas of Brick Detailing to Create Sections of 
Textured Facade. 

10. Covered Balcony Terrace with Cladding & Glazed 
Balustrade. 

11. Glazed Rear Entrance Canopy.

All Materials and Finishes 
to be Equal or Approved 

and Confirmed by the 
Local Authority Planning. 

8

11

11

P
age 44



01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do 
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Drawing Scale 1:100  @ A1

2m 8m6m4m0m

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P2

1 : 100

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

Wrightcare Development Ltd. &
Deansgate M5 Ltd.

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-D-A-214

MPT 14.05.25LM

S2 - INFORMATION

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

13263

MATERIAL KEY:

1. Multi Faced Red Brickwork.

2. Wood Effect Grey Cladding. 

3. Concrete Slate Effect Roof Tiles.

4. Window Heads & Sills to be Three Brick Band in English Bond to Match Brick Detailing. 

5. Grey UPVC Windows & Doors.

6. Rainwater Goods to be UPVC to Match Windows & Doors.

7. UPVC Fascia & Soffits to Match Windows & Doors.

8. PV Panels Shown Indicatively, Final Numbers & Specification TBC.

9. Areas of Brick Detailing to Create Sections of Textured Facade. 

10. Covered Balcony Terrace with Cladding & Glazed Balustrade. 

11. Glazed Rear Entrance Canopy.

All Materials and Finishes 
to be Equal or Approved 

and Confirmed by the 
Local Authority Planning. 

2

1 : 100

PR NORTHERN SIDE ELEVATION1

Rev Description By Date
P1 Planning Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 12.11.25
P2 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 18.11.25

1 : 100

PR SOUTHERN SIDE ELEVATION2

3 456 17

10

9

811

11

P
age 45



PRIVATE RESIDENT PATIOLANDSCAPINGCOMMUNAL PATH

SLOPE SHOWN INDICATIVELY.

EXISTING WOODLAND AND
SLOPING GROUND LEVELS TO

REMAIN AS EXISTING

R
ET

AI
N

IN
G

 W
AL

L

R
AI

LI
N

G
S

GROUND LEVELS TO REMAIN AS EXISTING

R
ED

 D
AS

H
ED

 L
IN

E 
D

EN
O

TE
S 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
BO

U
N

D
AR

Y

Rev. Description Date
P1 First Issue 17.11.25

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P1

 1 : 50

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-215

MPT 11/04/24-

Proposed Site Section

13263

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

02 PROPOSED SITE SECTION
1:50

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5m

P
age 46



I\R

P\R

P\R

C\B

P\R

BW

I\R

I\R

P\R

C\B

P\
R

P\R

P\R

B\W

P\R

P\R

P\R

C\
B

C\B

P\
R

C\B

C\B

C\P

C\B

C\P

CW

TARMAC

C\B

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

CONC

TARMAC

CONC

C
H

\L

C
H

\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

C\
P

C\P

C\P

P\R

C\P

C\B

C\B

P\R

TOP OF HEDGE

BW

SW
SW

WOOD MOUND

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT
SITE ACCESS

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

ROUGH GROUND

ROUGH GROUND

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

H
AM

PS
O

N
 C

R
ES

C
EN

T

SAGARS ROAD

TARMAC

TARMAC

KN
O

W
L 

PA
R

K

TARMAC

TARMAC

SAGARS ROAD

74
.6

4

74
.63

74.7074.70
74.63

74.57

74.51
74.47

74.50

74
.4

9
74

.5
9

74.51

74.49 74.60

74.66
74.70

74.79 74.74

74
.73

74
.7

1
74

.6
7

74
.69

74.72
74.71

74.64

74.58

74.54

GST

IC
CL74.57

IC
CL74.64

MKR
BT

74.55

74.71

74.76 74.80 74.76

74
.7

1

74.77
74.78

74.83

74.66
74.53

74.52

74.50
74.47

74
.4

6
74

.6
1

74.60
74.57

BT

MKR

74.64

74.59

74.62 74.51

74
.4

9
74

.5
1

74
.5

1

74.50

74.43

74.35

74.35

74.36

74.40

74.39

74.42

74.39

74.38

74.38

74.42

74.46

74.50

74.50

74.56

74.60

74.45

74.46

74.48

74.50
74.52

74.54

BT
RS

WST

74.95
74.84

74.74
74.71

74.63

74.56

74.8574.8074.84

74
.5

9

(76.50)

(76.50)

(76.48)

(75.52)

(75.59)

(76.03)

(76.12)

(75.88)

EAVES
79.97

RIDGE
82.47

SILL78.73

LP

TP

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

(77.77)

(79.36)

75.00

76.73
76.57

76.57
76.50

76.48

76.36
76.34

76.29
76.17

76.05
76.04

75.99

75.84
75.82

75.73
75.70

75.62
75.58

75.58
75.57

75.44
75.4475.32

75.23
75.22

75.05
75.03

74.93

74.81

74.73

74
.5

9
74

.6
5

74.77
74.87

74.95
75.07 75.14

75.32 75.25

75.39
75.51 75.45

75.60 75.67 75.68 75.71 75.77 75.74
75.85 75.93

76.01 76.07 76.16
76.25

76.31 76.37 76.45
76.57 76.53

76.60 76.72
76.83

74.75

74.82

74.86
74.72 74.85

74.88

74.86
74.88

75.03 75.08
75.10

75.26 75.28
75.41

75.32
75.30

75.25

75.18
75.15

75.05

74.94

OT

OT

OT

OT

75.27

75.08

74.97

74.86

74.74

74.75

74.67

74.62

74.52

74.49

74.42

75.29

75.15

74.99

74.88

74.77

74.75

74.68

74.61

74.58

74.56
74.56 74.51

74.53

PT
PT

PT
PT

74.49

74.51

74.56
74.63

74.60

BOL

SAP74.60

74.43
74.38

74.57
74.57

74.40

74.41

74.41

74.35

74.31

74.43

74.37

74.42

74.39

74.46

74
.5

0
74

.5
074

.5
2SAP 74.50

74.47

74.44

74.40

74.26

74.31

74.31

74.21

74.39

74.37

74.53

74.41

74
.6

1

74.85

74.82

74.58

74.69

74.81

74.77

75.08

75.06

75.17

75.32

75.76G1.0 G1.5

75.46

75.28

75.15

75.05

74.92

74.85

74.65

74.57

G2.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.8

(75.50)

(74.99)

(76.74)

(75.37)

(75.38)
(75.46)

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

74.52

74.58

74.53

74.57

74.65

74.77

75.06

75.58

75.56

75.62

75.65

74.70

74.83

75.00

74.43

74.88

74.64

(75.19)

(88.11)

MG

MG

MG

G1.6

74.82

74.93

74.90

74.69
74.71

75.00

74.84

75.17

75.28

(76.02)

(75.76)
74.69

74.67

74.68

74.83

74.79

74.96

74.95

75.08

75.27

75.52

75.30

75.13

74.89

74.75

74.62

74.58

74.35

74.18

74.08

74.09

74.06

74.02

74.08

74.28

74.4174
.3

9

74
.2

8

74
.0

2

73
.9

5

73
.96

74.06

74.07

74.15

74.33

74.51

74.56

74
.66

74
.86

75
.06

75
.20

75
.21

75
.27

75
.35

75
.53

75
.76

75
.92

76
.0

8

76
.1

4

76
.3

1

76
.3

3

76
.3

6

76
.4

3

76
.5

9

76
.6

0

76
.5

3

76
.6

4

76
.72

76.78

76.8276.79

76.80

76.78

76.73

76.61

76
.6

1

76.5976.73

76.62

76.49
76.49

76
.7

0

76.93

76.89

76.91

76.86

76.81

76.73

76
.7

6
76

.7
6

76
.77

76
.6

8

76
.6

2

76
.6

2
76

.5
6

76
.5

3

76
.2

4
76

.1
9

76
.1

2

76
.0

3

75
.85

75
.78

75
.56

75
.42

75
.32

75
.27

75
.09

74
.86

74.68

74.55

74.47

74.27

74.09

73.99

73.99

74
.01

73
.99

74
.0

8

74
.4

574.24

74.08

73.84

73.97

73.97

74.08

74.17

74.30

74.46

74.48

74.55

74.71

75.04

75.09
75.36

75.09

74.91

74.76

74.75

74.23

74.20

74.11

74.05

73.94

74.08

74.14

74.35

74
.1

9

74
.1

4

73.99

73.89

73.99

73
.97

74.01

74.15

74.16

74.21

74.33
74.42

74
.5

9

74.51

74
.16

74.25
74.42

(76.42)

(76.35)
(76.54)

(76.50)

(76.49)

(76.25)

(76.25)

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

74.55

74.41

74.43

RIDGE
80.17

EAVES
77.38

HL77.22

76.31

76.13

75.97

75.85

75.60

75.45

75.34

75.9075.97

76
.5

6

76
.4

2

76
.2

6
76

.3
0

76
.1

8

76
.0

7

75
.92

75
.77

75
.72

75
.47

75
.29

75
.2

7

75.36

75.47

75.55

75.66

75.98

76.08

76.17

76.29

75.81

75.62

75.35

75.18

75.13

G1.6

G2.8

SAP

SAP
SAP

SAPSAP
SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

RIDGE
80.94

EAVES
78.11

HL78.03

EAVES
81.46

(76.65)

(76.53)

75.47

75.45

75.36

75.25

74.85
74.98

75.34

75.70

75.92

76.09

76.06

75.44

75.75

74.65

74.37

74.43

74.84

MG

MG
75.68

75.69
75.91

75.73

75.85

MG

MG

MG
MG

SILL80.75

75.72

MG

76.88

76.84

76.76

76.70

76.62

76.68

76.65
76.71

76.66

76.53

76.33
76.43

76.40

IC
CL76.19

IC

76.28

76
.43

TP

IC
CL76.88

76.77

76.75
76.79

76.83
76.84

76.81

76.79

76.70

G3.0

PT

PT
76.96

77.01

76.98 77.03

77.02

76.95
76.88

76.68

76.57

76.51

76.33

76.25

G1.8

(78.85)

(78.73)

(78.36)

SILL80.73

RIDGE

RIDGE

85.15

84.49

EAVES

EAVES

81.97

82.61

75.72

76.05

75.98

76.19

76.24

76.34

76.47

76.53 76.67

76.79 76.84

(94.67)

(100.37)

(101.54)

75.71

75
.7

1

75.72

75.70

75.78

75.78

75.83

76.12

76
.4

2

76.51
76.71

76.49

76.55

76.51

76.36

76.29

76.14

75.94

75.81

75.83

75.88

75.83

75.83

75.78

75.74

75.82

75.77
75.77

75.79

75.72

75.85

75.72

75.76

75.84

75.89

76.10

76.21

76.26

76.32

76.88

76.81

76.77

76.67
76.68

76.70 76.55 76.79

76.82

76.89

76.8076.72

76.8476.7076.84

76.82

76.70

76.76

76.85
76.76 76.83 76.73 76.81

76.85

76.87

76.85

76.89

76.94
76.93

76
.8

7

76
.7

9

76
.75

76.6176.6476.52
76.55

76.58

76
.8

6

76.83
76.76

76.87

76.87

76.84

76.91

76.95

76.93

76.79

76.68

76.5776.53
76.5176.4876.52

77.07
76.90

76.72
76.77

76.78 76.86

76.90
76.83

76.8676.97
77.08

77.19
77.34

77.20
77.30

77.10

77.00

76.90
76.85

76.91

76.85

76.63
76.60

76.71

76.71

76.94

76.65

76.68

76.5276.37
76.31

76.18

76.02

75.8175.77

75.53
75.63

75.83

75.57

75.49

75.45

75.24

75.33

75.44

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

SILL81.35

EAVES
82.56

RIDGE
85.11

(90.26)

(96.96)

77.02

76.95

76.95

77.02

77.06

77.13

77.05

77.00

76.87

76.76

76.70

76.90

77.04

77.16

77.17

77.18

77.16

77.19

77.19

77.02

77.02

77.02

77.00

77.08

76.99

76.94

76.83

76.83

76.80

76.87

76.98

76.96

76.96

77.00

77.15

77.09

76.98

76.22

76.19

76.19

76.26

76.32

76.29

76.38

76.16

76.11

76.06

76.13

76.15
76.39

76.67
76.72

76.90

76.86

76.99
76.8876.81

76.80

76.75

76.80

76.79

76.77

76.46

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

77.00
PT

76.91

77.26

(79.08)

(79.38)

76.06

75.57
MG
MG

MG
MG

76.79

76.84

76
.9

0
76

.8
5

76.83 76.81

76
.88

76.76

76.71

76.7976.83

76
.89

76
.8

6

76.92

76.91

76.9576.95

76.88
76.83 76.89

76.8976.84

76.88

76.79

76.77
76.87

76.93
76.94

76.94
76.95

76.92
77.01

77.05

77.16

77.20

77.22

77.17

77.16 76.95

76.90

76.88
76.68

76.68

76.65

76.84

76.78

76.96

76.85

77.10

77.17

77.01

76.90
76.15

76.16

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

76
.9

3

76
.92

76.81
76.7376.75

76.7376.8576.92

76.80

76.5476.53

76.17 76.26 76.15

76.20 76.12

75.89

75.86

75.92

75.94

76.48

76.48

76.42

76.45

76.65

76.63

76.65

76.61

76.68

76.59

76.55

76.52

76.48

76.47

76.45

76.61
76.60

76.56

76.56

76.59

76.36

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

74.11

73.96

73.99

74
.35

75.04

75
.43

75
.49

75
.45

75
.50

75
.49

75
.5

9

75
.77

75.89

75.73

75.63

75.86

75
.98

75
.9

2

75
.8

2

75
.7

2

75
.7

0

75
.8

0

75
.7

2

75
.7

7

75
.6

3

75
.5

2

75
.21

75
.16

75.16
75.08

74.75

76.07 76.15

76.1476.09

75.86

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

(77.02)

73.23

73.13

73
.21

73
.17

72.96

72.69

72
.42

72
.37

72.35

72.66

72
.81

73
.33

74.25

74
.14

74
.1

7

73.93

73
.95

74.37

74.45

74.74

74.99

74.9974.5274.08
74.21

74.28

74.65

74.64

74.61

74.29

74.27

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

(77.20)

(75.65)

(75.46)

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

75.20

75.11

74.94

74.85

74.82

74.78

74.72

74.62

74.53

74.58
74.58

74.42

74.32

74.37

74.39

74.41

74.49

74.53

74.54

74
.5

8

74.45

73.62

73
.48

73
.40

73.24

73.22

73.18

73.18

74
.4

4

74
.38

73.84

73.88

73.82

73.89

74.24

74
.13

73.89

74
.40

74.49

74.53

74.38

74.34

74
.1

5

74
.1

6

74
.1

7

74
.66

74.78

74.99

75.22

75.38

75.35

75.42

75.48

75.39
75.36

75.45

75.43

75.47

75.35

75.36

75.38

75.29

75.33

75.59

75.46

75
.52

75
.57

75
.79

75
.85

75
.84

75
.84

75.88

75.79

76
.08

75
.9

8

76
.0

3

75
.9

4

75
.9

9

75
.9

9

75
.9

3
76

.1
2

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

74.13

74.28

74.13

73.92

WSTMH

MH

CL74.88

CL74.96
74.96

75.04
75.21

75.43

75.59 75.60 75.60
75.69

75.86
75.99

76.07
76.18

76.27
76.36

76.36
76.29

76.1876.08

75.94
75.83

75.71
75.67

75.56

75.40

75.26

75.14
75.07

74.98

75.11
75.19

75.33
75.44

75.55 75.62
MH
CL75.82

74.97

75.06
CTV

NP

74.99

74.8574.8074.75
74.70

75.13

75.48 75.50

75.72

75.83

75.98

76.14

76.33

LP

PT

BT

TP

WST

74.94

74.80

74.72

74
.6

0

O
T

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G1.5

G1.5

G1.2

G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2
G1.2 G1.2

NP
OT

OT

OT

OT

75.42 75.46

WST

75
.4

8

75.71
75.70

75.82

75.53

75.58
75.69

75.90

75.95
WST

75.97
75.97

76.07 76.18 76.34
76.51

WST

WST
WST

MH
CL76.78

BT

76.04

76.07

76.79

76.56

76.54
76.51

76
.52

76.56
76.45

76.33

76.38
76.49

76.60
76.73

MH
CL76.54

76.46

76.56
76.70

76.82

76.74
76.62

76.47
76.3776.33

76.28

76.21

76
.1

0
76

.2
3

76.34

76.40 76.40 76.43
76.59

76.73
76.84

76.85
76.62

76.46
76.3776.3976.34

76.21

76
.0

9

76
.0

6

BT
CTV

CB
76.66

76.71 76.77

76.65
76.5876.55

76.45
76.35

76
.3

3

76
.2

7

76.08

76.10

76.10

76.08

76.11

76.30

76.17
76.09

76.02

WST
WST

NP

TP

76.12
76.11

76.06

76.00

75.94
75.83

75.76

75.55

75.30

74
.99

CTV

76.01
75.99

76.00

75.94

75.84
75.83

75.73
75.63

75.59
75.55

75.44

75.30
75.19

75.13
74.99

74.92

74.83
74.75

74.70
74.64

74.5674.53

74
.4

9
74

.6
2

74.60 74.68
74.75 74.82

74.85
74.92

74.93 75.08
75.23

75.28
75.40

75.52

75.65 75.70 75.74
75.83

75.95 75.94

76.08

76.12

76.11
76.14

76.01
76.00

75.99

75.96

75.90

75.83
75.83

75.75
75.67

75.46

WST WST

CTV

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0

MG

MG

G2.5

SP

BIN

76.51

76.59 76.61 76.62

LP

SO1

SO2

SO3

SO4

SO5

SO6

SO7

SO8

SO9

G
74.44

FH

G
74.96

G

G
75.62

G
76.37

G
76.39

G
75.62

G
75.01

G

SILL82.08

SILL80.22

SILL80.22

(78.03)(77.99)(77.99)

(78.25)

(78.21)

SILL81.37

SILL81.37

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G
76.17

G
73.95

1

2

De
f

22

Brook

7

2

1

Ash Grove

36

Ward Bdy

51

6

SUNNINGDALE CLOSE

58

7

30

CS

40

47

5

38

1

De
f

Southfield

As
h 

G
ro

ve

Close

1

Dobbin

SAGARS ROAD

H
am

ps
on

 C
re

s

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.0 G1.5

G2.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.6

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G2.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

G3.0

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.2

G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2
G1.2 G1.2

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0

MG

MG

G2.5

1:500

0 5 10 15 20 25m

Rev. Description Date
P1 Additional Tree to be Removed 14.05.25
P2 Client Details Change 28.05.25
P3 Red Line Boundary Alterations 30.06.25
P4 Planning Alterations - Notation Changes 12.11.25
P5 Existing Trees Added 25.11.25
P6 Notation Added 25.11.25

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P6

 1 : 500

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-102

MPT 11/04/24-

Existing Tree Removal Site Plan

13263
 1 : 500

Existing Tree Removal Site Plan
S

RED LINE DENOTES AREA
OF OVERGROWTH TO BE

REMOVED.

RED HATCH DENOTES TREE
SAPLINGS TO BE REMOVED.
PROPOSED REPLACEMENT

TREE PLANTING & BNG.

ALL EXISTING TREES TO
BE RETAINED WHERE
OTHERWISE SHOWN.

REFER TO ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT &
TREE SURVEY REGARDING SUPPORTING

INFORMATION ON TREE PROTECTION & REMOVAL.

REFER TO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT DRAWINGS &
SPECIFICATION REGARDING PROPOSED

LANDSCAPING, REPLACEMENT TREE PLANTING,
LANDSCAPE IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND BNG.

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

BOUNDARY TREE LINE TO BE PRUNED
BACK. NO TREES TO BE REMOVED. REFER
TO ARBORICULTURAL REPORT FOR RPA'S

TREE TO BE
REMOVED

P
age 47

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
385200E

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
385250E

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
385300E

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
383300N

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
383300N

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
383350N

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
383350N

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
383400N

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
383400N

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
NORTH



01-First

3375

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

Level 00

0

01-First

3375

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

Level 00

0

01-First

3375

01-First

3375

R1-Eaves

6300

R1-Eaves

6300

R2-Ridge

9850

R2-Ridge

9850

Level 00

0

Level 00

0

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do 
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Drawing Scale 1:100  @ A1

2m 8m6m4m0m

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P7

1 : 100

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

Wrightcare Development Ltd. &
Deansgate M5 Ltd.

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-D-A-210

MPT 14.05.25LM

S2 - INFORMATION

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

13263

Rev Description By Date
P1 Client Comments Amendments MPT 27.05.25
P2 Client Details Change MPT 28.05.25
P3 Client Alterations - Internals & PV Arrangement MPT 16.09.25
P4 Client/Consultant Amendments - Materiality & Internal Layouts MPT 09.10.25
P5 Planning Alterations - Materiality MPT 27.10.25
P6 Planning Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 12.11.25
P7 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation MPT 18.11.25

1 : 100

PR REAR WESTERN ELEVATION2

1 : 100

PR FRONT EASTERN ELEVATION1

1 : 100

PR INTERNAL SOUTHERN WING ELEVATION3

MATERIAL KEY:

1. Multi Faced Red Brickwork.

2. Wood Effect Grey Cladding. 

3. Concrete Slate Effect Roof Tiles.

4. Window Heads & Sills to be a Three Brick Band in 
English Bond to Match Brick Detailing. 

5. Grey UPVC Windows & Doors.

6. Rainwater Goods to be UPVC to Match Windows & 
Doors.

7. UPVC Fascia & Soffits to Match Windows & Doors.

8. PV Panels Shown Indicatively, Final Numbers & 
Specification TBC.

9. Areas of Brick Detailing to Create Sections of 
Textured Facade. 

10. Covered Balcony Terrace with Cladding & Glazed 
Balustrade. 

11. Glazed Rear Entrance Canopy

1 2 34 5 6 789

10

All Materials and Finishes 
to be Equal or Approved 

and Confirmed by the 
Local Authority Planning. 

811

P
age 48



EV

7

36

51

30

40

47

38

STAFF & OVERFLOW PARKING

WOODLAND WALK
LANDSCAPING

FEATURE
LANDSCAPING

LANDSCAPED
GARDEN

M
AIN

EN
TR

AN
C

E

22m
 SEPAR

ATIO
N

 D
ISTAN

C
E

FR
O

M
 AD

JAC
EN

T PR
O

PER
TIES

FENCE LINE

LARGE VEHICLE

TURNING AREA

BIN

STORAGE

EXTERNAL

PLANT &

SPRINKLER

TANK

AM
BU

LAN
C

E D
R

O
P-O

FF

(TOTAL 34 CAR PARKING SPACES)

ALL R
O

O
F PITC

H
S TO

 BE 22.5°

VISITOR PARKING

C\B

CW

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

CH\L

CH\L

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

75
.76

75
.92

76
.0

8

76
.1

4

76
.3

1

76
.3

3

76
.3

6

76
.4

3

76
.5

9

76
.6

0

76
.5

3

76
.6

4

76
.72

76.78

76.8276.79

76.80

76.78

76.73

76.61

76
.6

1

76.5976.73

76.62

76.49
76.49

76
.7

0

76.93

76.89

76.91

76.86

76.81

76.73

76
.7

6
76

.7
6

76
.77

76
.6

8

76
.6

2

76
.6

2
76

.5
6

76
.5

3

76
.2

4
76

.1
9

76
.1

2

76
.0

3

75
.85

75
.78

76.31

76.13

75.97

75.85

75.9075.97

76
.5

6

76
.4

2

76
.2

6
76

.3
0

76
.1

8

76
.0

7

75
.92

75
.77

75
.72

75
.47

75.66

75.98

76.08

76.17

76.29

75.81

75.62
EAVES
81.46

SILL80.75

76.88

76.84

76.76

76.70

76.62

76.68

76.65
76.71

76.66

76.53

76.33
76.43

76.40

IC
CL76.19

IC

76.28

76
.43

TP

IC
CL76.88

76.77

76.75
76.79

76.83
76.84

76.81

76.79

76.70

PT

PT
76.96

77.01

76.98 77.03

77.02

76.95
76.88

76.68

76.57

76.51

76.33

76.25

G1.8

(78.85)

(78.73)

(78.36)

SILL80.73

RIDGE

RIDGE

85.15

84.49

EAVES

EAVES

81.97

82.61

75.72

76.05

75.98

76.19

76.24

76.34

76.47

76.53 76.67

76.79 76.84

(100.37)

(101.54)

75.71

75
.7

1

75.72

75.70

75.78

75.78

75.83

76.12

76
.4

2

76.51
76.71

76.49

76.55

76.51

76.36

76.29

76.14

75.94

75.81

75.83

75.88

75.83

75.83

75.78

75.74

75.82

75.77
75.77

75.79

75.72

75.85

75.72

75.76

75.84

75.89

76.10

76.21

76.26

76.32

76.88

76.81

76.77

76.68

76.70 76.55 76.79

76.82

76.89

76.8076.72

76.8476.7076.84

76.82

76.70

76.76

76.85
76.76 76.83 76.73 76.81

76.85

76.87

76.85

76.89

76.94
76.93

76
.8

7

76
.7

9

76
.75

76.6176.6476.5276.55
76.58

76
.8

6

76.83
76.76

76.87

76.87

76.84

76.91

76.95

76.93

76.79

76.68

76.5776.53
76.5176.4876.52

77.07
76.90

76.72
76.77

76.78 76.86

76.90
76.83

76.8676.97
77.08

77.19
77.34

77.20
77.30

77.10

77.00

76.90
76.85

76.91

76.85

76.63
76.60

76.71

76.71

76.94

76.65

76.68

76.5276.37
76.31

76.18

76.02

75.8175.77

75.53
75.63

75.83

75.57

75.49

75.45

75.24

75.33

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

SILL81.35

EAVES
82.56

RIDGE
85.11

(90.26)

77.02

76.95

76.95

77.02

77.06

77.13

77.05

77.00

76.87

76.76

76.70

76.90

77.04

77.16

77.17

77.18

77.16

77.19

77.19

77.02

77.02

77.02

77.00

77.08

76.99

76.94

76.83

76.83

76.80

76.87

76.98

76.96

76.96

77.00

77.15

77.09

76.98

76.22

76.19

76.19

76.26

76.32

76.29

76.38

76.16

76.11

76.06

76.13

76.15
76.39

76.67
76.72

76.90

76.86

76.99
76.8876.81

76.80

76.75

76.80

76.79

76.77

76.46

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

77.00
PT

76.91

77.26

(79.08)

(79.38)

76.06

75.57
MG
MG

MG
MG

76.79

76.84

76
.9

0
76

.8
5

76.83 76.81

76
.88

76.76

76.71

76.7976.83

76
.89

76
.8

6

76.92

76.91

76.95

76.95

76.88
76.83 76.89

76.8976.84

76.88

76.79

76.77
76.87

76.93
76.94

76.94
76.95

76.92
77.01

77.05

77.16

77.20

77.22

77.17

77.16 76.95

76.90

76.88
76.68

76.68

76.65

76.84

76.78

76.96

76.85

77.10

77.17

77.01

76.90
76.15

76.16

76
.9

3

76
.92

76.81
76.7376.7576.7376.8576.92

76.80

76.5476.53

76.26 76.15

76.20 76.12

75.89

75.86
75.92

76.48

76.48

76.42

76.45

76.65

76.63

76.65

76.61

76.68

76.59

76.55

76.52

76.48

76.47

76.45

76.61
76.60

76.56

76.56

76.59

76.36

MG

MG
G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

74.11

73.96

73.99

74
.35

75.04

75
.43

75
.49

75
.45

75
.50

75
.49

75
.5

9

75
.77

75.89

75.73

75.63

75.86

75
.98

75
.9

2

75
.8

2

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

(77.02)

74.28

74.65

74.64

74.61

74.29

74.27

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G2.0 75.42

75.48

75.39
75.36

75.45

75.43

75.47

75.35

75.36

75.38

75.29

75.33

75.59

75
.46

75
.52

75
.57

75
.79

75
.85

75
.84

75
.84

75.88

75.79

76
.08

75
.9

8

SO7

SO8

SO9

SILL82.08

SILL80.22

(78.21)

SILL81.37

SILL81.37

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G
76.17

KITCHEN

EXTRACT

BOUNDARY TREE LINE TO BE PRUNED BACK. NO TREES TO BE REMOVED.
REFER TO ARBORICULTURAL REPORT FOR RPA'S

RETAINING STRUCTURE FOR BANKED SITE

CYCLE

PARK

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G2.0

1:200

0 2 4 6 8 10m

Rev. Description Date
P1 Additional Tree to be Removed 14.05.25
P2 Client Comments Amendments 27.05.25
P3 Client Details Change 28.05.25
P4 Red Line Boundary Alterations 30.06.25
P5 Additional Parking Added 05.09.25
P6 Planning Alterations - Pavement & Refuse Enclosures 16.09.25
P7 Planning Alterations - Existing Topographical Survey Added 27.10.25
P8 Planning Alterations - External Works 12.11.25
P9 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation & External Works 17.11.25
P10 Landscaping Alterations & Existing Trees Added 25.11.25
P11 Notation Added 25.11.25
P12 Planning Alterations - Parking Arrangement 01.12.25

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P12

 1 : 200

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

HCH-CAA-XX-R1-DR-A-104

MPT 11/04/24-

Proposed Roof Plan

13263
 1 : 200

Proposed Roof Plan
P

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

P
age 49

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
385150E

http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
AutoCAD SHX Text_61
NORTH



EV

1

2

De
f

22

Brook

7

2

1

Ash Grove

36

Ward Bdy

51

6

SUNNINGDALE CLOSE

58

7

30

CS

40

47

5

38

1

De
f

Southfield

As
h 

G
ro

ve

Close

1

Dobbin

SAGARS ROAD

H
am

ps
on

 C
re

s

STAFF & OVERFLOW PARKING

WOODLAND WALK
LANDSCAPING

FEATURE
LANDSCAPING

LANDSCAPED
GARDEN

M
AIN

EN
TR

AN
C

E

22m
 SEPAR

ATIO
N

 D
ISTAN

C
E

FR
O

M
 AD

JAC
EN

T PR
O

PER
TIES

FENCE LINE

LARGE VEHICLE

TURNING AREA

BIN

STORAGE

EXTERNAL

PLANT &

SPRINKLER

TANK

AM
BU

LAN
C

E D
R

O
P-O

FF

(TOTAL 34 CAR PARKING SPACES)

ALL R
O

O
F PITC

H
S TO

 BE 22.5°

VISITOR PARKING

I\R

P\R

P\R

C\B

P\R

BW

I\R

I\R

P\R

C\B

P\
R

P\R

P\R

B\W

P\R

P\R

P\R

C\
B

C\B

P\
R

C\B

C\B

C\P

C\B

C\P

CW

C\B

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

C
H

\L

C
H

\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

C\
P

C\P

C\P

P\R

C\P

C\B

C\B

P\R

TOP OF HEDGE

BW

SW
SW

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT
SITE ACCESS

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

H
AM

PS
O

N
 C

R
ES

C
EN

T

SAGARS ROAD

TARMAC

TARMAC

KN
O

W
L 

PA
R

K

TARMAC

TARMAC

SAGARS ROAD

74
.6

4

74
.63

74.7074.70

74.63

74.57

74.51
74.47

74.50

74
.4

9
74

.5
9

74.51

74.49
74.60

74.66
74.70

74.79 74.74

74
.73

74
.7

1
74

.6
7

74
.69

74.72
74.71

74.64

74.58

74.54

GST

IC
CL74.57

IC
CL74.64

MKR
BT

74.55

74.71

74.76 74.80 74.76

74
.7

1

74.77
74.78

74.83

74.66
74.53

74.52

74.50
74.47

74
.4

6
74

.6
1

74.60
74.57

BT

MKR

74.64

74.59

74.62 74.51

74
.4

9
74

.5
1

74
.5

1

74.50

74.43

74.35

74.35

74.36

74.40

74.39

74.42

74.39

74.38

74.38

74.42

74.46

74.50

74.50

74.56

74.60

74.45

74.46

74.48

74.50
74.52

74.54

BT
RS

WST

74.95
74.84

74.74
74.71

74.63

74.56

74.8574.8074.84

74
.5

9

(76.50)

(76.50)

(76.48)

(75.52)

(75.59)

(76.03)

(76.12)

(75.88)

EAVES
79.97

RIDGE
82.47

SILL78.73

LP

TP

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

(77.77)

(79.36)

75.00

76.73
76.57

76.57
76.50

76.48
76.36

76.34
76.29

76.17
76.05

76.04
75.99

75.84
75.82

75.73
75.70

75.62
75.58

75.58
75.57

75.44
75.4475.32

75.23
75.22

75.05
75.03

74.93

74.81

74.73

74
.5

9
74

.6
5

74.77
74.87

74.95
75.07 75.14

75.32 75.25

75.39
75.51 75.45

75.60 75.67 75.68 75.71 75.77 75.74
75.85 75.93

76.01 76.07 76.16
76.25

76.31 76.37 76.45
76.57 76.53

76.60 76.72
76.83

74.75

74.82

74.86
74.72 74.85

74.88

74.86
74.88

75.03 75.08
75.10

75.26 75.28
75.41

75.32
75.30

75.25

75.18
75.15

75.05

74.94

OT

OT

OT

OT

75.27

75.08

74.97

74.86

74.74

74.75

74.67

74.62

74.52

74.49

74.42

75.29

75.15

74.99

74.88

74.77

74.75

74.68

74.61

74.58

74.56
74.56 74.51

74.53

PT
PT

PT
PT

74.49

74.51

74.56
74.63

74.60

BOL

SAP74.60

74.43
74.38

74.57
74.57

74.40

74.41

74.41

74.35

74.31

74.43

74.37

74.42

74.39

74.46

74
.5

0
74

.5
074

.5
2SAP 74.50

74.47

74.44

74.40

74.26

74.31

74.31

74.21

74.39

74.37

74.53

74.41

74
.6

1

74.85

74.82

74.58

74.69

74.81

74.77

75.08

75.06

75.17

75.32

75.76G1.0 G1.5

75.46

75.28

75.15

75.05

74.92

74.85

74.65

74.57

G2.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.8

(75.50)

(74.99)

(76.74)

(75.37)

(75.38)
(75.46)

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

74.52

74.58

74.53

74.57

74.65

74.77

75.06

75.58

75.56

75.62

75.65

74.70

74.83

75.00

74.43

74.88

74.64

(75.19)

(88.11)

MG

MG

MG

G1.6

74.82

74.93

74.90

74.69
74.71

75.00

74.84

75.17

75.28

(76.02)

(75.76)
74.69

74.67

74.68

74.83

74.79

74.96

74.95

75.08

75.27

75.52

75.30

75.13

74.89

74.75

74.62

74.58

74.35

74.18

74.08

74.09

74.06

74.02

74.08

74.28

74.4174
.3

9

74
.2

8

74
.0

2

73
.9

5

73
.96

74.06

74.07

74.15

74.33

74.51

74.56

74
.66

74
.86

75
.06

75
.20

75
.21

75
.27

75
.35

75
.53

75
.76

75
.92

76
.0

8

76
.1

4

76
.3

1

76
.3

3

76
.3

6

76
.4

3

76
.5

9

76
.6

0

76
.5

3

76
.6

4

76
.72

76.78

76.8276.79

76.80

76.78

76.73

76.61

76
.6

1

76.5976.73

76.62

76.49
76.49

76
.7

0

76.93

76.89

76.91

76.86

76.81

76.73

76
.7

6
76

.7
6

76
.77

76
.6

8

76
.6

2

76
.6

2
76

.5
6

76
.5

3

76
.2

4
76

.1
9

76
.1

2

76
.0

3

75
.85

75
.78

75
.56

75
.42

75
.32

75
.27

75
.09

74
.86

74.68

74.55

74.47

74.27

74.09

73.99

73.99

74
.01

73
.99

74
.0

8

74
.4

574.24

74.08

73.84

73.97

73.97

74.08

74.17

74.30

74.46

74.48

74.55

74.71

75.04

75.09
75.36

75.09

74.91

74.76

74.75

74.23

74.20

74.11

74.05

73.94

74.08

74.14

74.35

74
.1

9

74
.1

4

73.99

73.89

73.99

73
.97

74.01

74.15

74.16

74.21

74.33
74.42

74
.5

9

74.51

74
.16

74.25
74.42

(76.42)

(76.35)
(76.54)

(76.50)

(76.49)

(76.25)

(76.25)

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

74.55

74.41

74.43

RIDGE
80.17

EAVES
77.38

HL77.22

76.31

76.13

75.97

75.85

75.60

75.45

75.34

75.9075.97

76
.5

6

76
.4

2

76
.2

6
76

.3
0

76
.1

8

76
.0

7

75
.92

75
.77

75
.72

75
.47

75
.29

75
.2

7

75.36

75.47

75.55

75.66

75.98

76.08

76.17

76.29

75.81

75.62

75.35

75.18

75.13

G1.6

G2.8

SAP

SAP
SAP

SAPSAP
SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

RIDGE
80.94

EAVES
78.11

HL78.03

EAVES
81.46

(76.65)

(76.53)

75.47

75.45

75.36

75.25

74.85
74.98

75.34

75.70

75.92

76.09

76.06

75.44

75.75

74.65

74.37

74.43

74.84

MG

MG
75.68

75.69
75.91

75.73

75.85

MG

MG

MG
MG

SILL80.75

75.72

MG

76.88

76.84

76.76

76.70

76.62

76.68

76.65
76.71

76.66

76.53

76.33
76.43

76.40

IC
CL76.19

IC

76.28

76
.43

TP

IC
CL76.88

76.77

76.75
76.79

76.83
76.84

76.81

76.79

76.70

PT

PT
76.96

77.01

76.98 77.03

77.02

76.95
76.88

76.68

76.57

76.51

76.33

76.25

G1.8

(78.85)

(78.73)

(78.36)

SILL80.73

RIDGE

RIDGE

85.15

84.49

EAVES

EAVES

81.97

82.61

75.72

76.05

75.98

76.19

76.24

76.34

76.47

76.53 76.67

76.79 76.84

(94.67)

(100.37)

(101.54)

75.71

75
.7

1

75.72

75.70

75.78

75.78

75.83

76.12

76
.4

2

76.51
76.71

76.49

76.55

76.51

76.36

76.29

76.14

75.94

75.81

75.83

75.88

75.83

75.83

75.78

75.74

75.82

75.77
75.77

75.79

75.72

75.85

75.72

75.76

75.84

75.89

76.10

76.21

76.26

76.32

76.88

76.81

76.77

76.68

76.70 76.55 76.79

76.82

76.89

76.8076.72

76.84
76.7076.84

76.82

76.70

76.76

76.85
76.76 76.83 76.73 76.81

76.85

76.87

76.85

76.89

76.94
76.93

76
.8

7

76
.7

9

76
.75

76.6176.6476.52
76.55

76.58

76
.8

6

76.83
76.76

76.87

76.87

76.84

76.91

76.95

76.93

76.79

76.68

76.5776.53
76.5176.4876.52

77.07
76.90

76.72
76.77

76.78 76.86

76.90
76.83

76.8676.97
77.08

77.19
77.34

77.20
77.30

77.10

77.00

76.90
76.85

76.91

76.85

76.63
76.60

76.71

76.71

76.94

76.65

76.68

76.5276.37
76.31

76.18

76.02

75.8175.77

75.53
75.63

75.83

75.57

75.49

75.45

75.24

75.33

75.44

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

SILL81.35

EAVES
82.56

RIDGE
85.11

(90.26)

(96.96)

77.02

76.95

76.95

77.02

77.06

77.13

77.05

77.00

76.87

76.76

76.70

76.90

77.04

77.16

77.17

77.18

77.16

77.19

77.19

77.02

77.02

77.02

77.00

77.08

76.99

76.94

76.83

76.83

76.80

76.87

76.98

76.96

76.96

77.00

77.15

77.09

76.98

76.22

76.19

76.19

76.26

76.32

76.29

76.38

76.16

76.11

76.06

76.13

76.15
76.39

76.67
76.72

76.90

76.86

76.99
76.8876.81

76.80

76.75

76.80

76.79

76.77

76.46

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

77.00
PT

76.91

77.26

(79.08)

(79.38)

76.06

75.57
MG
MG

MG
MG

76.79

76.84

76
.9

0
76

.8
5

76.83
76.81

76
.88

76.76

76.71

76.7976.83

76
.89

76
.8

6

76.92

76.91

76.95

76.95

76.88
76.83 76.89

76.8976.84

76.88

76.79

76.77
76.87

76.93
76.94

76.94
76.95

76.92
77.01

77.05

77.16

77.20

77.22

77.17

77.16 76.95

76.90

76.88
76.68

76.68

76.65

76.84

76.78

76.96

76.85

77.10

77.17

77.01

76.90
76.15

76.16

76
.9

3

76
.92

76.81
76.7376.7576.7376.8576.92

76.80

76.5476.53

76.17 76.26 76.15

76.20 76.12

75.89

75.86
75.92

75.94

76.48

76.48

76.42

76.45

76.65

76.63

76.65

76.61

76.68

76.59

76.55

76.52

76.48

76.47

76.45

76.61
76.60

76.56

76.56

76.59

76.36

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

74.11

73.96

73.99

74
.35

75.04

75
.43

75
.49

75
.45

75
.50

75
.49

75
.5

9

75
.77

75.89

75.73

75.63

75.86

75
.98

75
.9

2

75
.8

2

75
.7

2

75
.7

0

75
.8

0

75
.7

2

75
.7

7

75
.6

3

75
.5

2

75
.21

75
.16

75.16
75.08

74.75

76.07 76.15

76.1476.09

75.86

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

(77.02)

73.23

73.13

73
.21

73
.17

72.96

72.69

72
.42

72
.37

72.35

72.66

72
.81

73
.33

74.25

74
.14

74
.1

7

73.93

73
.95

74.37

74.45

74.74

74.99

74.9974.5274.08
74.21

74.28

74.65

74.64

74.61

74.29

74.27

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

(77.20)

(75.65)

(75.46)

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

75.20

75.11

74.94

74.85

74.82

74.78

74.72

74.62

74.53

74.58
74.58

74.42

74.32

74.37

74.39

74.41

74.49

74.53

74.54

74
.5

8

74.45

73.62

73
.48

73
.40

73.24

73.22

73.18

73.18

74
.4

4

74
.38

73.84

73.88

73.82

73.89

74.24

74
.13

73.89

74
.40

74.49

74.53

74
.38

74.34

74
.1

5

74
.1

6

74
.1

7

74
.66

74.78

74.99

75.22

75.38

75.35

75.42

75.48

75.39
75.36

75.45

75.43

75.47

75.35

75.36

75.38

75.29

75.33

75.59

75
.46

75
.52

75
.57

75
.79

75
.85

75
.84

75
.84

75.88

75.79

76
.08

75
.9

8

76
.0

3

75
.9

4

75
.9

9

75
.9

9

75
.9

3
76

.1
2

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

74.13

74.28

74.13

73.92

WSTMH

MH

CL74.88

CL74.96
74.96

75.04
75.21

75.43

75.59 75.60 75.60
75.69

75.86
75.99

76.07
76.18

76.27
76.36

76.36
76.29

76.1876.08

75.94
75.83

75.71
75.67

75.56

75.40

75.26

75.14
75.07

74.98

75.11
75.19

75.33
75.44

75.55 75.62
MH
CL75.82

74.97

75.06
CTV

NP

74.99

74.8574.8074.75
74.70

75.13

75.48 75.50

75.72

75.83

75.98

76.14

76.33

LP

PT

BT

TP

WST

74.94

74.80

74.72

74
.6

0

O
T

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G1.5

G1.5

G1.2

G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2

NP
OT

OT

OT

OT

75.42 75.46

WST

75
.4

8

75.71
75.70

75.82

75.53

75.58
75.69

75.90

75.95
WST

75.97
75.97

76.07 76.18 76.34
76.51

WST

WST
WST

MH
CL76.78

BT

76.04

76.07

76.79

76.56

76.54
76.51

76
.52

76.56
76.45

76.33

76.38
76.49

76.60
76.73

MH
CL76.54

76.46

76.56
76.70

76.82

76.74
76.62

76.47
76.3776.33

76.28

76.21

76
.1

0
76

.2
3

76.34

76.40 76.40 76.43
76.59

76.73
76.84

76.85
76.62

76.46
76.3776.3976.34

76.21

76
.0

9

76
.0

6

BT
CTV

CB
76.66

76.71 76.77

76.65
76.5876.55

76.45
76.35

76
.3

3

76
.2

7

76.08

76.10

76.10

76.08

76.11

76.30
76.17

76.09
76.02

WST
WST

NP

TP

76.12
76.11

76.06

76.00

75.94
75.83

75.76

75.55

75.30

74
.99

CTV

76.01
75.99

76.00

75.94

75.84
75.83

75.73
75.63

75.59
75.55

75.44

75.30
75.19

75.13
74.99

74.92

74.83
74.75

74.70
74.64

74.5674.53

74
.4

9
74

.6
2

74.60 74.68
74.75 74.82

74.85
74.92

74.93 75.08
75.23

75.28
75.40

75.52

75.65 75.70 75.74
75.83

75.95 75.94

76.08

76.12

76.11
76.14

76.01
76.00

75.99

75.96

75.90

75.83
75.83

75.75
75.67

75.46

WST WST

CTV

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0

MG

MG

G2.5

SP

BIN

76.51

76.59 76.61 76.62

LP

SO2

SO3

SO4

SO5

SO6

SO7

SO8

SO9

G
74.44

FH

G
74.96

G

G
75.62

G
76.37

G
76.39

G
75.62

G
75.01

G

SILL82.08

SILL80.22

SILL80.22

(78.03)(77.99)(77.99)

(78.25)

(78.21)

SILL81.37

SILL81.37

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G
76.17

G
73.95

KITCHEN

EXTRACT

BOUNDARY TREE LINE TO BE PRUNED BACK. NO TREES TO BE REMOVED.
REFER TO ARBORICULTURAL REPORT FOR RPA'S

RETAINING STRUCTURE FOR BANKED SITE

CYCLE

PARK

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.0 G1.5

G2.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.6

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G2.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.2

G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2
G1.2

G1.2

G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0

MG

MG

G2.5

1:500

0 5 10 15 20 25m

Rev. Description Date
P1 Additional Tree to be Removed 14.05.25
P2 Client Comments Amendments 27.05.25
P3 Client Details Change 28.05.25
P4 Red Line Boundary Alterations 30.06.25
P5 Additional Parking Added 05.09.25
P6 Planning Alterations - Pavement & Refuse Enclosure 16.09.25
P7 Planning Alterations - Existing Topographical Survey Added 27.10.25
P8 Planning Alterations - External Works 12.11.25
P9 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation & External Works 17.11.25
P10 Landscaping Alterations & Existing Trees 25.11.25
P11 Notation Added 25.11.25
P12 Planning Alterations - Parking Arrangement 01.12.25

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P12

 1 : 500

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-103

MPT 11/04/24-

Proposed Site Plan

13263
 1 : 500

Proposed Site Plan
S

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

P
age 50

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
385200E

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
385250E

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
385300E

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
383450N

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
383500N

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
383550N

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
383300N

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
383300N

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
383350N

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
383350N

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
383400N

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
383400N

http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
AutoCAD SHX Text_88
NORTH



EV

Brook

7

36

51

30

CS

40

47

38

Southfield

1

Dobbin

STAFF & OVERFLOW PARKING

WOODLAND WALK
LANDSCAPING

FEATURE
LANDSCAPING

LANDSCAPED
GARDEN

M
AIN

EN
TR

AN
C

E

22m
 SEPAR

ATIO
N

 D
ISTAN

C
E

FR
O

M
 AD

JAC
EN

T PR
O

PER
TIES

FENCE LINE

LARGE VEHICLE

TURNING AREA

BIN

STORAGE

EXTERNAL

PLANT &

SPRINKLER

TANK

AM
BU

LAN
C

E D
R

O
P-O

FF

(TOTAL 34 CAR PARKING SPACES)

ALL R
O

O
F PITC

H
S TO

 BE 22.5°

VISITOR PARKING

C\B

C\B

C\P

CW

C\B

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

C
H

\L

C
H

\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

C\
P

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT
SITE ACCESS

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

EXISTING
HOUSING

75.30

75.13

74.8974
.86

75
.06

75
.20

75
.21

75
.27

75
.35

75
.53

75
.76

75
.92

76
.0

8

76
.1

4

76
.3

1

76
.3

3

76
.3

6

76
.4

3

76
.5

9

76
.6

0

76
.5

3

76
.6

4

76
.72

76.78

76.8276.79

76.80

76.78

76.73

76.61

76
.6

1

76.5976.73

76.62

76.49
76.49

76
.7

0

76.93

76.89

76.91

76.86

76.81

76.73

76
.7

6
76

.7
6

76
.77

76
.6

8

76
.6

2

76
.6

2
76

.5
6

76
.5

3

76
.2

4
76

.1
9

76
.1

2

76
.0

3

75
.85

75
.78

75
.56

75
.42

75
.32

75
.27

75
.09

74
.86

75.04

75.09
75.36

75.09

76.31

76.13

75.97

75.85

75.60

75.45

75.34

75.9075.97

76
.5

6

76
.4

2

76
.2

6
76

.3
0

76
.1

8

76
.0

7

75
.92

75
.77

75
.72

75
.47

75
.29

75
.2

7

75.36

75.47

75.55

75.66

75.98

76.08

76.17

76.29

75.81

75.62

75.35

75.18

75.13

G1.6

G2.8

EAVES
81.46

75.47

75.45

75.36

75.70

75.92

76.09

76.06

75.44

75.75

MG

MG
75.68

75.69
75.91

75.73

75.85

MG

MG

MG
MG

SILL80.75

75.72

MG

76.88

76.84

76.76

76.70

76.62

76.68

76.65
76.71

76.66

76.53

76.33
76.43

76.40

IC
CL76.19

IC

76.28

76
.43

TP

IC
CL76.88

76.77

76.75
76.79

76.83
76.84

76.81

76.79

76.70

PT

PT
76.96

77.01

76.98 77.03

77.02

76.95
76.88

76.68

76.57

76.51

76.33

76.25

G1.8

(78.85)

(78.73)

(78.36)

SILL80.73

RIDGE

RIDGE

85.15

84.49

EAVES

EAVES

81.97

82.61

75.72

76.05

75.98

76.19

76.24

76.34

76.47

76.53 76.67

76.79 76.84

(100.37)

(101.54)

75.71

75
.7

1

75.72

75.70

75.78

75.78

75.83

76.12

76
.4

2

76.51
76.71

76.49

76.55

76.51

76.36

76.29

76.14

75.94

75.81

75.83

75.88

75.83

75.83

75.78

75.74

75.82

75.77
75.77

75.79

75.72

75.85

75.72

75.76

75.84

75.89

76.10

76.21

76.26

76.32

76.88

76.81

76.77

76.68

76.70 76.55 76.79

76.82

76.89

76.8076.72

76.84
76.7076.84

76.82

76.70

76.76

76.85
76.76 76.83 76.73 76.81

76.85

76.87

76.85

76.89

76.94
76.93

76
.8

7

76
.7

9

76
.75

76.6176.6476.5276.55
76.58

76
.8

6

76.83
76.76

76.87

76.87

76.84

76.91

76.95

76.93

76.79

76.68

76.5776.53
76.5176.4876.52

77.07
76.90

76.72
76.77

76.78 76.86

76.90
76.83

76.8676.97
77.08

77.19
77.34

77.20
77.30

77.10

77.00

76.90
76.85

76.91

76.85

76.63
76.60

76.71

76.71

76.94

76.65

76.68

76.5276.37
76.31

76.18

76.02

75.8175.77

75.53
75.63

75.83

75.57

75.49

75.45

75.24

75.33

75.44

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

SILL81.35

EAVES
82.56

RIDGE
85.11

(90.26)

(96.96)

77.02

76.95

76.95

77.02

77.06

77.13

77.05

77.00

76.87

76.76

76.70

76.90

77.04

77.16

77.17

77.18

77.16

77.19

77.19

77.02

77.02

77.02

77.00

77.08

76.99

76.94

76.83

76.83

76.80

76.87

76.98

76.96

76.96

77.00

77.15

77.09

76.98

76.22

76.19

76.19

76.26

76.32

76.29

76.38

76.16

76.11

76.06

76.13

76.15
76.39

76.67
76.72

76.90

76.86

76.99

76.8876.81

76.80

76.75

76.80

76.79

76.77

76.46

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

77.00
PT

76.91

77.26

(79.08)

(79.38)

76.06

75.57
MG
MG

MG
MG

76.79

76.84

76
.9

0
76

.8
5

76.83
76.81

76
.88

76.76

76.71

76.7976.83

76
.89

76
.8

6

76.92

76.91

76.95

76.95

76.88
76.83 76.89

76.8976.84

76.88

76.79

76.77
76.87

76.93
76.94

76.94
76.95

76.92
77.01

77.05

77.16

77.20

77.22

77.17

77.16 76.95

76.90

76.88
76.68

76.68

76.65

76.84

76.78

76.96

76.85

77.10

77.17

77.01

76.90
76.15

76.16

76
.9

3

76
.92

76.81
76.7376.75

76.7376.8576.92

76.80

76.5476.53

76.17 76.26 76.15

76.20 76.12

75.89

75.86
75.92

75.94

76.48

76.48

76.42

76.45

76.65

76.63

76.65

76.61

76.68

76.59

76.55

76.52

76.48

76.47

76.45

76.61
76.60

76.56

76.56

76.59

76.36

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

74.11

73.96

73.99

74
.35

75.04

75
.43

75
.49

75
.45

75
.50

75
.49

75
.5

9

75
.77

75.89

75.73

75.63

75.86

75
.98

75
.9

2

75
.8

2

75
.7

2

75
.7

0

75
.8

0

75
.7

2

75
.7

7

75
.6

3

75
.5

2

75
.21

75
.16

75.16
75.08

74.75

76.07 76.15

76.1476.09

75.86

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

(77.02)

74
.14

74
.1

7

73.93

73
.95

74.37

74.45

74.74

74.99

74.9974.5274.08
74.21

74.28

74.65

74.64

74.61

74.29

74.27

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

(77.20)

(75.65)

(75.46)

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

74.38

74.34

74
.1

5

74
.1

6

74
.1

7

74
.66

74.78

74.99

75.22

75.38

75.35

75.42

75.48

75.39
75.36

75.45

75.43

75.47

75.35

75.36

75.38

75.29

75.33

75.59

75.46

75
.52

75
.57

75
.79

75
.85

75
.84

75
.84

75.88

75.79

76
.08

75
.9

8

76
.0

3

75
.9

4

75
.9

9

75
.9

9

75
.9

3
76

.1
2

SO7

SO8

SO9

SILL82.08

SILL80.22

SILL80.22

(78.03)(77.99)(77.99)

(78.25)

(78.21)

SILL81.37

SILL81.37

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G
76.17

KITCHEN

EXTRACT

BOUNDARY TREE LINE TO BE PRUNED BACK. NO TREES TO BE REMOVED.
REFER TO ARBORICULTURAL REPORT FOR RPA'S

RETAINING STRUCTURE FOR BANKED SITE

CYCLE

PARK

G1.6

G2.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

5000

18
00

15
0

5000

18
00

15
0

18
00

15
0

15
0

4050

18
00

4050

4050

50
00

1415

2300

2734

27
49

4120

27
49

Rev. Description Date
P1 First Issue 16.09.25
P2 Planning Alterations - External Works 12.11.25
P3 Client Alterations - Rear Elevation & External Works 17.11.25
P4 Landscaping Alterations 25.11.25
P5 Planning Alterations - Parking Arrangement 01.12.25

This drawing is subject to copyright and is not to be reproduced in part or whole without approval. Do
not scale this drawing - check all dimensions on site .

Project

Client

7 East Cliff, Preston, Lancashire, PR1 3JE
10 Hunters Walk, Canal Street, Chester, CH1 4EB
St Andrews Business Centre, Mold, Flintshire, CH7 1XB

T: 01772 258 356
T: 01244 402 900
T: 01352 706 246

REV.

DateDrawn by Checked by

Scale @ A1Suitability

Drawing Title

C+A JOB NO. PROJECT - ORIGINATOR - VOL. - LEVEL - TYPE - ROLE - NUMBER

P5

 1 : 200

Proposed NewBuild Care Home
Development

HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-105

MPT 11/04/24-

Proposed External Works
Site Plan

13263

Wrightcare Development Ltd.
& Deansgate M5 Ltd.

01 PROPOSED SITE PLAN KEY

1:500

0 5 10 15 20 25m

Treated Timber Palisade Fencing:

Fencing construction to generally consist of:

- Sawn tanalised (brown) treated soft wood. Timber posts min
section size 100x100mm sent into 450mm3 concrete bases.
post tops to be sloped to shed water.

- Cross rails (3 no) to be sawn tanalised (brown) treated soft
wood. min section size 50x100mm. 100x25mm pales to be
close butt boarded to full length.

- All fence fixings to be hot dipped galvanised or equal
approved.

- Gate posts to be min section size 150x150mm. Sikkens or
similar dark stain finish (3 coats ) exact shade to be
confirmed.

Refuse Enclosure to Accommodate min 4no 1280ltr EuroBins with
1400mm Clearance Between each Bin for Accessibility.

Blue Dashed Line Denotes Proposed Circa 7m Travel Distance and
Route for Operational Staff from Proposed Building to Refuse
Enclosure.

PROPOSED CYCLE STORAGE LOCATION.
REFER TO ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

PROPOSED LOCATION OF EXTERNAL
REFUSE ENCLOSURE. REFER TO

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

Green Dashed Line Denotes Proposed Circa 10m Travel Distance
and Route for Refuse Workers to Collection Point. Refer to Vehicle
Tracking for Refuse Vehicle to Enter & Exit the Site.

External Plant Enclosure to Match the Above Refuse Storage
Specification. All Sizes & Dimensions to be Confirmed.

02 EXAMPLE IMAGE 03 INDICATIVE REFUSE STORE PLAN / ELEVATIONS

05
EXAMPLE IMAGE

04
NOT TO SCALE

TYPICAL CYCLE STORAGE ELEVATIONS

Broxap Apollo Cycle Shelter to be Galvanized Powder Coated
to RAL 7016 Anthracite Grey. With 5no Harrogate Style Hooped
Cycle Stands to Accommodate 10 Bicycles in Total.

PROPOSED LOCATION OF EXTERNAL
PLANT ENCLOSURE. REFER TO

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.

P
age 51

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
385150E

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
385000E

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
385050E

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
385100E

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
385150E

http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
AutoCAD SHX Text_97
NORTH



REV A 02 / 07 / 25

UPDATES AS PER ARCHITECT'S NEW XREF/LAYOUT.

DM MB

La
nd

sc
ap

ea
rc
hi
te
ct
s

DRAWN

SCALE

1 / 250 @A0

REVISION

F

21 / 05 / 2025
DATEPROJECT

HANDFORTH CARE HOME DEVELOPMENT

SOFT LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATION
TITLE

This drawing and the works depicted there in are the copyright of TEL Landscape Architects and may not be used, copied or amended except by written permission.

Woodside, Carter's Lane, Ilkley,

FO
R

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

www.tellandscape.co.uk phone  : 01943 588071

West Yorkshire,  LS29 0DQ info@tellandscape.co.uk mobile : 07855 770428

DM

DRAWING NO

MR25-046-101

REVIEWED

MB

REVISIONS

tel

LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATION 01: tbcLANDSCAPE SPECIFICATION 02: tbc

REV B 16 / 09 / 25

MIXED NATIVE HEDGES UPDATED AS PER LOCAL PLANNING
AUTHORITY (LPA) FEEDBACK/COMMENTS.

DM TL

REV C 25 / 09 / 25

ADDITIONAL VEGETATION INTRODUCED INTO THE EXISTING
BOUNDARY BUFFER PLANTING AS REQUESTED BY THE LPA

DM MB

REV D 20 / 11 / 25

UPDATES TO BOH AS REQUESTED BY LPA.

MB TL

REV E 24 / 11 / 25

LANDSCAPE UPDATES MADE AS PER LOCAL PLANNING
AUTHORITY (LPA) COMMENTS.

DM MB

REV F 01 / 12 / 25

LANDSCAPE UPDATES MADE AS PER LOCAL PLANNING
AUTHORITY (LPA) COMMENTS.

MB TL

PLANTING NOTES:

See TEL Landscape drawing 102 for Hard Landscape Details.

See Cassidy & Ashton Architect's drawings for further details.

All landscape works to be carried out in accordance with Landscape Specification shown.

All planting implementation to be carried out in the first planting season following practical completion of individual plots and/or
completion of the site as a whole, whichever may occur first, unless an alternative phasing scheme has been approved by the Local
Authority.

All plant material to be supplied in accordance with HTA National Plant Specification and Nursery Certification Scheme.

All soft landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details, approved implementation programme and BS
4428:1989 code of practice for general landscape. The developer shall complete the approved landscaping works and confirm this in
writing to the Local Planning Authority prior to the date agreed in the implementation programme.

No retained tree/hedge/bush shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed nor any tree be pruned, topped or lopped or suffer root
severance other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority. Any approved pruning, topping or lopping shall be carried out in accordance with current British Standards and any tree
survey approved by the Local Planning Authority.

All construction work adjacent to trees to be in accordance with BS 5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and
construction recommendations. Fencing should be erected prior to the commencement of works on site and stay erected until the
completion of agreed works. No machine works to be carried out within the Root Protection Areas, including no mechanical
rotavation.

No materials should be stored under the canopy of trees during construction works and all root protection areas marked out prior to
commencement of work. Use only hand tools in existing tree root protection areas.

All associated tree works are to be carried out by competent professionals with experience in landscape and tree works. All tree
works to be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998.

No works to trees or shrubs shall be undertaken during the main birds nesting season unless a pre-commencement survey by a
suitably experienced ecologist demonstrates that no actively nesting birds would be impacted by such works.

Soil build up for the area must conform to: BS8601 2013 Subsoil & BS 3882 2015 specification Topsoil. The depth of topsoil spread
should not normally exceed 300mm. Suitable (loosened) subsoil should provide the remainder of the minimum rooting depth. The
minimum rooting depth should be normally: 450mm for grass, 600mm for shrubs and 900mm for trees.

Topsoil depth to new shrub planting areas minimum 300mm, topsoil depth to new lawns minimum 100mm and 150mm to wildflower
areas.

Ensure 1.5m diameter bark mulch circle to all trees in grass. Also incorporate onto all planting and hedges.

All planting areas to be maintained weed free and watered at appropriate / necessary periods during establishment of plants.

Following planting, incorporate onto all planting and hedges, 75mm depth ornamental grade bark mulch and/or use matting system
to hedges, for example sheep's wool, cardboard, fabric mulches like hemp.

All trees and hedges to use bio-degradable tree tubes, ties and straps, use 'Green Tech' products. Spirals and guards to protect
against mower on each tree/whip.

If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree/hedge/shrub that tree/hedge/shrub, or any replacement, is
removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective,
another tree/hedge/shrub of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the same location as soon as
reasonably possible and no later than the first available planting season, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

KEY:

SOFT LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

PROPOSED ORNAMENTAL SHRUB PLANTING:
Low maintenance, low growing shrub planting to provide all year interest, colour and structure while improving
bio-diversity and habitat creation. To include natives, perennials, ornamental grasses, herbaceous plants and
evergreens with sensory species providing smell, touch and colour experiences. Container grown, planted at 3 and
4 plants / m2. See landscape specification for species details:

PROPOSED MIXED NATIVE HEDGES:
Mixed species native hedge to improve bio-diversity and add instant structure. Comprising of feathered whips 0.45-1m
high, bare rooted. Planted in double staggered row, single species groups of 5 -10 to mixed native hedges. All plants
to have shelters and canes for rabbit protection. To include evergreen species. See specification for species details
and numbers:

PROPOSED LOW MAINTENANCE TURF:
New areas to be turfed on minimum 100mm imported topsoil following completion of ground works. Use hard
wearing, slow growing, drought tolerant, low maintenance turf, Rolawn, Medallion. Tel: 0845 604 6050. Or similar
to be approved.

PROPOSED NATIVE EHS TREE PLANTING:
Proposed Extra Heavy Standard (EHS) trees to provide autumn colour and instant structure. 14-16cm girth, rootball,
total height min 4.25m, tree pit to be 900 x 900mm x depth of root. Double timber stake for support, pit drainage as
required. See landscape specification for species details:

PROPOSED FEATURE SHRUBS AND TOPIARY:
Proposed feature shrubs and topiary to be add specific interest to building entrances and strengthen boundaries. To
include evergreen species. Container grown. See landscape specification for species details:

PROPOSED NATIVE STANDARD (SELECTED) TREES:
Native Standard (Selected) Trees to improve bio-diversity, structure and interest through fruit, blossom and autumn
colour. Rootball 3 - 3.5m height, 1.75-2m clear stem and multi stem, tree pit to be 700 x 700mm x depth of root.
Double timber stake for support, pit drainage as required. See specification for species details:

PROPOSED FEATURE TREES:
Proposed feature trees to provide varied and specific interest to internal areas of the site. Container grown, tree pit to
be 900 x 900mm x depth of root. Double timber stake for support, pit drainage as required. See landscape
specification for species details:

N

EXISTING TREES AND VEGETATION:
Existing trees and vegetation. All construction work adjacent to trees to be in accordance with BS 5837:2012 Trees in
relation to design, demolition and construction recommendations. Important: No construction works or machinery
storage within this area or within tree root protection areas and/or canopy. Fencing should be erected prior to the
commencement of works on site and stay erected until the completion of agreed works.

PROPOSED WOODLAND EDGE GRASS AND WILDFLOWER SEED MIX:
Low maintenance woodland edge grass and wildflower seed mix to support existing retained grasslands and
woodland at the boundaries, create semi-natural public open spaces and improve habitat creation. Ideal for
country parks, nature reserves and public open spaces to soften edges and assist in integrating the proposals
into the wider landscape.

EXISTING TREES AND VEGETATION TO BE REMOVED:
Existing trees and vegetation to be removed. All construction work adjacent to trees to be in accordance with BS
5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction recommendations. See E3P Arboricultural Impact
Assessment report for further details.

PROPOSED MIXED NATIVE SCRUB PLANTING:
Mix native scrub planting to strenthen the boundaries and create a dense buffer while improving bio-diversity and
habitat creation. Comprising of feathered whips 0.45-1m high, bare rooted, includes evergreens planted at 3/m2.
All whips to have shelters and canes for rabbit protection. See specification for species details:

PROPOSED SINGLE SPECIES HEDGES:
Single species hedge to soften edges, delineate spaces and add instant structure to the site and the boundaries with
particular winter interest. Container grown plants installed in linear meters. Until hedge becomes established use 'LBS
Horticultural Supplies' straining wire, securing clips and bamboo canes to each plant for additional support and restrict
access through maturing / establishing hedge as required. See specification for species details:

EV

2

De
f

22

Brook

7

36

Ward Bdy
51

6

30

CS

40

47

5

38

Southfield

As
h 

G
ro

ve

Close

1

Dobbin

SAGARS ROAD

STAFF & OVERFLOW PARKING
FEATURE

LANDSCAPING

LANDSCAPED
GARDEN

M
AIN

EN
TR

AN
C

E

FENCE LINE

LARGE VEHICLE

TURNING AREA

BIN

STORAGE

EXTERNAL

PLANT &

SPRINKLER

TANK

AM
BU

LAN
C

E D
R

O
P-O

FF

G1.3

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G2.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

(TOTAL 34 CAR PARKING SPACES)

ALL R
O

O
F PITC

H
S TO

 BE 22.5°

I\R

P\R

P\R

C\B

BW

I\R

I\R

P\R

P\R

C\
B

C\B

P\
R

C\B

C\B

C\P

C\B

C\P

CW

C\B

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

C
H

\L

C
H

\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

C\
P

C\P

C\P

P\R

C\P

TOP OF HEDGE

BW

SW
SW

CANOPY HEIGHT
SITE ACCESS

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

GST

IC

IC

MKR
BT

BT

MKR

BT

EAVES

RIDGE

LP

TP

G1.3

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

RIDGE

EAVES

G1.6

G2.8

SAP

SAP
SAP

SAPSAP
SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

RIDGE

EAVES

EAVES

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

IC

IC

TP

IC

PT

PT

G1.8

RIDGE

RIDGE

EAVES

EAVES

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

EAVES

RIDGE

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

PT

MG
MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

SO4

SO5

SO6

SO7

SO9

G

G

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G

G

KITCHEN

EXTRACT

RETAINING STRUCTURE FOR BANKED SITE

BOUNDARY TREE LINE TO BE PRUNED BACK
ALLOWING FOR PROPOSED  DEVELOPMENT.

NO TREES TO BE REMOVED.

WOODLAND WALK
LANDSCAPING

VISITOR PARKING

CYCLE

PARK

SITE BO
UNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

PROPOSED CARE HOME BUILDING

PROPOSED CARE HOME BUILDING

Proposed woodland native whip planting to existing
boundary buffer planting to enhance the existing and
future vegetation matrix.

Proposed woodland native tree species to be
introduced into the existing boundary buffer planting
to enhance the existing and future vegetation matrix.

Proposed native tree
planting

Proposed informal native hedge whip
planting to support and enhance the
existing buffer boundary planting.

Proposed native whip and
scrub planting to support the
woodland boundary and
create a vegetated matrix for
future growth and
development.

1200

12
00

1600

1200

12
00

Path width and materials selected to suit wheelchair
and disabled access.

1600

1600

1600

1600
1600

IMPORTANT: Proposed hedge to be
an instant evergreen hedge to
provide instant screening along
northern patios.

0m 5m 10m

SCALE

15m 20m

N

P
age 52

http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com


LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATION.

REV A 02 / 07 / 25

UPDATES AS PER ARCHITECT'S NEW XREF/LAYOUT.

DM MB

La
nd

sc
ap

ea
rc
hi
te
ct
s

DRAWN

SCALE

1 / 250 @A0

REVISION

E

21 / 05 / 2025
DATEPROJECT

HANDFORTH CARE HOME DEVELOPMENT

HARD LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATION
TITLE

This drawing and the works depicted there in are the copyright of TEL Landscape Architects and may not be used, copied or amended except by written permission.

Woodside, Carter's Lane, Ilkley,

FO
R

 P
LA

N
N

IN
G

www.tellandscape.co.uk phone  : 01943 588071

West Yorkshire,  LS29 0DQ info@tellandscape.co.uk mobile : 07855 770428

DM

DRAWING NO

REVIEWED

MB

REVISIONS

telMR25-046-102

REV B 25 / 09 / 25

ADDITIONAL VEGETATION INTRODUCED INTO THE EXISTING
BOUNDARY BUFFER PLANTING AS REQUESTED BY THE LPA

DM MB

REV C 20 / 11 / 25

UPDATES TO BOH AS REQUESTED BY LPA.

MB TL

REV D 24 / 11 / 25

LANDSCAPE UPDATES MADE AS PER LOCAL PLANNING
AUTHORITY (LPA) COMMENTS.

DM MB

REV E 01 / 12 / 25

LANDSCAPE UPDATES MADE AS PER LOCAL PLANNING
AUTHORITY (LPA) COMMENTS.

MB TL

DRAWING NOTES:

See TEL Landscape drawing 101 for Soft Landscape Details.

See Cassidy & Ashton Architect's drawings for further details.

Drawing information based on original drawings and topographical survey. All dimensions, measurements and levels to be confirmed on
site prior to works.

All hard materials, edges and joints to include appropriate kerbs as required.

All products and material to be installed as per engineers and manufacturers specifications.

All construction work adjacent to trees to be in accordance with BS 5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction
recommendations. Fencing should be erected prior to the commencement of works on site and stay erected until the completion of agreed
works.

No machine works to be carried out within the Root Protection Areas, including no mechanical rotavation.

Use only hand tools in existing tree root protection areas.

PROPOSED BUILDINGS:
Proposed buildings. See DWA Architects drawings for details.

KEY:

HARD LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

PROPOSED PUBLIC PATIOS:
Proposed public patios to be granite finish concrete paving. Use 300 x 200 x 80mm thick paving in ' Silver colour' or
similar to be approved. All material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's and manufactures details, to
include joints between flags. All levels and falls to be laid appropriately to avoid puddleing.

PROPOSED PRIVATE PATIOS:
Proposed private patios to be granite finish concrete paving. Use 600 x 400 x 40mm thick paving in 'Buff colour' or
similar to be approved. All material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's and manufactures details, to
include joints between flags. All levels and falls to be laid appropriately to avoid puddleing.

PROPOSED GREENHOUSE/POTTING SHED:
Proposed Greenhouse/Potting shed to be installed to growing area for the communal use. Product to be constructed
as per engineers and manufactures specification.

PROPOSED PUBLIC PATHWAYS:
Proposed public pathways to be textured concrete block paving. Use 300 x 200 x 80mm thick paving in 'Alto Silver
colour-textured', laid stretcher coursed, or similar to be approved.  All material build ups and laying specifications to
engineer's and manufactures details, to include joints between blocks. All levels and falls to be laid appropriately to
avoid puddleing.

PROPOSED BOUND GRAVEL PATH:
Proposed bound gravel to entrance path and informal pathways. Use Bound Gravel - Oyster Pearl colour or similar to
be approved. Product to be installed on suitable sub-base materials with block paving edge. All material build ups and
laying specifications to engineer's and manufactures details. All levels and falls to be laid appropriately to avoid
puddleing.

PROPOSED RAISED PLANTERS TO PRIVATE PATIOS:
Proposed raised planters to private patio, material/product to be confirmed with client and design team. All material
build ups and laying specifications to engineer's and manufactures details. Some planters to be 'open bottom' to
facilitate water permeation into drainage network, see drainage details for further information.

PROPOSED STAINLESS STEEL SPHERE WATER FEATURE:
Proposed stainless steel sphere water feature installed to communal area. Product to be approved. Includes
associated electrics and ducting as required. Product and works to engineers and manufactures specification.

PROPOSED TIMBER SEATING TO COMMUNAL AREAS:
Proposed timber seating to communal areas. Install products root fixed into concrete base / foundation. Install all
produces as per manufacturers and engineers specification. Locations, product and quantities shown as indicative and
to be approved by Client and Design Team.

PROPOSED CONCRETE TO SERVICE AREA:
Proposed concrete surface to service area. Install on suitable sub-base materials with kerb edges as required. All
material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's and manufactures details. All levels and falls to be laid
appropriately to avoid puddleing.

PROPOSED 1.8M HOOP TOP RAILINGS:
Proposed hoop top railings to create boundary and divide communal areas. Includes metal entrance archway from
visitor parking. To be 1.8m high anti-trap bow top fence railings with matching gates as required. Posts installed in
concrete base / foundation. Install all produces as per manufacturers and engineers specification.

PROPOSED WOODLAND WALK PATHWAY:
Proposed bound gravel to woodland walk path. Use Bound Gravel -Raisby gold and to be wheelchair safe and
disabled access for all year use or similar to be approved. Product to be installed on suitable sub-base materials. All
material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's and manufactures details. All levels and falls to be laid
appropriately to avoid puddleing.

PROPOSED BLOCK PAVING TO CAR PARK:
Proposed concrete block paving to car park bays. Use 200mm x 100mm x 80mm thick block paving in 'Buff colour',
laid herringbone arrangement, or similar to be approved. All material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's
and manufactures details. All levels and falls to be laid appropriately to avoid puddleing.

PROPOSED ASPHALT TO CAR PARK, ISLES AND FOOTPATHS:
To all car parking areas including aisles and parking bays use tarmac surface with coloured chippings within (as
requested by local planning authority/officer), to demarcate areas, bays and direction use with white/yellow lining to
delineate areas and zones. Construction method also includes Marshalls British Standard bullnose kerb, drop kerb
and flush kerb as required. All levels and falls to be laid to appropriate building regulations and to avoid puddleing. All
material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's details. Use concrete kerbs where appropriate and where
materials join.

PROPOSED TIMBER PLANTERS TO GROWING AREA:
Proposed timber planters to growing area. All material build ups and laying specifications to engineer's and
manufactures details.

PROPOSED WOODEN PERGOLA:
Proposed wooden pergola to communal area. includes matching material posts root fixed in concrete foundations and
associated joining fixtures. Construction specifications to engineer's and manufactures details.

PROPOSED 0.9M BALL TOP METAL RAILINGS:
Proposed 0.9m high ball top metal railings with associated gates, colour Black to delineate private patio spaces. Install
in concrete base / foundation. Install all produces as per manufacturers and engineers specification.

EV

2

De
f

22

Brook

7

2

Ash Grove

36

Ward Bdy
51

6

30

CS

40

47

5

38

Southfield

As
h 

G
ro

ve

Close

1

Dobbin

SAGARS ROAD

STAFF & OVERFLOW PARKING
FEATURE

LANDSCAPING

LANDSCAPED
GARDEN

M
AIN

EN
TR

AN
C

E

FENCE LINE

LARGE VEHICLE

TURNING AREA

BIN

STORAGE

EXTERNAL

PLANT &

SPRINKLER

TANK

AM
BU

LAN
C

E D
R

O
P-O

FF

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G2.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0 MG
MG

MG
MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

(TOTAL 34 CAR PARKING SPACES)

ALL R
O

O
F PITC

H
S TO

 BE 22.5°

I\R

P\R

P\R

C\B

P\R

BW

I\R

I\R

C\B

P\R

P\R

P\R

P\R

C\
B

C\B

P\
R

C\B

C\B

C\P

C\B

C\P

CW

C\B

C
\B

C
\B

C
\B

P\W

P\W

C
H

\L

C
H

\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

CH\L

C\
P

C\P

C\P

P\R

C\P

TOP OF HEDGE

BW

SW
SW

CANOPY HEIGHT
SITE ACCESS

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

CANOPY HEIGHT

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

NO COVER

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

EXISTING
HOUSING

GST

IC

IC

MKR
BT

BT

MKR

BT
RS

EAVES

RIDGE

LP

TP

MG

G1.3

G1.5

G1.5

MG

G1.5

G1.0

MGMG

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MGG1.0

G1.0

RIDGE

EAVES

G1.6

G2.8

SAP

SAP
SAP

SAPSAP
SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

SAP

RIDGE

EAVES

EAVES

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

IC

IC

TP

IC

PT

PT

G1.8

RIDGE

RIDGE

EAVES

EAVES

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

EAVES

RIDGE

MG

G1.0

MG

G1.0

G1.0G1.0
G1.0G1.0

G1.0
G1.0

G1.0

PT

MG
MG

MG
MG

MG

MG

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G1.8

G1.8

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.8

G1.0

MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0

G1.5

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG

MG
MG

G1.0G2.0

G2.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G2.0

G2.0 G2.0

G2.0

G1.8
G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.8

G1.5

G1.5

G1.5

G1.0

G2.4

G2.0

G2.0

G2.0
G2.0

G1.6

G1.6

G1.4

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.0

G1.5

G1.5

SO4

SO5

SO6

SO7

SO9

G

G

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

OT

G

G

KITCHEN

EXTRACT

RETAINING STRUCTURE FOR BANKED SITE

BOUNDARY TREE LINE TO BE PRUNED BACK
ALLOWING FOR PROPOSED  DEVELOPMENT.

NO TREES TO BE REMOVED.

WOODLAND WALK
LANDSCAPING

VISITOR PARKING

CYCLE

PARK

SITE BO
UNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

SITE BOUNDARY

PROPOSED CARE HOME BUILDING

PROPOSED CARE HOME BUILDING

A

A'

B'B

C'

C

D

D'

E' E

1200

12
00

1600

1200

12
00

1600

1600

1600

1600
1600

0m 5m 10m

SCALE

15m 20m

N

P
age 53

http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com
http://www.Architecture4design.com


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application No: 25/3610/OUT 

Application Type: Outline Planning 

Location: Land At Pigginshaw, Altrincham Road, SK9 5NW 

Proposal: Outline application for the phased development of up to 4 residential 
self-build, custom-build or open market dwellings, all matters 
reserved apart from primary access point and associated 
infrastructure.   
 

Applicant: Mr Richard Sidi, Planetree Properties Ltd and Bentham 
Grandchildren Deed of Variation Trust 

Expiry Date: 16-January 2026 

 

 

Summary 
 
This application seeks outline planning permission for the phased development of up to 4 
residential dwellings, the applicant states that these may be self-build, custom-build or 
open market dwellings and the development would be phased. All matters are reserved 
apart from access. 
 
The application site comprises of a flat area of land that is approximately 0.32 hectares 
(0.8 acres) that historically accommodated a horticultural nursery with associated buildings, 
car parking and infrastructure. 
 
The proposal would involve development of grey belt land, which accords with paragraph 
155 of the NPPF, and is not inappropriate development in Green Belt.  Based on illustrative 
plans, the scale and layout would reflect existing dwellings in the immediate area.   
 
Subject to the consideration the full design details provided at the reserved matters, the 
proposal would not cause significant harm to the character of the area, local landscape or 
the amenity of nearby occupiers.  
 
Matters in relation to trees, ecology, detailed drainage design could also be secured by 
condition and addressed in detail at the reserved matters stage. 
 
Summary recommendation 
 
Approve subject to following conditions 

 

1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
1.1. The application relates to a departure from the development plan which the Head of Planning 

is minded to approve.  Under the terms of the Constitution, the application is required to be 
determined by the Northern Planning Committee. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 

 
2.1. The application site comprises of a flat area of land that is approximately 0.32 hectares (0.8 

acres) that historically accommodated a horticultural nursery with associated buildings, car 
parking and infrastructure. 
 

Page 55 Agenda Item 6



2.2. The site is a roughly triangular area of land that now has the appearance of a vegetated field. 
The land is surrounded by a mature belt of trees on the northwestern and eastern sides, and 
the site sits between Altrincham Road and Kings Road. 

 
2.3. The site lies at the end of Pigginshaw that is a shared surface private road accessed from the 

A538 Altrincham Road, the main road linking Wilmslow to South Manchester and Manchester 
Airport. 

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 
3.1. This application seeks outline planning permission for the phased development of up to 4 

residential dwellings, the applicant states that these may be self-build, custom-build or open 
market dwellings. All matters are reserved apart from access. 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

13/1700M - Outline planning application for the erection of 7 detached dwellings, refused 20th 
June 2013.  The subsequent appeal (APP/R0660/A/13/2206198) was dismissed on 27th 
November 2014.  

 
5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

 
5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 

March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications and 
the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be taken into 
account for the purposes of decision making. 
 

6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 
 

6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 
planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) was 
adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was adopted 
in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this application are set 
out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where applicable to the application 
site. 

 
6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS)  

 

MP 1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

PG 1: Overall Development Strategy 

PG 2: Settlement Hierarchy 

PG 3: Green Belt 

PG 6: Open countryside 

PG 7: Spatial Distribution of Development 

SD 1: Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 

SD 2: Sustainable Development Principles 

SC 4: Residential Mix 

SE 1: Design 

SE 2: Efficient Use of Land 

SE 3: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

SE 4: The Landscape 

Page 56



SE 5: Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

SE 6: Green Infrastructure 

SE 7: This Historic Environment 

SE 9: Energy Efficient Development 

SE 12: Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability 

SE 13: Flood Risk Management 

CO 1: Sustainable Travel and Transport 

Appendix C - Parking Standards 

 

6.3. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Site Allocations and Development Plan Policies 
Document (SADPD) 
 
PG 9: Settlement Boundaries  
GEN 1: Design principles 
GEN 5: Aerodrome safeguarding 
ENV 1: Ecological network 
ENV 2: Ecological implementation 
ENV 3: Landscape character 
ENV 5: Landscaping 
ENV 6: Trees, hedgerows and woodland implementation 
ENV 7: Climate Change 
ENV 12: Air quality 
ENV 14: Light pollution 
ENV 16: Surface water management and flood risk 
ENV 17: Protecting water resources. 
HOU 1: Housing mix 
HOU 3: Self and custom build dwellings 
HOU 4: Houses in multiple occupation 
HOU 8: Space, accessibility and wheelchair housing standards 
HOU 12: Amenity 
HOU 13: Residential Standards 
HOU 14: Housing density 
HOU 15: Housing delivery 
HOU 16: Small and medium-sized sites 
INF 3: Highways safety and access 
INF 9: Utilities 
REC 5: Community facilities 

 
6.4. Neighbourhood Plan 

 
Policies of the Wilmslow Neighbourhood Plan relevant to the consideration of this 
application are: 
 
NE1: Countryside around the Town 
A1: Countryside Stewardship 
NE2: River Valley Landscapes 
NE3: Green Links 
NE4: Countryside Access 
NE5: Biodiversity Conservation 
NE6: Development in Gardens 
TA1: Residential Parking Standards 
H1: Approach to Housing Delivery 
H2: Residential Design 
H3: Housing Mix  
 

Page 57



Wilmslow’s Countryside: A Landscape Character Assessment is also of relevance. 
 

7. Relevant supplementary planning documents or guidance 
 

7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the Development Plan 
but may be a material consideration in decision making. The following documents are 
considered relevant to this application: 
 

• Cheshire East Design Guide 
 

8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 
 

Highways: No objection.  
 
Environmental Protection: No objection, various conditions and informatives recommended 
in relation to noise, air quality, emissions and contaminated land. 

 

Lead Local Flood Authority: No objection, condition recommended submission and 
approval of a detailed sustainable surface water management scheme. 
 
United Utilities: No objection, informatives recommended in relation to United Utilities assets, 
sustainable drainage systems and efficient water usage.  

 

Manchester Airport: No objection 
 
Wilmslow Town Council: Wilmslow Town Council have recommended refusal on the 
grounds of being out of character with the area and inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt without exceptional circumstances. 

 
9. REPRESENTATIONS 

 
9.1. Eleven representations have been received objecting to this application. The points made are 

summarised as follows: 

• Planning permission for residential development on this same site was refused in 2013 
and subsequently dismissed on appeal. 

• Inappropriate development in the Green Belt, and does not constitute an exception to 
Green Belt Policy 

• Very special circumstances have not been demonstrated to outweigh the harm that 
would be caused to the Green Belt 

• Not Grey Belt land 

• Proposal would erode the Green Belt and cause urban sprawl. 

• In conflict with the national planning policy framework, and policies of the Cheshire East 
Local Plan and the Wilmslow Neighbourhood Plan. 

• Contrary to the paragraph 143 of NPPF and Cheshire East Local Plan policies PG3 
(Green Belt) and SD1–SD2 (Sustainable Development). 

• Harm to the openness of the countryside  

• Encroaches into protected green space. 

• Need to keep a gap between Wilmslow, the airport and Greater Manchester.  

• Impact on character of the area 

• Harm to the Character and Openness of the Area 

• Impact on landscape, previous appeal dismissed as site was in Area of Special County 
Value 

• Loss of Privacy  

• Increased Noise 

Page 58



• Impact on the local wildlife bats, foxes and birds in the area  

• Would make no meaningful difference to the local housing land supply. 

• Environmental impact on trees, wildlife, and drainage 

• Highway safety concerns, in that the creation of a new access to serve four family 
homes will increase traffic generation and create a new conflict point on the local road 
network, visibility concerns, raising concerns for highway and pedestrian safety. 

• The extra number of vehicles entering and exiting the development both during and 
after the construction would cause major disruption to the traffic flow on the A538 
Altrincham Road 

• Impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring properties. 

• Ground Conditions and Drainage Concerns 

• Approving this application would set a harmful precedent for further development on 
protected land 

• The entrance and exit road to the properties is too narrow the problems and disruption 
caused to Pownall Court during the construction 

• Overlooking and loss to privacy to neighbouring properties 

• Would appear overbearing from neighbouring properties 

• Impact on outlook and loss of view from rear of properties on Kings Road 
 

10. OFFICER APPRAISAL  
 

Principle of the development  
 

10.1. The application site is in the Green Belt.  Paragraph 142 of the Framework attaches great 
importance to Green Belts. It states the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open and identifies the essential characteristics of 
Green Belts are their openness and their permanence. 
 

10.2. CELPS Policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2010-2030 (July 2017) supports 
the fundamental aim of keeping land permanently open and restricts inappropriate 
development which is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved 
except where very special circumstances exist. Policy PG3 reflects the provisions of 
paragraph 153 of the Framework which resists inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 

 

10.3. Paragraph 154 of the NPPF lists certain forms of development which are not regarded as 
inappropriate. The CELPS Policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2010-2030 
(July 2017) replicates the Framework approach to development within the Green Belt, listing 
the same exceptions to inappropriate development.  

 

10.4. In addition, paragraph 155 of the Framework identifies further circumstances where 
development is not inappropriate in the Green Belt. Paragraph 155 states the development of 
homes should not be regarded as inappropriate where (a) the development would utilise grey 
belt land and would not fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the 
remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan; (b) there is a demonstrable unmet need for 
the type of development proposed; (c) the development would be in a sustainable location, 
with particular reference to paragraphs 110 and 115 of the Framework; and (d) where 
applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements set out in 
Framework paragraphs 156-157. 

 

10.5. The applicant has submitted their application on the basis that they consider the site to be 
grey belt under paragraph 155, and the proposal are consistent with the above. These matters 
are addressed below. 

 
 

Page 59



Identifying Grey Belt 
 

10.6. The NPPF defines grey belt as: 
“For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined as land in the 
Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that, in either case, 
does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ 
excludes land where the application of the policies relating to the areas or assets in footnote 
7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting 
development”. 

 
10.7. The site is not previously developed land and is considered as ‘any other land’.  The 

remaining purposes (a), (b) and (d) listed in paragraph 143 are: 
 
(a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;  
(b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;  
(d)to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns 

 
10.8. The determination on whether the site should be classed as ‘grey belt’ is initially a question 

about whether the site does not strongly contribute to either purpose (a), (b) or (d) of the Green 
Belt. The Cheshire East Green Belt Land Assessment Update 2015 (CEGBLA) is relevant to 
these considerations. The application site forms part of land identified in the CEGBLA as 
‘WM43’, the summary of its contribution to the Green Belt was summarised as follows: 
 
The parcel has a limited contribution to the Green Belt. Approximately one third of the parcel 
is developed and therefore it has a limited degree of openness and a limited contribution in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The parcel has no contribution to 
preventing merging, or preserving the historic setting of Wilmslow. The parcel has limited 
contribution to preventing urban sprawl and to assisting urban regeneration. 

 
10.9. Each of purposes a, b and d are addressed in turn below. 

 
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 

 
10.10. Paragraph 143 b) specifically relates to the unrestricted sprawl of towns and cities, 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG), expressly states that villages are not large built-
up areas.   
 

10.11. The site is near to a large built-up area of Wilmslow, there would be countryside to 
the north, and the development would result in a modest encroachment into an area otherwise 
open, however the site is contained to the west by Altrincham Road, and by King’s Road to 
the east, either side by existing residential development and would not result in an 
incongruous feature of development. 

 

10.12. The housing on both Altrincham Road and Kings Road extend further north, the 
Controlling Parameter Plan and tree reports ensure the retention of the mature tree 
boundaries to the north. 

 

10.13. With regards to purposes a) the CEGBLA described is contribution as: 
 
Contribution: The parcel is made up of strong boundaries protecting the area from further 
sprawl and there is already a large amount of residential development situated within the 
parcel so it is well connected and is also surrounded by high levels of further built 
development. There are green fields around the northeast of the parcel but thick woodland 
creates a moderate boundary in this location. The parcel could protect from sprawl but as 
existing development is already within the parcel then it would not impact the area greatly. 

Page 60



 
11.19. Consequently, it does not perform strongly in terms of preventing the unrestricted 
sprawl of large urban areas for the purposes of paragraph 143(a). 
 
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; and 

 
10.14. NPPG states that paragraph 143 b) relates to the merging of towns, and not villages.  

The application site is located adjacent to the settlement boundary of Wilmslow which is a 
town, however the nearest town is a substantial distance away.  
 

10.15. With regards to purposes b) the CEGBLA described is contribution as: 
 

No Contribution: Does not have a role in preventing neighbouring towns merging. 
 

10.16. Consequently, it does not form part of a gap between towns, would not cause 
neighbouring towns to merge, therefore its contribution to purposes of paragraph 143(b) is 
weak. 
 
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; 

 
10.17. The proposals would not affect the setting and special character of historic towns. 

Whilst Wilmslow is an historic town, the site is well separated from the town centre, and its 
historic features. 
   

10.18. With regards to purposes c) the CEGBLA described is contribution as: 
 

No contribution: Wilmslow is a historic town with a number of conservation areas. The  
conservation areas are located within the 250m buffer on the western side of Wilmslow.  
However, the parcel makes no contribution to this purpose as there are no conservation areas 
close by. 
 
 

10.19. Therefore, the proposal does not strongly contribute to any of purposes, and satisfies 
criterion (a), (b) and (d) of paragraph 143, insofar as they relate to the definition of grey belt 
land.  

 
Identifying Grey Belt – Footnote 7 
 

10.20. Paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the policies relating 
to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason for 
refusing or restricting development.’ 
 

10.21. Footnote 7 states that: 
 

The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in development plans) 
relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 194) and/or designated as Sites 
of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, a National 
Landscape, a National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; 
irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of 
archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); and areas at risk of flooding or coastal 
change. 

 

10.22. In terms of the areas or assets listed in footnote 7, none of these would provide a 
strong reason for refusing or restricting development in this case. 
 

Page 61



 
Identifying Grey Belt – Conclusions 

 
10.23. Having regard to the above, the application proposals are considered to meet this key 

tests as to whether a site represents Grey Belt in that the site is not considered to ‘strongly’ 
contribute to either purposes a, b or d, and the areas and assets in footnote 7 do not provide 
a strong reason for refusing or restricting development. 
 

10.24. Therefore, the land is considered to be Grey Belt.  
 
Grey belt and fundamentally undermine purposes of Green Belt (155a) 

 
10.25. With regards to overall purposes of the Green Belt (a, b, c, d and e - taken together) 

the CEGBLA described the contribution as: 
 
The parcel has a limited contribution to the Green Belt. Approximately one third of the parcel 
is developed and therefore it has a limited degree of openness and a limited contribution in 
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. The parcel has no contribution to  
preventing merging, or preserving the historic setting of Wilmslow. The parcel has limited 
contribution to preventing urban sprawl and to assisting urban regeneration. 

 
10.26. Taking all the above matters into account, and given the limited scale of the application 

site, it is considered that the proposals would utilise grey belt land and would not 
fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across 
the area of the plan. 
 
Unmet Need (155b) 
 

10.27. National planning policy requires councils to identify a supply of deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing. The Housing Monitoring Update 
(HMU) reviews the housing delivery and supply in the borough each year, and includes 
information on housing completions, commitments, housing requirement, five-year supply 
calculation (including shortfall), relevant buffer and the number of years of supply. 
 

10.28. The latest HMU 2023/24 provides this information at the base date of 31 March 2024, 
concluding that there is a 3.8-year supply of deliverable housing sites.  Cheshire East is now, 
therefore, not able to demonstrate a 5-year supply of deliverable housing sites. 

 

10.29. Consequently, for the purposes of criterion (b) of Framework paragraph 155, there is 
a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed. 
 
Sustainable location (155c) 

 
10.30. The site is in close proximity to a bus stop on Altrincham Road just to the south of the 

junction with Pigginshaw, with regular services to Knutsford and Altrincham, also there is 
footway with street lighting along Altrincham Road into the centre of Wilmslow approximately 
2km away where there is a variety of shops and services, and the train station proving links 
to Manchester.  The Bollin Valley Cycle Trail also runs along Altrincham Road. Consequently, 
on balance the site is considered to be in a sustainable location, and consistent with the aims 
and objective of SD2 and the NPPF in this regard. 

 
Golden Rules (155d) 
 

Page 62



10.31. The golden rules apply to major development involving the provision of housing.  In 
this instance the application is for up to 4 dwellings and the site area is below 0.5 hectares, it 
constitutes minor development and the Golden Rules do not apply.  
 
Green Belt Conclusion 

 
10.32. The proposed development would utilise Grey Belt land, is not inappropriate 

development in the Green Belt and complies with paragraph 155 of the NPPF.  
 

Design  
 

10.33. Policy SD 2 of the CELPS states that all development will be expected to contribute 
positively an area's character and identity, creating or reinforcing local distinctiveness. Policy 
SE 1 of the CELPS details that development proposals should make a positive contribution to 
their surroundings in terms of a number of criteria. This includes ensuring design solutions 
achieve a sense of place by protecting and enhancing the quality, distinctiveness and 
character of settlements. SADPD policy GEN 1 expands on this, expecting all development 
proposals to contribute positively to the borough’s quality of place and local identity through 
appropriate character, appearance and form.  These matters are also reflected in Policy H2 of 
the neighbourhood plan.  

 
10.34. With regards to siting and layout, the submitted illustrative site plans show that the 

dwellings would be located at the end of an existing private road and would not be particularly 
visible from public vantage points along Altrincham Road or King’s Road.  An existing 
woodland screens the site from the Jim Evison Playing Ground to the north.  
 

10.35. Furthermore, the illustrative plans show the retention of a band of trees along the 
northwestern boundary, and the retention of a buffer adjacent to Pigginshaw Brook to the rear 
of properties along King’s Road. 

 

10.36. The illustrative layout and parameters plans show the footprints of the dwellings 
would be similar in area to Pigginshaw Barn and Pigginshaw Cottage, and the maximum 
height would be 8m.  Based on this information the scale and design would be 
commensurate with those existing dwellings in the immediate area.  Subject to the 
consideration the full design details provided at the reserved matters, the proposal and 
would not give rise to harm the character of the area.  
 

10.37. It is therefore considered that the development can be accommodated on site 
without impacting on the wider character of the area or the prevailing landscape. The 
proposal would therefore be compliant with Policies SD 1 and SE 1 of the CELPS, GEN 1 of 
the SADPD, and H2 of the neighbourhood plan.  
 
Amenity  

 
10.38. Policies HOU 12 and HOU 13 of the SADPD collectively seek to ensure development 

proposals do not cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of adjoining or nearby occupiers 
of residential properties, sensitive uses, or future occupiers of the proposed development 
having regard to, loss of privacy, loss of sunlight and daylight, the overbearing and dominating 
effect of new buildings, environmental disturbance or pollution, traffic generation, access and 
parking.  
 

10.39. Policy HOU13 provides standards for housing allow light and privacy between 
buildings, with reference to Table 8.2 in the SADPD. Policy SE1 of the CELPS states that 
development should ensure an appropriate level of privacy for new and existing residential 
properties. 

Page 63



 
10.40. There have been concerns raised from nearby occupiers of residential properties in 

relation to overlooking, loss of privacy, and overbearing appearance.  This application has 
been submitted in outline, however the applicant has provided an illustrative layout drawing 
which indicates that the proposed 4 dwellings could be positioned in such a way that the 
interface distances would significantly exceed those distances contained in policy HOU 13 
and table 8.2 of the SADPD.   
 

10.41. Furthermore, the future reserved matters application will need to include detailed 
plans and elevations, and design details that have regard to the context of neighbouring 
dwellings and demonstrate compliance with the relevant design, character and residential 
amenity policies.  

 

10.42. The housing will also be expected to meet the Nationally Described Space Standards, 
to provide sufficient internal living accommodation, and provide suitable levels of external 
amenity space for new occupants.  

 

10.43. In terms of the amount of development proposed it is considered 4 no. dwellings could 
be designed and accommodated within the site without causing significant harm to the living 
conditions of neighbouring occupiers, and comply with policies GEN 1, HOU 12 and HOU 13 
of the SADPD.  

 
Noise and Air Quality 

 

10.44. Policies SE 12 of the CELPS, ENV 12, ENV 14 and ENV 15 of the SADPD set out the 
Council’s requirements for new development with regards to air quality, lighting and existing 
uses.  ENV 15 states that new development must effectively integrate with existing uses and 
existing uses must not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them because of it.  Aircraft 
noise is also material planning consideration, and any new noise sensitive development must 
meet the requirements set out in ENV13.   
 

10.45. The Environmental Protection team have been consulted, whilst they have no 
objection, they have noted that the proposal could be affected by traffic noise from Altrincham 
Road and aircraft noise from Manchester Airport. To ensure that future occupants of the 
development do not suffer a substantial loss of amenity, it is recommended that a noise impact 
assessment (NIA) is submitted at the reserved matters stage.  Should the reserved matters 
applications include Air Source Heat Pumps, these will also require an acoustic assessment 
to be submitted.  

 

10.46. A condition is also recommended for the submission and approval for the details of 
any external lighting to ensure that the lighting is designed to minimise the potential loss of 
amenity caused by light spillage onto adjoining properties.  

 

10.47. Due to the proximity of existing residential dwellings to the site, the following are 
recommended as conditions of an approval during the construction stages. This should assist 
developers in the prevention, minimisation and control of noise and dust arising from the 
construction phases of the development for the purpose of protecting the residential amenity 
of occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

 

10.48. A condition was also recommended by Environmental Protection for the provision of 
ultra-low emission boilers, however, this is not considered to be necessary or reasonable.  

 

10.49. Subject to the above conditions, the proposals comply with policies ENV 12, ENV 13, 
ENV 14 and ENV 15 of the SADPD.  

 

Page 64



 
 
 
Contaminated Land 

 

10.50. Policy SE 12 of the CELPS, seeks to ensure that sites for proposed for new sensitive 
uses are suitably investigated and any potential impacts are mitigated. The application is for 
a proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the presence of contamination.   
Residential properties are a sensitive end use and could be affected by any contamination 
present or brought onto the site.  The application area has a history of nursery use and 
therefore the land may be contaminated. No information relating to land contamination has 
been submitted in support of the application.  As such, and in accordance with paragraphs 
187, 196 and 197 of the NPPF 2024, conditions are recommended for site investigations, 
mitigation and validation. The Contaminated Land team has been consulted and has no 
objection. Subject to conditions, the proposals comply with policy SE 12.  

 
Landscape  
 

10.51. The CELPS Policy SE 4 identifies that the high quality of the built and natural 
environment is recognised as a significant characteristic of the borough and that all 
development should conserve the landscape character and quality and should where possible 
enhance and effectively manage the  historic, natural and man-made landscape features that 
contribute to local distinctiveness of both rural and urban landscapes. It also indicates that 
development will be expected to incorporate appropriate landscaping which reflects the 
character of the area through appropriate design and management. 
 

10.52. Any proposals submitted at reserved matters would need to comply with CELPS 
Policies SE4 as well as Policy SE 1 (Design), which indicates that development proposals 
should make a positive contribution to their surroundings in terms of the following: sense of 
place, managing design quality and sustainable urban, architectural and landscape design.  
Policies NE1 and NE 2 of the Neighboured plan are also of relevance. 

 

10.53. It is noted that the previous appeal was dismissed as site was in Area of Special 
County Value (ASCVs) for being within the Bollin Valley.  However, these have since been 
replaced in the Local Plan (July 2017) with Local Landscape Designations (LLDs), the 
boundaries have been revised, and the site is not within the Bollin Valley LLD area.  The latest 
version of the Bollin Valley LDD can be seen in purple area below, the red spot showing the 
location of the application site.  

 

Page 65



 
 

10.54. The outline proposals seek to retain the mature planting to the northwestern boundary 
and provide a buffer with Pigginshaw Brook to the east. The Council’s Landscape Officer has 
been consulted and has no objections.   
 

10.55. The landscape officer has noted that the application should apply a more integrated 
and multifunctional Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDs) approach to this outline stage in order 
to deliver an acceptable design from a Landscape/Design approach.  However, from a 
drainage perspective the details provided are considered to be acceptable for this outline 
application stage.  As explained below the Lead Local Flood Authority have no objection, and 
a condition is recommended that a final detailed drainage strategy is provided at the reserved 
matters stage.  
 

10.56. The proposals are considered to be consistent with policy SE 4 of the CELPS and 
NE1 and NE2 of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 
Highways 

 
10.57. Policy INF 3 (Highway Safety and Access) of the SADPD states that development 

proposals should: 
 
i. Comply with the relevant Highway Authority’s and other highway design guidance;  
ii. provide safe access to and from the site for all highway users and incorporate safe internal 
movement in the site to meet the requirements of servicing and emergency vehicles;  
iii. make sure that development traffic can be satisfactorily assimilated into the operation of 
the existing highway network so that it would not have an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or result in severe residual cumulative impacts on the road network;  
iv. incorporate measures to assist access to, from and within the site by pedestrians, cyclists 
and public transport users and meets the needs of people with disabilities; and  
v. not generate movements of heavy goods vehicles on unsuitable roads, or on roads without 
suitable access to the classified highway network. 

 
10.58. Whilst appendix C (Parking Standards) and policy TA1 of the neighbourhood plan set 

out the relevant parking standards. 
 

Page 66



10.59. The application seeks detailed permission for the means of access.  The proposal is 
to utilise Pigginshaw which is an existing private road, no alterations are proposed to the public 
highway.  
 

10.60. The road currently serves Pigginshaw Barn and Pigginshaw Cottage, the number of 
dwellings it serves would increase by up to 4 with this application. The width of the access is 
sufficient for the proposal, and a turning head is being provided at the end of Pigginshaw for 
refuse collection. The Highways Officer has been consulted and has no objections. 
 

10.61. With regards to parking, the illustrative layout plan demonstrates that sufficient off-
streetcar parking can be provided in line with the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy in 
Appendix C: Parking Standards.  And that parking can be provided so as to avoid impacting 
or protruding onto surrounding streets and pavements, in accordance with TA1 of the 
neighbourhood plan.  

 

10.62. The proposals do not raise any highway safety concerns and subject to the 
consideration of reserved matters comply with policy INF 3 of the SADPD.  

 
Flooding and Drainage  
 

10.63. Policy SE 13 of the CELPS states that new development must integrate measures for 
sustainable water management to reduce flood risk, avoid an adverse impact on water quality 
and quantity.  
 

10.64. The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 (low probability of river/tidal 
flooding) according to the Environment Agency Flood Maps. There is a small pocket of 1 in 
100 chance or 1 in 1000 chance of Surface Water Flooding along the brook to the southeast. 
 

 
 
 

Page 67



 
 

10.65. The applicant has submitted a flood risk assessment and a preliminary drainage 
strategy.  Following initial comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority, and amended 
preliminary drainage strategy was provided, which has now addressed their concerns 
satisfactory for this outline stage. 
 

10.66. Subject to a condition for the submission and approval of the final drainage strategy, 
the proposals are considered to comply with Policy SE 13 of the CELPS. 

 
Ecology 

 
10.67. Policies SE 3 of the CELPS, ENV 1 of the SADPD and policy NE5 of the 

Neighbourhood Plan collectively seek to ensure that areas of high biodiversity and 
geodiversity value will be protected and enhanced, as well as recognising the importance of 
ecological networks.  
 

10.68. The site is not covered by a statutory or non-statutory nature conservation 
designation. The proposed works are unlikely to have an impact on any statutory nature 
designated sites, including SSSI’s and Ramsar Sites. The application site falls within the CEC 
ecological network. A preliminary ecological appraisal and biodiversity net gain report has 
been submitted with the application.  
 

10.69. There is an area of priority woodland to the north of the application site, the ecologist 
has advised that the reserved matters should include an undeveloped buffer between the 
proposed dwellings and the woodland. 

 

10.70. The submitted surveys show evidence of badger activity on site in the form of foraging 
activity and an outlying sett.   The outlying sett is likely to be affected by the proposed 
development.  In order to minimise the risk of badgers being harmed during site clearance 
and construction works the appellant’s ecological consultant has recommend that the sett be 
closed under the terms of a Natural England license.  The Council’s ecologist has advised 
advise that this approach is acceptable in the event that consent was granted. 

 

10.71. The precise impacts of the proposed development would depend upon both the layout 
proposed, a condition is therefore recommended requiring the reserved matters application to 
be supported by an updated badger survey, impact assessment and mitigation strategy.   

 
10.72. The submitted BNG metric indicates that the proposed development would result in a 

net loss of -66.66% in respect of area-based habitats and fail to deliver a net gain in respect 

Page 68



of hedgerows.  Additional off site habitat creation measures would therefore be required to 
achieve the required net gain. The Council’s ecologist advises that in this instance this 
approach is in accordance with the Biodiversity Gain Hierarchy. The delivery of offsite habitat 
creation is a post decision matter secured by a statutory condition, and any habitat provided 
onsite can also be secured by way of condition.  

 
10.73. Further conditions are recommended in relation to bats and lighting, ecological 

enhancements for hedgehog, and due to the site’s location within an ecological network, a 
condition is recommended that any reserved matters application to be supported by a strategy 
for the incorporation of features to enhance the biodiversity value of the proposed 
development. 

 

10.74. The ecology report notes that invasive plant species include Japanese knotweed 
outside the development boundary, near the site edge, and Himalayan balsam along the Brook 
corridor and in scattered patches within the site itself.   This is controlled under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, and informative is recommended.  

 

10.75. For the reasons outlined above and subject to conditions the application complies with 
policies SE 3 of the CELPS, ENV 1 of the SADPD and policy NE5 of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

 
Trees  
 

10.76. Policy SE 5 of the CELPS requires that all developments should ensure the 
sustainable management of trees, woodlands and hedgerows including the provision of new 
planting within new development to retain and improve canopy cover, enable climate 
adaptation resilience and support biodiversity. 

 
10.77. There are mature trees and woodland to the northwest of the application site that are 

protected by a Tree Preservation Order, and numerous trees to the east.  The application is 
supported by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement based on the 
submitted illustrative site plan.  
 

10.78. The above information indicates a way in which the site may be developed having 
regard to existing tree constraints within and adjacent to the site.  However, aside from the 
access, at this stage the detailed design and layout is not currently under consideration. 

 
10.79.  The tree officer has been consulted, and has no objections, although has noted 

various limitations with the reports with regards to detailed analysis. He also notes that the 
position of the proposed access into the site presents no significant implications for trees. 

 

10.80. The tree officer has advised that should planning consent be granted, a condition 
should be attached requiring a revised Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method 
Statement to be submitted with the reserved matters.  

 

10.81. Subject to the above, and consideration of the future reserved matters, the proposals 
are consistent with Policy SE 5 of the CELPS.  

 
11. PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION 

 
11.1. The proposal would involve development of grey belt land, which accords with paragraph 

155 of the NPPF, and is not inappropriate development in Green Belt.  Based on illustrative 
plans, the scale and layout would reflect existing dwellings in the immediate area.  Subject to 
the consideration the full design details provided at the reserved matters, the proposal would 
not cause significant harm to the character of the area, local landscape or the amenity of 

Page 69



nearby occupiers. Matters in relation to trees, ecology, detailed drainage design could also be 
secured by condition and addressed in detail at the reserved matter stage. 
  

12. RECOMMENDATION 
 
Approve subject to following conditions. 
 

1.Time limits for commencement  

2. Application for approval of reserved matters within three years of the date of this 

permission 

3. Approval of reserved matters prior to commencement 

4. Approved plans  

5.Phasing plan 

6. Submission of drainage strategy with reserved matters  

7. Submission of levels with reserved matters 

8. Submission of boundary treatments with reserved matters  

9. Submission of Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement with reserved 

matters 

10. Submission of updated badger survey, impact assessment and mitigation strategy 

with reserved matters 

11. Submission of a strategy to enhance the biodiversity value of the proposed 

development with the reserved matters  

12. Submission of landscaping scheme with reserved matters 

13. Submission of Noise Impact Assessment with reserved matters application 

14. Piling method statement to be submitted 

15. Dust management plan during construction to be submitted 

16. Hours of construction  

17. Nesting bird survey to be submitted 

18. Submission and approval of materials  

19. Provision of parking prior to occupation  

20. Submission and approval of external lighting scheme  

21.Contaminated Land: Submission/approval of Phase I report 

22.Contaminated Land: Submission/approval of verification report 

23.Contaminated Land: Submission/approval of SOIL verification report 

24. Ecological enhancements for hedgehog to be submitted 

25. BNG condition  

 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Northern Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
  

Page 70



 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

25/3610/OUT 

Land At Pigginshaw,  

Altrincham Road, SK9 5NW 

P
age 73



NORTH

8 100 642

P

P

P

P

I/R

Moorland

Pigginshaw
House

Brookfield

Heywood

Pigginshaw
Cottage

Pigginshaw
Barn

BN
G

 C
or

rid
or

Ex
is

tin
g 

Br
oo

k

Rear Gardens to
Existing Houses

Pigginshaw

Schedule:

4no. detached 2 storey houses with double garages

Total area (incl. garages) -
972sqm (10,462sqft) indicated
max 1,000sqm (10,764sqft)

(1
0m

 w
id

e 
fro

m
 to

p 
of

 b
an

k)

1

2

3

4

2 storey
house

2 storey
house 2 storey

house

2 storey
house

dg

dg

dg

dg

Altrincham
 Road

© CALDERPEEL ARCHITECTS LTD

NOTE: DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING
DESCRIPTION DATE DRAWNREV
Layout reduced to four dwellings. 29-07-25 CSA

PLANETREE PROPERTIES

LAND AT PIGGINSHAW� WIL0SLOW ILLUSTRATIVE SITE PLAN

DATE:   29.07.25
DWG:  25070 (PL) 001  D

SCALE: 1:200 @ A1 DRAWN:    CS

Suite 6F-B
Station House
Stamford New Road
Altrincham
WA14 1EP
0161 929 7622

CHESHIRE SHEFFIELD

Acero
1 Concourse Way
Sheffield
S1 2BJ
0114 212 9035

Gates removed. 30-07-25 CSB
Bin store removed. 31-07-25 CSC
Boundary amended gate posts removed 02-09-25 EMD

P
age 74



Application No: 25/3557/FUL 

Application Type: Full Planning 

Location: Qc65 First Avenue, Poynton, Stockport, SK12 1ND 

Proposal: Change of use of QC65, First Avenue from Use Class B2 (General 
Industry) to Use Class B8 (Storage and distribution) and alterations to 
the existing building.  
 

Applicant: Mr Paul Cook, QC Poynton Ltd 

Expiry Date: 16 January 2026 

 

 

Summary 
The application is for change of use of an existing B2 (General Industrial) use to B8 
(Storage and distribution) within Poynton Industrial Estate. The description has been 
amended during the course of the application to include retrospective removals of 
extensions to the main portal frame building, which has also had existing cladding and roof 
covering replaced. Parking provision is proposed for cars on the northern frontage and 
loading space along the west facing side.  There are no objections from Highways or 
Nature Conservation. A condition is recommended in relation to noise management, 
following consultation with  Environmental Health.  
 
Summary recommendation 
Approve subject to recommendations.  
 

 

1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
1.1.  The application relates to a ‘Small-Scale Major Development’, and under the terms of the 

Constitution it is required to be determined by the Northern Planning Committee. 
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 

 
2.1.  The application relates to a site of approximately 1 Ha, within an established industrial estate, 

to the south of Poynton, within the settlement boundary of Poynton.  The application site was 
previously known as API Laminates Ltd, in industrial use. The site comprises a double portal 
frame structure with smaller two storey building.  There have been extensions around the 
sides facing towards First Avenue and Second Avenue, which had been demolished at the 
time of the site visit with the exception of one element on the corner of these two roads.  

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 
3.1. The application is for change of use of an industrial building to storage and distribution use 

(B8). The application has been amended during the course of the application to include the 
retrospective removal of extensions to the northern and western sides of the main portal frame 
structure. The portal frame is also having cladding and roofing materials replaced. 

 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1. 25/2614/FUL Retrospective application for the demolition of outbuilding G. Approved with 

conditions 21-10-2025 
 

Page 75 Agenda Item 7



4.2. 25/0701/PRIOR-11B Prior Approval for the Removal of asbestos cement roof and wall 
cladding. Demolition of the two-storey office block, loading dock and sprinkler tank enclosure 
to the west elevation together with a single storey ancillary office block and portal frame 
extensions and canopies to the north elevation. As shown on demolition plan. Withdrawn 21-
03-2025 
 

4.3. 17/3123M Removal of condition 5 on application number 17/1548M - Proposed loading dock 
bay with associated shutter door and the re locating of existing external containers / hopper/ 
compactors and dust infiltration unit and associated ductwork. Approved with conditions 10-
08-2017 

 

4.4. 17/1548M Proposed loading dock bay with associated shutter door and the re locating of 
existing external containers / hopper/ compactors and dust infiltration unit and associated 
ductwork. Proposed loading dock bay with associated shutter door and the re locating of 
existing external containers / hopper/ compactors and dust infiltration unit and associated 
ductwork. Approved with conditions 26-05-2017 
 

4.5. 14/4357M- The proposed development is to ultimately result in the installation of an approx. 
7.5m tall 400m3 sprinkler system storage tank and pump plant. The storage tank is approx. 
8.2m in diameter and will be supported of a piled RC raft foundation. The pump plant is to be 
housed in a small steel frame structure. The sprinkler tank is to be placed in an existing 
industrial estate car park within the API boundary – Approved with conditions -11-11-2014.  

 

4.6. 14/0361M- Replacement wall cladding, alterations to internal wall and bricking up of existing 
external access doorway – Approved with conditions – 28-02-2014.  

 

4.7. 13/3859M- Application for Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed Use or Development 
- Internal Knock Through, Brick up Existing Storeroom Access Doors and Replace Existing 
Steel Mesh Cladding with Metal Profile Wall Cladding – Negative Certificate – 13-12-2013.  

 

4.8. 04/2824P- Replacement ink drum store – Approved with conditions – 29-12-2004. 03/2623P- 
Two storey portacabin unit adjacent to side of loading bay – Approved with conditions – 05-
12-2003.  

 

4.9. 00/2645P - Building enclosure to 2 oxidiser units serving the existing factory, 2 flues each 14m 
high and compactor unit – Approved with conditions – 25-01-2001.  

 

4.10. 00/2646P - Loading/unloading bay extension for covered and secure loading and unloading 
of raw materials and finished goods – Approved with conditions – 17-01- 2001.  

 

4.11. 00/0797P- 17 Car Parking spaces off Second Avenue – Approved with conditions – 02- 06-
2000. 97/2359P- Alterations, extensions and provision of additional parking – Approved with 
conditions- 24-02-1998.  

 

4.12. 61214P- Proposed erection of oil storage tank/bund wall on land used for storage of empty 
drums. Proposed erection of chimney on land between h & l slater/cabot safety – Approved – 
03-01-1990.  

 

4.13. 53797P- Extension to laminating factory for new machine, pallet making and associated 
offices – Approved- 10-08-1988. 21048P- Formation of new vehicular access, provision of 
new access doors – Approved with conditions – 31-01-1980. 

 
 
 
 

Page 76



5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 

5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 
March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications and 
the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be taken into 
account for the purposes of decision making. 
 

5.2. The NPPF has been updated in December 2024, with further amendments in February 2025. 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 

 
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 

planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) was 
adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was adopted 
in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this application are set 
out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where applicable to the application 
site. 

 
6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and Cheshire East Site 

Allocations and Development Plan Policies Document (SADPD) 
 

CELPS 
MP1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
PG1 Overall Development Strategy 
PG2 Settlement hierarchy 
PG3 Green Belt 
SD1 Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 
SD2 Sustainable Development Principles 
EG1 Economic Prosperity 
EG3 Existing and Allocated Employment Sites 
SE1 Design 
SE12 Pollution, Land Contamination, and Land Stability 
SE13 Flood Risk and Water Management 
CO4 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments 
Appendix C: Parking standards 
 
SADPD 
PG 9 Settlement boundaries 
GEN 1 Design principles 
GEN 5 Aerodrome safeguarding 
ENV 1 Ecological network 
ENV 15 New development and existing uses 
ENV 16 Surface water management  
ENV Protecting Water Resources 
HOU 12 Amenity 
INF 3 Highway safety and access 
 

6.3. Neighbourhood Plan 
 
The site is within the Adlington Neighbourhood Development Plan (NDP) area. The 
Adlington NDP is at stage Regulation 7 – neighbourhood area designation, and as such 
there is no draft plan to have regard to. 

Page 77



 
7. Relevant supplementary planning documents or guidance 

 
7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the Development Plan 

but may be a material consideration in decision making. The following documents are 
considered relevant to this application: 

 
7.2. Environmental Protection SPD 

 
8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 

 
Environmental Protection – No objection subject to conditions / informatives 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority – No comments or objections 
 
Head of Strategic Transport – No objections 
 
Adlington Parish Council – No objection 

 
9. REPRESENTATIONS 

 
9.1. Poynton Town Council – Site is in Adlington parish but borders Poynton. Significant traffic from 

the industrial estate goes north through the centre of Poynton. Concerns over increased traffic, 
presumably HGVs. No details of number of journeys. Request for these details to be provided 
and impact on congestion and air pollution considered. Poynton relief road opened 2023, but 
no new road signs at junction of First Avenue to direct traffic to Stockport to use Poynton Relief 
Rd 9A523) and Manchester Airport Eastern Link Rd (A555) rather than travel north through 
the centre of Poynton.  

 

9.2. One letter of representation has been received objecting to the proposal on the following 
grounds:  

- no objection to change of use 
- Noise issues from the existing site previously, addressed through Environmental 

Health.  
- Request for limitations on deliver and dispatches 
- Request for hissing style reversing to vehicles thar than beeping horn type. 

 
 

10. PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

10.1.  The application has been amended to include retrospective works to alter the building 
including removal of extensions.  Due to time constraints with the holiday period there is at 
the time of writing the report an ongoing re-consultation period. Any further comments will be 
provided by update to the committee 
 

11. OFFICER APPRAISAL  
 

Principle of the development  
 

11.1.  The application site is within a settlement boundary, in the settlement boundary of Poynton, 
a Local Service Centre as identified in policy PG2.  The change of use from industrial to 
storage and distribution within an existing industrial estate in the settlement boundary would 
be acceptable in principle, subject to all other material considerations being acceptable.  
 
 

Page 78



Design  
 

11.2. New development should respect and enhance the existing architectural design themes, 
materials and scale within the immediate area and also not to detrimentally impact built 
heritage assets without clear and convincing justification given to outweigh any defined harm. 
The most applicable policies for consideration are SD1, SD2, SE1 of the CELPS and GEN 1, 
of the SADPD, as well as chapter 12 of the NPPF.  
 

11.3. The removal of extensions and recladding of the building does not significantly change the 
overall character of the building which remains as a portal framed industrial style building 
within an existing industrial estate. There is no change to the height or profile of the main 
portal framed element. The design is acceptable in this context.  
 
Highways 

 
11.4.  Policy INF 3 of the CELPS relates to highway safety and access. This includes measures 

for access to and from the site by pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users, and to meet 
the needs of people with disabilities, as well as vehicle access. CELPS policy CO 4 requires 
travel plans to mitigate any impact on the highway network and encourage sustainable travel, 
for major development likely to generate significant additional journeys.  
 

11.5. Carparking requirements for B8 uses under CELPS appendix C differ according to the type 
of use within B8. For warehouse storage – 1 space per 80m and 1 lorry space per 200sqm 
and for warehouse distribution 1 per 60 sqm and 1 lorry space per 200sqm.  The proposed 
floor space at 6032 sqm would equate to a requirement of 75 to 100 car spaces and 30 lorry 
spaces.  This compares to a standard for a B2 use (as existing) of 1 space per 30sqm (for the 
first 235sqm), then 1 per 50 sqm, with no specific requirement for lorry spaces. This would 
have resulted in a requirement for 148 car parking spaces for the previous floor area of 7258 
sqm B2 use.  
 

11.6. The site is within an existing industrial complex. The application form indicates an anticipated 
87 employees at the site.  The proposal includes 59 parking spaces, including accessible and 
EV spaces. Whilst this is below the standards it is an increase from the previous number of 
54 car parking spaces and the Highways officer has made no objections given that it is an 
existing site. Additional parking has been provided by the removal of extensions and additions 
to the building. There is space for lorries along the eastern side adjacent to loading bays.  
Lorry spaces are not marked on the plan and CE Highways Standing advice does not include 
guidance for HGV vehicle parking space sizes. Government guidance online advises that the 
maximum length of articulated HGV vehicles is 16.5m (or 18 metres where incorporating a 
low loader trailer). There alterations to the building along the eastern frontage allows sufficient 
set back from the highway, allowing for vehicles to be loaded. The Highways officer has 
advised that lorry parking widths would be up to around 2.75 metres wide which would allow 
for up to 25 along the eastern facing elevation.  Whilst this is less than the CELPS standard 
for 30 for the proposed floor area, it is considered that it would not be reasonable to refuse on 
these grounds.  There are 6 loading bays proposed which would limit the number of vehicles 
that can be coming and going from the site as well. 

 

11.7. The Highways officer has commented that B2 General Industrial uses would generally 
generate more trips than a storage and distribution use. More HGV trips would usually be 
associated with a B8 use but light traffic is likely to be reduced.  

 

11.8. The agent has provided information based on the likely change of vehicular trips.  Information 
has been provided based on TRICS data (Trip Rate Information Computer System). Over the 
day an estimated 121 HGV trips to and from the site are estimated for a B8 use of the proposed 
floor area. This is estimated as an additional 90 HGV trips when compared to the B2 use for 

Page 79



the site prior to alterations.  Spread out across a typical 12hour day this equates to an average 
increase in HGV movements 7.5 per hour. This has been anticipated by the Highways 
consultee and no objection is raised.  

 

11.9. A travel plan is recommended by condition to encourage use of sustainable travel 
alternatives and help to mitigate impact of traffic to and from the site, and ensure compliance 
with policies INF 4 and CO 4 of the local plan. 

 
Amenity and Environmental Protection. 

 
11.10. SADPD Policies HOU 12 and HOU 13 between them require that development 

proposals must not cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of adjoining or nearby 
occupiers of residential properties, sensitive uses, or future occupiers of the proposed 
development due to loss of privacy; loss of sunlight and daylight; the overbearing and 
dominating effect of new buildings; environmental disturbance or pollution; or traffic 
generation, access and parking. Policy HOU13 provides standards for housing allow light and 
privacy between buildings, with reference to Table 8.2 in the SADPD. Policy SE1 of the CELPS 
states that development should ensure an appropriate level of privacy for new and existing 
residential properties.  
 

11.11. Policy ENV15 relates to new development and existing uses. New development must 
effectively integrate with existing uses and existing uses must not have unreasonable 
restrictions placed on them as a result of it. A principal consideration in this instance would be 
possible environmental disturbance. 
 

11.12. The site is within an existing industrial estate. The nearest residential properties are 
just over 100m to the west of the site, separated by other industrial buildings. One 
representation has been received from a member of the public referencing noise complaints 
previously relating to a building to the east, between the application site and the closest 
residential neighbour. The proposed use for storage would be different to industrial use.  
 

11.13. The submission does not include details of proposed hours of operation, identification 
of an end user, nor outline delivery arrangements. Environmental Protection initially requested 
details of hours of operation be provided.  As the occupier has not been identified, these hours 
may vary depending upon the specific end user. In the absence of details of the nature of 
future occupiers for the site, rather than hours of operation, it is considered reasonable to 
require by condition a noise management plan to be agreed and implemented prior to 
occupation, to consider any potential impact of noise from the site. This is particularly in 
relation to the loading and unloading and access to and from the site outside of daytime hours. 
 

11.14. The application form states that the proposal would not involve the use or storage of 
Hazardous Substances. The proposals have been assessed by Air Quality and Contaminated 
Land teams, with no comments or objections received. 

 

11.15. The site is within an area identified as a groundwater source protection zone on the 
adopted policies map. It is not within SPZ1 or SPZ2 which are the most sensitive areas with 
regard to drinking water supplies.   

 
Nature Conservation 
  

11.16. The works are exempt from mandatory biodiversity net gain due to them being below 
the de minimis threshold. Therefore, the deemed net gain condition does not apply and a 
biodiversity metric is not considered necessary in this instance. There is a reasonable 
likelihood that protected species including bats would not have been impacted by the 
retrospective works. 

Page 80



 
 Flood Risk 
 

11.17. The site is within Flood Zone 1 where there is a low risk of flooding. The LLFA have 
reviewed the current proposals and have no comments or objections.  

 
12. PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION 

 
12.1. The proposed development, as amended, is deemed to be in accordance with all relevant 

policies in the development plan subject to conditions including for a noise management plan. 
There are not considered to be any other material considerations that would carry sufficient 
weight to refuse the application. Therefore, a recommendation of approval is made, subject 
to conditions. 

 
13. RECOMMENDATION 

Approve subject to conditions 
 

 
Conditions: 
1. Development in accordance with approved plans 
2. Materials as application 
4. Noise management plan to be agreed and implemented prior to first occupation 
5. Travel Plan to be submitted 
 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the Northern Planning Committee, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
  

Page 81



 

P
age 82



 

 

25/3557/FUL 

Qc65 First Avenue, Poynton, 

Stockport, SK12 1ND 

 

P
age 83



Sub Sta

El Sub Sta

382350

3
9
1
8
5
0

382400

3
9
1
9
0
0

3
9
1
9
5
0

S
E

C
O

N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

LB

Application Boundary edged red

DEVELOPMENT KEY

Phoenix House
45 Cross Street
Manchester
M2 4JF
   0161 399 2167t: 

340 Firecrest Court
Centre Park
Warrington
WA1 1RG
   01925 751 852t: 

N
C4 Job no.

Rev

Scale

Drawn by

@ A3

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-distributed either in 
whole or in part without the prior written permission of the originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage or expense 
arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for its intended purpose on this 
project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, specifications and 
associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or omissions are to be reported to the 
originator before proceeding with work. 

This drawing can be scaled for planning purposes only.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding with any work. 
Contractors to work to figured dimensions only & scaled figures are not to be used for 
construction purposes.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for information only, 
to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ drawings for which they are solely 
responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any information held in the 
drawing resulting from the translation from the original file format to any other file format or 
from the recipients reading of it in any other programme.

Created

FOR INFORMATIONS2

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

Cost ConsultancyArchitecture Project Management Building Surveying

      info@c4projects.co.uk
      www.c4projects.co.uk

Interior Design

e: 
w: 

P03

As indicated

24045-C4P-10-S01ZZ-D-A-1007

Site

24-045

BC

Poynton Ind. Estate,
Stockport

20/01/2025

INFORMATION

LocationPlan

1 : 1250

Site Location Plan
1

FIRST AVENUE

VISUAL SCALE 1:1250  @ A3

25m 100m75m50m0m

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Chckd

P01 First Issue BC 20.01.25 BC

P02 Update Issue BC 20.01.25 BC

P03 Drawing Updated and scale changed GV 13.02.25 DC

P
age 84



00 Ground Floor
0

01 First Floor
2830

Haunch
5250

00 Ground Floor
0

01 First Floor
2830

Haunch
5250

00 Ground Floor
0

01 First Floor
2830

Haunch
5250

00 Ground Floor
0

01 First Floor
2830

Haunch
5250

NOTE: EXTERNAL PLANT

REMOVED FOR CLARITY

8012

B

8012C

8012

D

8012

A

N

0

Phoenix House
45 Cross Street
Manchester
M2 4JF
   0161 399 2167t: 

340 Firecrest Court
Centre Park
Warrington
WA1 1RG
   01925 751 852t: 

Rev

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-distributed either in 
whole or in part without the prior written permission of the originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage or expense 
arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for its intended purpose on this 
project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, specifications and 
associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or omissions are to be reported to the 
originator before proceeding with work. 

This drawing can be scaled for planning purposes only.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding with any work. 
Contractors to work to figured dimensions only & scaled figures are not to be used for 
construction purposes.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for information only, 
to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ drawings for which they are solely 
responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any information held in the 
drawing resulting from the translation from the original file format to any other file format or 
from the recipients reading of it in any other programme.

FOR INFORMATIONS2

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

Cost ConsultancyArchitecture Project Management Building Surveying

      info@c4projects.co.uk
      www.c4projects.co.uk

Interior Design

e: 
w: 

C4 Job no.

Drawn by Created

Scale

1:100 @ A1

1 432 5

P02

As indicated @A1

24045-C4P-80-B01ZZ-D-A-8012

Poynton Ind. Estate,
Stockport

QC Poynton Limited

PLANNING

LPA_Pre-Demolition Elevations

Building

24-045

LR Dec 25

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-B - Pre-Demolition
B

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-C - Pre-Demolition
C

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-D - Pre-Demolition
D

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-A - Pre-Demolition
A

1 : 750

80ZZ_Key Plan - Pre-Demolition
5

VISUAL SCALE 1:200  @ A1

5m 15m10m0m

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Chckd

P01 First Issue of Drawing LR 11.12.25 DC

P02 Update Issue LR 11.12.25 DC

P
age 85



B

C

D

A

8013

B

8013C

8013

D

8013 A

Notes | Post Demolition Elevations
Key | External Materials

Type: Built-up Metal Cladding
Trapezoidal Profile Laid Vertically
Colour: Merlin Grey BS 18 B 25

1

Type: Built-up Metal Cladding
Trapezoidal Profile Laid Vertically
Colour: Anthracite RAL 7016

2

Type: Built-up Metal Cladding
Model: Insulated twin skinned, Vertically
Laid Trapezoidal Cladding
RAL 7038 - Goosewing Grey

3

Type: Flat faced Eaves / Verges
Colour: Goosewing Grey RAL 7038

B

Type: Flat faced Eaves / Verges
Colour: Merlin Grey BS 18 B 25

A

00 Ground Floor
0

Haunch
5250

B

3

1

A
2

00 Ground Floor
0

Haunch
5250

1 2

2

3

00 Ground Floor
0

Haunch
5250

1

1

00 Ground Floor
0

Haunch
5250

1

D

2

1

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-B - Post-Demolition
B

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-C - Post-Demolition
C

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-D - Post-Demolition
D

1 : 200

80ZZ_GA Elevation-A - Post-Demolition
A

0

Phoenix House
45 Cross Street
Manchester
M2 4JF
   0161 399 2167t: 

340 Firecrest Court
Centre Park
Warrington
WA1 1RG
   01925 751 852t: 

Rev

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-distributed either in 
whole or in part without the prior written permission of the originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage or expense 
arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for its intended purpose on this 
project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, specifications and 
associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or omissions are to be reported to the 
originator before proceeding with work. 

This drawing can be scaled for planning purposes only.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding with any work. 
Contractors to work to figured dimensions only & scaled figures are not to be used for 
construction purposes.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for information only, 
to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ drawings for which they are solely 
responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any information held in the 
drawing resulting from the translation from the original file format to any other file format or 
from the recipients reading of it in any other programme.

FOR INFORMATIONS2

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

Cost ConsultancyArchitecture Project Management Building Surveying

      info@c4projects.co.uk
      www.c4projects.co.uk

Interior Design

e: 
w: 

C4 Job no.

Drawn by Created

Scale

1:200 @ A1

2 864 10

P03

As indicated @A1

24045-C4P-80-B01ZZ-D-A-8013

Poynton Ind. Estate,
Stockport

QC Poynton Limited

PLANNING

LPA_Post-Demolition Elevations

Building

24-045

LR Dec 25

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Chckd

P01 First Issue of Drawing LR 11.12.25 DC

P02 Update Issue LR 11.12.25 DC

P03 Update Issue LR 11.12.25 DC

P
age 86



Car Park (56 spaces)

S
e
c

o
n

d
 A

v
e
n

u
e

First Avenue

Entry
Exit

Main Entrance

Existing Comms 

Cabinet & Mast

SY Parking (3 spaces)

Cycle Hoops

N

0

Phoenix House
45 Cross Street
Manchester
M2 4JF
   0161 399 2167t: 

340 Firecrest Court
Centre Park
Warrington
WA1 1RG
   01925 751 852t: 

Rev

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-distributed either in 
whole or in part without the prior written permission of the originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage or expense 
arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for its intended purpose on this 
project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, specifications and 
associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or omissions are to be reported to the 
originator before proceeding with work. 

This drawing can be scaled for planning purposes only.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding with any work. 
Contractors to work to figured dimensions only & scaled figures are not to be used for 
construction purposes.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for information only, 
to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ drawings for which they are solely 
responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any information held in the 
drawing resulting from the translation from the original file format to any other file format or 
from the recipients reading of it in any other programme.

REVIEW & ACCEPT BY APS5

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

Cost ConsultancyArchitecture Project Management Building Surveying

      info@c4projects.co.uk
      www.c4projects.co.uk

Interior Design

e: 
w: 

C4 Job no.

Drawn by Created

Scale

1:200 @ A1

2 864 10

P02

1 : 200 @A1

24045-C4P-80-S01ZZ-D-A-8008

Poynton Ind. Estate,
Stockport

QC65 Poynton Limited

PLANNING

LPA_Plan as Proposed

Site

24-045

BC May 25

1 : 200

LPA_Plan as Proposed
1

Schedule_Parking

Description Count

Unit / Building

Accessible Car Parking Bay 1

Accessible Parking Bay with EV Charging 2

Cable Enabled Parking Bay 4

Electric Vehicle Charging Parking Bay 2

Standard Car Parking Bay 50

Car Parking 59

59

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Chckd

P01 First Issue BC 08.09.25

P02 Update Issue BC 09.09.25

P
age 87



382400

3
9
1
9
5
0

0.15Ø

EBx

Rough Ground

Tarmac

Tarmac

Concrete

Tarmac

Tarmac

Tarmac Tarmac
Tarmac

Tarmac Tarmac

Rough Ground

Rough Ground

Concrete

Tarmac

IC - Electrical
CL 94.48

IC - Telecom
CL 94.48

IC - Telecom
CL 94.64

FH

SV

HS01HS01

98.29

98.35

98.48

9
8
.4

5

9
8

.4
5

98.34
98.39

9
8

.4
5

9
8

.3
9

Top of Bank

Top of Bank

95.30

95.29

95.11

9
4
.7

4

94.90

94.95

95.04

Bottom of Bank

Bottom of Bank

94.94

9
4

.8
3

9
4

.8
5

94.95

94.49

94
.5

1

9
4
.4

7

9
4

.4
9

9
4

.5
1

9
4

.5
7

9
4

.5
6

94.70

9
5

.2
2

95.2195.14

9
5
.2

2

9
4
.8

3

94.74

94.82 94.82 94.92

9
4
.9

9

9
4
.8

1

9
4
.6

3

94.43 94.5794.42 94.65

GV

GVGV

LPLP

MH
CL 94.62

MH
CL 94.67

MH
CL 95.34

UTR - TM needed

UTR - TM needed

GG
94.73

GG
94.69

GG
94.7994.56

GG

GG
94.55

9
4

.8
7

9
4

.7
9

9
4

.7
5

9
4

.7
6

9
4

.7
3

9
4

.5
5

9
4

.6
3

9
4

.7
1

9
4

.7
1

9
4

.9
6

9
4

.7
1

9
4

.6
6

9
4

.5
8

9
4

.5
8

94
.5

6

94.58

9
4

.5
3

9
4

.5
4

95.59

95.3595.21

95.0895.0194.92

95.10
95.0895.02

94.9494.8794.8694.8394.7694.6894.6494.54

9
4

.7
4

94.56

9
4

.5
7

9
4

.5
5

94.72

94.93

9
4

.7
4

9
4

.7
3

94.86

94.64

9
4

.5
3

9
4

.4
8

9
4

.4
0

9
4

.3
9

9
4
.3

8

94
.4

0

94.35

9
5
.1

9

95.07 95.16

9
5

.2
0

9
5

.2
9

9
5

.3
8

94.8894.79

94.70

9
4
.8

3 9
4
.9

8

9
4
.8

1

94.38

9
4
.6

3

94.39 94.53 94.62
Unable to survey - parked cars

Unable to survey - parked cars

U
n

a
b

le
 to

 s
u

rv
e

y
 - p

a
rk

e
d
 c

a
rs

Concrete

Areas to be demolished

S
E

C
O

N
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

FIRST AVENUE

Service yard

Car parking

Warehouse/Industrial Unit

N

0

Phoenix House
45 Cross Street
Manchester
M2 4JF
   0161 399 2167t: 

340 Firecrest Court
Centre Park
Warrington
WA1 1RG
   01925 751 852t: 

Rev

Drawing Title

Project

Client

Drg no.

This drawing is © C4 Projects and is not to be copied, reproduced or re-distributed either in 
whole or in part without the prior written permission of the originator.

The originator shall have no responsibility for any liability, loss, cost, damage or expense 
arising from or relating to any use of this document other than for its intended purpose on this 
project. 

This drawing shall be read in conjunction with all other relevant drawings, specifications and 
associated documentation. Any discrepencies, errors or omissions are to be reported to the 
originator before proceeding with work. 

This drawing can be scaled for planning purposes only.
All dimensions are to be checked on site by the contractor prior to proceeding with any work. 
Contractors to work to figured dimensions only & scaled figures are not to be used for 
construction purposes.

DISCLAIMER
When this drawing is issued in CAD, it is an uncontrolled version issued for information only, 
to enable the recipient to prepare their own documents/ drawings for which they are solely 
responsible.

SOFTWARE INTEROPERABILITY
C4 Projects prepared this drawing using Autodesk REVIT Architecture.

C4 Projects does not accept liability for any loss or degradation of any information held in the 
drawing resulting from the translation from the original file format to any other file format or 
from the recipients reading of it in any other programme.

FOR INFORMATIONS2

Status Purpose of Issue

Drawing Status

Cost ConsultancyArchitecture Project Management Building Surveying

      info@c4projects.co.uk
      www.c4projects.co.uk

Interior Design

e: 
w: 

C4 Job no.

Drawn by Created

Scale

1:200 @ A1

2 864 10

P03

1 : 200 @A1

24045-C4P-80-S01ZZ-D-A-8011

Poynton Ind. Estate,
Stockport

QC65 Poynton Limited

PLANNING

LPA_External Buildings Demolition Plan

Site

24-045

LR Dec 25

1 : 200

LPA_Site External Buildings Demolition Plan
1

A
B

C

D

E

F

Rev Revision Details Drawn Date Chckd

P01 First Issue of Drawing LR 11.12.25 DC

P02 Update Issue LR 11.12.25 DC

P03 Update Issue LR 11.12.25 DC

Schedule_Unit A-F Area

Name Area (m2) Area (Sqft)

Unit A 91.11 m² 980.7 ft²

Unit B 23.14 m² 249.0 ft²

Unit C 848.04 m² 9128.3 ft²

Unit D 151.92 m² 1635.3 ft²

Unit E & F 186.48 m² 2007.3 ft²

1300.69 m² 14000.5 ft²

P
age 88



 

 

 

Application No: 25/4184/PIP 

Application Type: Permission in Principle 

Location: Land At Lostock Hall Road, Poynton 

Proposal: Permission in principle for one dwelling 

Applicant: Mr Gordon Turner 

Expiry Date: 16 January 2026 

 

Summary 
 

• The application proposals seek planning permission in principle for the development of 
one residential dwelling. 
 

• The proposals are not considered to fall within the ‘limited infilling in villages’ exception 
to inappropriate development.  

 

• In consideration of the exception within paragraph 155 of the NPPF, that relating to grey 
belt, it is accepted that the application site represents grey belt land, it is also considered 
that the application site falls in a sustainable location.  

 

• Given the statutory constraints of a permission in principle, it is considered that a 
residential scheme in principle (site location, the type and amount of development) could 
be provided on site. 

 

• The presumption in favour of sustainable development applies which points towards the 
grant of planning permission. 

 
Summary recommendation 
Approve 

 
1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 

 
1.1. The application relates to a significant departure from Cheshire East’s Local Plan Policies, 

which the Head of Planning is minded to approve, and under the terms of the Constitution 
it is required to be determined by the Northern Planning Committee. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 

 
2.1. The application site is located at Lostock Hall Road, Poynton. The site is a vacant parcel of 

land which has been recently cleared of vegetation. Some tree stumps are present, but the 
site is now generally free from significant vegetation. The site is bounded by post and rail 
fencing and hedgerows to various boundaries. 
 

2.2. The site is accessed via the existing private access track off Lostock Hall Road which also 
serves the spur to the approved development site and existing properties at 33A and 33B 
Squirrels Chase.  
 

2.3. The site and its surrounds are washed over by a Green Belt designation, and for the 
purposes of the Local Plan the land is within the open countryside. 

 

Page 89 Agenda Item 8



 

 

 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 

3.1. The application proposals seek planning permission in principle for the development of a 
single residential dwelling. 

 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1. There is no relevant planning history for the application site.  

 
4.2. However, there are recent decisions on the nearby site at land adjacent to 33B Squirrels 

Chase, off Lostock Hall Road. These being: -  
 
4.2.1. Appeal Decision APP/R0660/W/24/3342165 (November 2024): A Planning 

Inspector allowed an appeal for 2 detached dwellings, finding that the site was 
located in a village for the purposes of paragraph 154(e) of the NPPF and that the 
proposal constituted limited infilling. The Council had indicated it would have 
refused the application on Green Belt grounds, but the Inspector concluded that 
the development was not inappropriate.  

 
4.2.2. Planning Permission 25/2028/FUL (October 2025): Following the appeal decision, 

Cheshire East Council granted planning permission for 3 detached dwellings on 
the same site under delegated powers. The Officer Report concluded that the site 
constitutes limited infilling in a village in accordance with paragraph 154(e) of the 
NPPF and Policy PG3 of the Local Plan. The Council accepted the Inspector's 
findings and applied them to grant permission for an increased number of 
dwellings. 

 
5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

 
5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 

March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies 
for England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications 
and the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be 
taken into account for the purposes of decision making. 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 

 
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 

planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) 
was adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was 
adopted in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this 
application are set out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where 
applicable to the application site. 

 
6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and Cheshire East 

Site Allocations and Development Plan Policies Document (SADPD) 

• MP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• PG1 Overall Development Strategy 

• PG2 Settlement Hierarchy 

• PG3 Green Belt  

• PG6 Open Countryside 

Page 90



 

 

 

• PG7 Spatial Distribution of Development 

• SD1 Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 

• SD2 Sustainable Development Principles 

• IN1 Infrastructure 

• IN2 Developer Contributions 

• SC4 Residential Mix 

• SE1 Design 

• SE2 Efficient Use of Land 

• SE4 The Landscape 

• SE5 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

• SE12 Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability 

• SE13 Flood Risk and Water Management 

• CO1 Sustainable Travel and Transport 

• CO4 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments 

• Appendix C Parking Standards 

• PG8 Development at local service centres 

• PG9 Settlement Boundaries 

• PG10 Infill villages 

• GEN1 Design principles 

• ENV1 Ecological network 

• ENV5 Landscaping 

• ENV6 Trees, hedgerows and woodland implementation 

• ENV16 Surface water management and flood risk 

• HOU1 Housing mix 

• HOU12 Amenity 

• HOU13 Residential standards 

• HOU14 Housing density 

• HOU16 Small and medium sized sites 

• INF1 Cycleways, bridleways and footpaths 

• INF3 Highways safety and access 
 

6.3. Poynton Neighbourhood Development Plan (PNDP): 
 

6.4. The PNDP passed referendum on the 10 October 2019. The plan was made on the 21 
November 2019. The relevant policies of the PNDP are summarised below: - 

• Policy EGB1 – Surface Water Management 

• Policy EGB8 – Protection of rural landscape 

• Policy HOU6 – Housing mix 

• Policy HOU7 – Environmental considerations 

• Policy HOU8 – Density and site coverage 

• Policy HOU11 – Design 
 

7. Relevant supplementary planning documents or guidance 
 

7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the Development 
Plan but may be a material consideration in decision making. The following documents are 
considered relevant to this application: 
 

7.2. Cheshire East Design Guide. 
 
 

Page 91



 

 

 

8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 
 

Poynton with Worth Town Council – object on the following grounds: 

• The proposed development and associated use would cause substantial harm to the 
character, openness and appearance of the area and in particular cause harm to the 
North Cheshire Green Belt within which the application site lies. 

• The proposal for the redevelopment of an area of open land for residential purposes 
is considered to constitute inappropriate development in the Green Belt which would 
be detrimental to its character and openness whilst conflicting with the purposes of 
including land within it. 

• The case put forward by the applicant to justify inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt does not constitute very special circumstances sufficient to outweigh the 
harm by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm to the Green Belt.  

• The site is not part of the so-called grey belt.  

• The development proposals will not be considered to be ‘limited infilling in villages’ 

• It would extend the developed area into an undeveloped part of the Green Belt, so 
constituting both urban sprawl and the encroachment of urban areas into the 
countryside and breach two of the five purposes of Green Belt.  

• The applicant has referred to another site off Lostock Hall Road granted planning 
consent for two houses on appeal (ref. 23/0927M) and subsequently three houses 
(25/2028/FUL). However, the current application site is entirely distinct and separate 
from the earlier site, which therefore does not establish any type of precedent. In 
particular, the earlier site is largely surrounded by existing houses while this site 
borders open countryside. 

• The intrusion of the proposed dwelling into open land would result in a loss of 
landscaping and detract from the character and appearance of the rural setting. 

• The proposed development has inadequate access, on what the applicants concede 
in their Design and Access statement is a “track”. This section of Lostock Hall Road 
has a confusing layout, no streetlights and is unadopted. 

• The nearest shops are in the centre of Poynton, a mile away. If the development 
proceeds, access would be by private car. The bus service along Chester Road has 
only one bus every hour and does not run on Sundays or in the evening. 

• Undeveloped land of this type provides an essential habitat for endangered species 
such as bats, badgers, frogs, toads, newts, butterflies, moths and hedgehogs. Even 
if boundary trees are retained, the loss of open space and increased proximity of a 
new house will drive away wildlife. Increased artificial illumination is a particular threat 
to bats and disrupts the breeding cycles of frogs and toads. Moths and glow-worms 
are especially impacted by bright artificial lights.  

• The proposed new house would detract from the rural nature of the area and begin a 
process of urbanisation. Utilities Public utilities are under strain in semi-rural areas of 
Poynton.  

 
Highways – No objection 

 
Environmental Health – No objection 

 
United Utilities – No objection 

 
9. REPRESENTATIONS 

 
The application has been duly advertised by means of direct neighbour notification letters 
and site notice. 

 

Page 92



 

 

 

Five letters of representation have been received, and their comments can be summarised  
as follows: - 

• The overhead electricity and telephone supply cables to our property pass over this 
ground. It is suggested that both of these supplies will be impeded by a building being 
built on this site.  

• There were a number of established trees on this site, which appear to have been 
removed prior to this application being submitted, probably so that this could not be 
raised as a reason for objection. However, during the process of the tree removal they 
brought a telephone line down.  

• How many more properties can be crammed into this once open space with only a 
single-track access, which is already much busier with traffic and disruption than was 
originally planned for this type of unadopted road.  

• When the Council previously agreed planning permission from the same applicant for 
five properties to be built on the lane there was around two years of disruption caused 
to neighbours, Aqua Life Nursery and the general public who use this lane regularly 
as a public footpath. In addition, the lane became a mud bath for the whole duration 
of the construction of those properties. 

• The site is adjacent to the electrical sub-station which feeds the area and is bounded 
and crossed by mains water, electricity and telecom services which supply the area, 
thereby preventing development within the site from being able to be provided that 
would be in compliance with the standards set within the Plan for layout, location and 
design and would be overdevelopment 

• The relevant services which abut or cross the site are provided by Electricity North 
West, United Utilities, Virgin Media and BT, and there is no evidence within the 
Application that proper investigations have been carried out to ascertain the extent of 
those services, their location, and/or the effect that proposed development may have. 
In the absence of such information, and details of how any adverse effects on the 
operation of these services, the conflict with existing wayleaves and rights, and proof 
of the ability to re-negotiate and/or relocate these services, it cannot be accepted in 
principle that the site is suitable for residential development.  

• The Planning Statement is mistaken in its interpretation of both current planning law 
and the quoted decision of the Inspector. The site is not in a village, it is not infill, it is 
not grey belt, and it is inappropriate development within the Green Belt and there are 
no overwhelming benefits which outweigh the presumption against. 

• The only means of access to the site is from the track which abuts public footpath 70. 
To agree in principle with proposals which will inevitably adversely conflict with and 
interfere with the function and usage of this important footpath, as well as general 
usage of the accesses within the area, is entirely wrong in principle. 

 
10. OFFICER APPRAISAL  

 
Preliminary Matters 
 

10.1. The proposal is for permission in principle (PIP). The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
advises that this is an alternative way of obtaining planning permission for housing-led 
development.  
 

10.2. The permission in principle consent route has two stages: the first stage (or PIP stage) 
establishes whether a site is suitable in-principle and the second (‘technical details 
consent’) stage is when the detailed proposals are assessed. This application relates to the 
first of these 2 stages. 
 

Page 93



 

 

 

10.3. The scope of the considerations for permission in principle is limited to location, land use 
and the amount of development permitted. All other matters are considered as part of a 
subsequent Technical Details Consent (TDC) application if permission in principle is 
granted.  
 

10.4. The Local Planning Authority may not grant Permission in Principle for a major 
development. Major development in the case of Permission in Principle are applications 
which is where the number of houses is 10 or more, the floor space created is 1,000m2 or 
more or the development is carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more.  
 

10.5. In this case the development is for a single unit, and the red line site has an area of less 
than 1 hectare (0.06ha). The floor-space to be created is unknown at this stage but would 
need to be assessed at the Technical Details Consent stage. 
 

10.6. Therefore, the main issue is whether the site is suitable for residential development, having 
regard to its location, the proposed land use and amount of development. 
 
Location  

 
10.7. The site is located within the Green Belt.  

 
Inappropriate development  

 
10.8. The Framework identifies that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 

sprawl by keeping land permanently open, with the essential characteristics of the Green 
Belt being their openness and permanence.  
 

10.9. The Framework goes on to state that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful 
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 

10.10. Policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2017 (CELPS) seeks to protect the 
Cheshire East Green Belt. In that respect, its aims are broadly consistent with the 
Framework.  
 

10.11. The Framework further establishes that the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt 
should be regarded as inappropriate, subject to a number of exceptions as set out in 
paragraphs 154 and 155.  
 

10.12. Paragraph 154 of the Framework notes that the construction of new buildings in the Green 
Belt should be regarded as inappropriate. Several exceptions are listed in Paragraph 154. 
One of the exceptions included is the limited infilling in villages. Policy PG3 of the Cheshire 
East Local Plan Strategy 2017 (CELPS) also includes this exception. Therefore, the 
CELPS, insofar as it is relevant to this issue, is consistent with the Framework.  
 

10.13. Policy PG10 of the Cheshire East Site Allocations and Development Policies Document 
2022 (SADPD) addresses which settlements are defined as infill villages. Poynton is not 
listed in this policy. Policy PG10 states that outside of the village infill boundaries, 
development proposals will not be considered to be limited infilling in villages when applying 
CELPS Policy PG3. 
 

10.14. Therefore, when considering a development proposal against this exception to 
inappropriate development, there are two key matters to look at: 

• Whether the location is in a village; and 

Page 94



 

 

 

• Whether the proposals represent limited infilling. 
 

In terms of the definitions;  
 
There is no definition within The Framework of ‘limited infilling’. 
 
The glossary to the CELPS defines ‘infill development’ as: - 
 

“The development of a relatively small gap between existing buildings.” 
 
The glossary to the SADPD defines ‘infill development’ as:  
 

“Infill development is generally the development of a relatively small gap between 
existing buildings. The scale of infill development will depend upon the location of the 

site.” 
 
There is no definition within the Framework of ‘village’.  
  
There is no definition within the CELPS of ‘village’. 
 
The glossary to the SADPD does however define ‘Infill village’ as: -  
 

“Infill villages are settlements within the 'other settlements and rural areas' tier of the 
settlement hierarchy. They do not have a settlement boundary and are Infill village within 
the open countryside, but they do have a defined infill boundary, in which limited infilling 

can be allowed.” 
 

 
Whether the location is in a village 

 
10.15. In this instance, this particular site lies outside of the Poynton settlement boundary, but it is 

not within a defined village infill boundary and as such, under Criterion 4 of Policy PG10, 
development proposals will not be considered to be limited infilling in villages when applying 
CELPS Policy PG3 (Green Belt). 
 

10.16. Therefore, considering the development plan policies alone, this development at this site is 
not limited infilling in a village and the proposals would be considered to be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. 
 

10.17. However, under planning law, applications must be determined in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is a 
material consideration and there is no definition of what constitutes a village for the 
purposes of applying paragraph 154(e).  
 

10.18. Whilst the development plan does define the locations within which limited infilling in 
villages is permitted, case law  establishes that when applying the NPPF policy directly to 
the case, the boundary of a village defined in a local plan may not be determinative in 
considering whether a site is within a village and that regard should also be had to the 
situation on the ground as well as any relevant policies. 
 

10.19. As a result, the decision-maker, will need to carry out an on the ground assessment of 
whether the site is within a village for the purpose of the NPPF Green Belt test and, if it is, 

Page 95



 

 

 

whether this (as a material consideration), indicates that a decision should be made other 
than in accordance with the development plan. 
 

10.20. There is no specific guidance on the factors that must be considered, but recent appeal 
decisions indicate that Inspectors have had regard to whether the site is physically and 
functionally part of a village. Some of the factors considered have been: - 

• Whether the site is within the built-up environment of a village and/or surrounded by 
other development;  

• Whether it is readily accessible from local services and amenities; 

• Its visual and physical relationship with a village; 

• Whether it is connected to a village by ribbon development; 

• The presence or absence of walking routes and safe pedestrian connectivity to a 
village; 

• Whether the surrounding pattern of development is denser with prominent built form, or 
whether it is more loose-knit and less dense; and  

• Whether existing development is visually prominent and whether there are more 
domestic boundary treatments such as close boarded fences, gateways, or manicured 
hedging. 

 
10.21. In this particular case, Poynton is clearly a town, rather than a village. It is a key service 

centre in the settlement hierarchy and, as a higher-order centre, the development plan has 
allocated a number of large sites (including through making Green Belt boundary 
alterations) to meet development needs arising in Poynton over the plan period and also 
identified safeguarded land to meet potential longer-term development needs. It has a 
defined town centre in SADPD Policy RET1 (Retail hierarchy) and it has its own Town 
Council. 
 

10.22. These issues (and arguments) were raised at a recent appeal in Poynton, on Squirrels 
Chase, off Lostock Hall Road. In upholding that appeal, the Inspector stated: -  
 
“In consideration of all of these matters, the development would not immediately accord 
with Policy PG10 of the SADP as it would be located outside of a designated infill village 
boundary as listed within the policy. The site is also located outside of the settlement 
boundary as set out in the Poynton Neighbourhood Development Plan 2019”. 
 

10.23. The Inspector concluded that: -   
 
“However, in assessing the spatial and visual circumstances of this specific case, I find that 
the appeal site would be located in a village for the purposes of paragraph 154 (e) when 
undertaking an ‘on the ground’ assessment.” 
 

10.24. In consideration of the specific characteristics in this case in terms of the spatial pattern of 
development as well as the appearance of the site within the context of other development, 
it is accepted that the site is located in a village for the purposes of paragraph 154(e) of the 
Framework. This is bearing the above in mind and given that Poynton can be assessed in 
this manner in relation to infilling applications. 
 
Whether the proposals represent limited infilling  
 

10.25. With regard to infill, whilst the Framework does not include a definition of ‘limited infilling’, 
SADPD Policy PG10 defines limited infilling as “the development of a relatively small gap 
between existing buildings”. These policies however do not define what is “a relatively small 
gap”.  

Page 96



 

 

 

 
10.26. Case law has established that whether a development constitutes limited infill or not is a 

matter of fact and planning judgement for the decision maker. 
 

10.27. This site is some distance from the house to the north, and is a long, thin, roughly triangular 
piece of land which has no neighbours to the south. It therefore cannot be regarded as 
being “a relatively small gap between existing buildings.” 

 
10.28. It is considered the proposal do not represent, either limited infilling that would be located 

in a village, nor limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously 
developed land for the purposes of CELPS Policy PG3, or the Framework test at paragraph 
154 (e) or (g).  
 

10.29. Therefore, again when judged against the wording of both local (PG3) and national policy 
(para 154), the proposal still represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
 
Identifying grey belt:  
 

10.30. However, Paragraph 155 of the Framework now identifies further circumstances where 
development is not inappropriate in the Green Belt. Paragraph 155 states that: -  

 
“Development of homes should not be regarded as inappropriate where: -  
(a) the development would utilise grey belt land and would not fundamentally undermine 
the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan;  
(b) there is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed; 
(c) the development would be in a sustainable location, with particular reference to 
paragraphs 110 and 115 of the Framework; and  
(d) where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements set 
out in Framework paragraphs 156-157.” 

 
10.31. It is acknowledged that CELPS Policy PG3 would usually be a key policy for determining 

the appropriateness of development in the Green Belt, however the policy is no longer 
consistent with the NPPF as it does not include ‘grey belt’ in the list of exceptions. See 
above. However, Paragraph 225 of the Framework states that due weight should be given 
to policies according to their degree of consistency with the Framework. 
 
Identifying grey belt (purposes a, b and d) 
 

10.32. The NPPF defines ‘Grey Belt’ in Annex 2 as: -  
 
Grey belt: For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined as 
land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land that, in 
either case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in paragraph 
143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the policies relating to the areas or 
assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason for refusing or 
restricting development. 

 
10.33. The application site in this case would constitute ‘other land’. 

 
10.34. Whether the site should be classed as ‘grey belt’ is based on an assessment of how that 

site contributes to the purpose (a), (b) or (d) of the Green Belt as defined by paragraph 143 
of the NPPF. 

 

Page 97



 

 

 

• Purpose (a) is – ‘to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas’; 
 

• Purpose (b) is – ‘to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another’; and 
 

• Purpose (d) is – ‘to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns’. 
 

10.35. With regards to ‘Purpose A’ (sprawl), the application site is on the edge of Poynton, a large 
built-up area in the context of Purpose (a). The site is bound by some existing development 
as with the approved development nearby. Development of this site would not extend into 
open land. The site is not free of existing development on its boundaries, with buildings 
immediately adjacent to the north, east and south. Physical features restrict development, 
including the access track, existing buildings, and field track and fields. Development would 
not result in an incongruous pattern given the existing cluster of development. The site does 
not strongly contribute to checking unrestricted sprawl because it is near development and 
features which restrict sprawl, it is not free of development on its boundaries, and strong 
boundaries prevent sprawl beyond the site. The site therefore passes the Purpose (a) test 
for grey belt. 
 

10.36. With regard to ‘Purpose B’ (towns merging), the nearest settlement to Poynton is Woodford 
to the west, which is a village rather than a town. The site does not lie in a gap between 
towns. Development of this site would have no effect on any separation between towns. 
The site does not strongly contribute to preventing neighbouring towns merging because it 
does not lie in a gap between towns. The site therefore passes the Purpose (b) test for grey 
belt. 
 

10.37. Finally, in regard to ‘Purpose D’ (character) of the Green Belt, this relates to preserve the 
setting and special character of historic towns. It is considered that the contribution that the 
land subject to the application makes to the special character of historic towns is ‘Weak’. 
Poynton has some historic origins, but the application site is located on the edge of Poynton 
in an area characterized by 20th century development including modern housing, a primary 
school, and commercial garden centre buildings. The site is not within or adjacent to any 
conservation areas and is not in a location that contributes to views of or the setting of any 
historic core. The site does not strongly contribute to preserving the setting of historic towns. 
The site therefore passes the Purpose (d) test for grey belt. 
 
Identifying grey belt – Footnote 7 

 
10.38. Footnote 7 identifies protected areas or assets of particular importance, where the overall 

scale, type or distribution of development can be restricted. 
 

10.39. Footnote 7 reads as:  
 

Footnote 7:  The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in 
development plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 194) 
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, 
Local Green Space, a National Landscape, a National Park (or within the Broads Authority) 
or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage assets (and other 
heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); and areas at risk of 
flooding or coastal change. 

 
10.40. None of the areas or assets listed in footnote 7 apply to the application site. 

 
Identifying Grey Belt – Conclusions 

Page 98



 

 

 

 
10.41. The application proposals are deemed to meet this key test as to whether a site represents 

Grey Belt in that the site is not considered to ‘strongly’ contribute to either purposes a, b or 
d. 
 

10.42. It is not considered that the application site falls within any of the policies, areas nor assets 
in footnote 7 that would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting development. 
 
Grey belt and fundamentally undermine purposes of Green Belt (155a) 
 

10.43. Given the above, the impact of the scheme at a site-specific level would be very limited. 
However, the key consideration is whether there would be a fundamental impact on the 
remaining Green Belt across the plan area of Cheshire East as a whole.  
 

10.44. The use of this modest site for a minor development of a dwelling would not affect the ability 
of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan from serving all five of the Green 
Belt purposes in a meaningful way for the purposes of paragraph 155(a) of the Framework. 
 
Unmet Need (155b)  
 

10.45. The application proposes the erection of a dwellings. 
 

10.46. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy was adopted on the 27 July 2017 and forms part of 
the statutory development plan. The plan sets out the overall strategy for the pattern, scale 
and quality of development, and makes sufficient provision for housing (36,000 new 
dwellings over the plan period, equating to 1,800 dwellings per annum) in order to meet the 
objectively assessed needs of the area.  
 

10.47. As the plan is more than five years old, deliverable housing land supply is measured using 
the local housing need figure (plus 5% buffer), which is currently 2,603 dwellings per year 
rather than the LPS figure of 1,800 dwellings per year.  
 

10.48. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies the circumstances in which 
relevant development plan policies should be considered out-of-date. These include: 

• Where a local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (with appropriate buffer) or: 

• Where the Housing Delivery Test Measurement indicates that the delivery of housing 
was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing required over the previous three 
years. 

 
10.49. In accordance with the NPPF, the council produces an annual update of housing delivery 

and housing land supply. The council’s most recent Housing Monitoring Update (base date 
31 March 2024) was published in April 2025. The published report identifies a deliverable 
five-year housing land supply of 10,011 dwellings which equates to a 3.8-year supply 
measured against the five-year local housing need figure of 13,015 dwellings. 

 
10.50. The 2023 Housing Delivery Test Result was published by the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing & Communities on the 12 December 2024 and this confirms a Housing Delivery 
Test Result of 262%. Housing delivery over the past three years (7,392 dwellings) has 
exceeded the number of homes required (2,820). The publication of the HDT result affirms 
that the appropriate buffer to be applied to the calculation of housing land supply in 
Cheshire East is 5%.  

 

Page 99



 

 

 

10.51. In the context of five-year housing land supply, relevant policies concerning the supply of 
housing should be considered out-of-date and consequently the ‘tilted balance’ at 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. 

 
10.52. As such, the proposals would be acceptable under paragraph 155(b) as the type of 

development proposed is housing, and there currently is an unmet need for housing in 
Cheshire East. 
 
Sustainable location (155c):  

 
10.53. The Framework is clear that, when reviewing Green Belt boundaries, the need to promote 

sustainable patterns of development should determine whether a site’s location would be 
appropriate for the kind of development proposed. Similarly, when making decisions 
regarding planning applications on grey belt land, authorities should ensure that the 
development would be in a sustainable location. For the purpose of these decisions, where 
grey belt land is not in a location that is or can be made sustainable, development on this 
land is inappropriate. 

 
10.54. Whether locations are sustainable should be determined in light of local context and site or 

development-specific considerations. However, in reaching these judgements, national 
policy is clear that authorities should consider opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions, as set out in paragraphs 110 and 115 of the NPPF. 

 
10.55. Paragraph 110 of the Framework seeks to actively manage patterns of growth to support 

the objectives in Paragraph 109 of the Framework. In this instance, the most relevant 
objective in Paragraph 109 (when considering whether the development would be in a 
sustainable location for the purposes of Paragraph 155 of the Framework) is pursuing 
opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport using a vision-led approach.      
 

10.56. This objective needs to be considered in the context that Paragraph 110 also states that 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport will vary between urban and rural areas. 
 

10.57. In other words, some allowance should be made for a site’s rural location. However, that 
does not mean that all sites in rural areas should be considered equally. Some will be better 
placed for development than others when considering access to services and facilities. 
 

10.58. The Development Plan of Cheshire East sets out what can be described as a vision-led 
approach to the sustainable location of development through a spatial strategy. It seeks to 
direct development to built-up areas with the precise location depending on accessibility to 
facilities by suitable travel modes. Thus, the development plan identifies sustainable 
locations for development through Policies MP1 and PG1.  
 

10.59. The site is in a sustainable location with Lostock Hall Primary School adjacent, Poynton 
town centre accessible via footpaths providing shops, services, employment and 
healthcare, bus stops providing regular services, Poynton railway station within reasonable 
distance providing services to Manchester and Stockport, primary and secondary schools 
within walking distance, and recreation facilities nearby.  
 

10.60. The November 2024 appeal decision and October 2025 planning permission both accepted 
that the site locationally sustainable in the round. 
 

Page 100



 

 

 

10.61. Given the above, the site is a sustainable location for the purposes of meeting Paragraph 
155(c) of the Framework with due regard given to paragraphs 110 and 115 of the 
Framework and the PPG. 
 
Golden Rules 155d 
 

10.62. NPPF Paragraph 155 (d), states that ‘Where applicable, the development proposed meets 
the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements set out in paragraphs 156 and 157 below.’ 
 

10.63. Paragraph 156 states: - 
 

‘Where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed on land released 
from the Green Belt through plan preparation or review, or on sites in the Green Belt subject 
to a planning application, the following contributions (‘Golden Rules’) should be made: 
a. affordable housing which reflects either: (i) development plan policies produced in 

accordance with paragraphs 67-68 of this Framework; or (ii) until such policies are 
in place, the policy set out in paragraph 157 below; 

b. necessary improvements to local or national infrastructure; and  
c. the provision of new, or improvements to existing, green spaces that are accessible 

to the public. New residents should be able to access good quality green spaces 
within a short walk of their home, whether through onsite provision or through access 
to offsite spaces.”  

 
10.64. As this application does not meet the criteria of a ‘major’ development, none of the Golden 

Rules apply. 
 
Green Belt Conclusion 
 

10.65. The site does not make a strong contribution to purposes a), b) or d) of the Green Belt as 
set out at paragraph 143 of the Framework and therefore comprises ‘Grey Belt’ land. The 
development of the site would not fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) 
of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan. The Council cannot currently 
demonstrate a five-year supply of housing and there is a demonstrable unmet need for the 
type of development proposed.  The development would be in a sustainable location having 
regard to paragraphs 110 and 115 of the Framework.  The proposed scheme is not major 
development and therefore is not required to meet the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements set out 
in paragraphs 156-157 of the Framework.  
 

10.66. It has been demonstrated above that the site and proposals would meet the requirements 
of paragraph 155 of the Framework, therefore the proposed delivery of housing on the site 
should not be regarded as inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
 
Land Use 

 
10.67. The proposed land use is for residential purposes.  

 
10.68. The Local Planning Authority are keen to make sure that new residential development 

creates satisfactory living environments for both new and existing residents. Therefore, we 
need to look at any ‘in principle constrains’ the site has for a residential use. 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



 

 

 

Highway Access, Safety and Parking Provision 
 

10.69. CELPS Policy CO1 deals with Sustainable Travel and Transport. It seeks to encourage a 
shift away from car travel to public transport, cycling and walking.   SADPD Policy INF3 
relates to highway safety and access. 
 

10.70. It sets out the circulation and access criteria for new development. This includes amongst 
other matters, the provision of adequate visibility splays, manoeuvring vehicles and 
emergency vehicles. 
 

10.71. There is sufficient space within the site for off-street parking provision to be in accordance 
with CEC parking standards for one dwelling.  
 

10.72. The Council Head of Strategic Transport has stated that in principle, one dwelling is likely 
to be acceptable depending on the access design. Lostock Hall Road is a private single 
lane track where the site is located. 
 
Ecology  
 

10.73. CELPS Policy SE3 deals with biodiversity and geodiversity. It seeks to protect areas of high 
biodiversity and geodiversity. It also requires all development to aim to positively contribute 
to the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity.   
 

10.74. The site is not covered by a statutory or non-statutory nature conservation designation. The 
proposed works are unlikely to have an impact on any statutory nature designated sites, 
including SSSI’s and RAMSAR sites. The Council’s Ecologist has therefore advised that 
there are no ecological constraints to warrant withholding a permission in principle for this 
application. 
 
Arboricultural Implications  
 

10.75. CELPS Policy SE5 relates to Trees Hedgerows and Woodland. It seeks to protect trees 
hedgerows and woodlands, that provide a significant contribution to the amenity, 
biodiversity, landscape character, or historic character of a surrounding area. SADPD Policy 
ENV6, seeks to protect trees and woodlands worthy of formal protection from development 
unless certain circumstances apply. 
 

10.76. Although no arboricultural information was submitted with the application, it can be seen 
that the application site was heavily treed. 
 

10.77. Whilst this would not preclude the possibility of a residential scheme being acceptable on 
the site, this may constrain the design and amount of any dwellings provided. 
 
Amenity 
 

10.78. SADPD Policy HOU12 states that development proposals should not significantly injure the 
amenities of adjoining or nearby residential properties through loss of privacy, loss of 
sunlight/daylight, visual intrusion, noise and disturbance and traffic generation. SADPD 
Policy HOU13 sets out guidelines of space between buildings. 
 

10.79. A residential use which is compatible with the mainly residential surroundings. Although 
there is farm land in close proximity of the site, there are numerous other dwellings in close 

Page 102



 

 

 

proximity that are already affected by the general noise, disturbance and odours of living 
next to such buildings.  
 

10.80. The proposal would provide adequate separation distances to existing properties with a 
generous garden for the proposed dwelling. No loss of light, privacy or overlooking issues 
are anticipated, with these matters to be addressed in detail at Technical Details Consent 
stage. 
 

10.81. As such, the proposed land use is acceptable in principle. 
 
Flood Risk   
 

10.82. CELPS Policy SE13 (Flood Risk and Water Management) states that “all planning 
applications for development at risk of flooding are supported by an appropriate Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) to demonstrate that development proposals will not increase flood risk 
on site or elsewhere and opportunities to reduce the risk of flooding are sought, taking into 
account the impacts of Climate Change in line with the Cheshire East SFRA”. SADPD 
Policies ENV16 (Surface water management and flood risk) and ENV17 (Protecting water 
resources) also seek to manage surface water drainage effectively and reduce the risk of 
flooding elsewhere, and also to ensure development proposals will not have a detrimental 
impact on the flow or quality of groundwater or surface water. 
 

10.83. It is noted that the LLFA and United Utilities have not found any reason to object to this 
application, subject to a planning condition to submit a drainage strategy before 
development commences. This of course can be provided at the technical consent stage.  
 

10.84. The site is not within a Flood Risk Zone, and is not at risk of surface water flooding. United 
Utilities have commented that they will make another recommendation if a subsequent 
application is submitted at the Technical Detail Consent stage. They have requested further 
information regarding sustainable drainage systems. The previous comments apply. 
 
Contamination 
 

10.85. CELPS Policy SE12 (Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability) states that “The 
council will seek to ensure all development is located and designed so as not to result in a 
harmful or cumulative impact upon air quality, surface water and groundwater, noise, smell, 
dust, vibration, soil contamination, light pollution or any other pollution which would 
unacceptably affect the natural and built environment, or detrimentally affect amenity or 
cause harm”. 
 

10.86. The application is for a proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the presence 
of contamination. Residential properties are a sensitive end use and could be affected by 
any contamination present or brought onto the site.  
 

10.87. Given the history of the site, significant contamination is unlikely, to warrant an objection to 
a residential use at this stage.  Any Technical Matters Consent would need to address 
contamination risks. 
 
Public Rights of Way 
 

10.88. SADPD Policy INF1 relates to cycleways, bridleways and footpaths. National planning 
policy highlights that the transport system needs to be balanced in favour of sustainable 

Page 103



 

 

 

transport modes, giving people a real choice about how they travel. It also says that 
planning policies should protect and enhance public rights of way and access. 
 

10.89. The property is adjacent to public footpath Poynton with Worth No. 70 as recorded on the 
Definitive Map. PROWs are of course, protected, and it appears unlikely that the proposal 
would affect the public right of way. This matter could be further examined at the Technical 
Matters Consent stage. 
 
Manchester Airport (Aerodrome Safeguarding) 
 

10.90. SADPD Policy GEN5 relates to aerodrome safeguarding. Development that would 
adversely affect the operational integrity or safety of any officially safeguarded civil 
aerodrome or associated aerodrome navigation aids, radio aids or telecommunications 
systems will not be permitted. 
 

10.91. The proposed development has not been examined against aerodrome safeguarding 
measures. The assessment of any not conflict with any safeguarding criteria would be 
undertaken during the Technical Matters Consent stage.  
 
Land Use Summary  
 

10.92. Having regard to the above, the land use elements of the permission in principle scheme 
are deemed to be acceptable 
 
Amount  

 
10.93. This proposal seeks to bring forward a dwelling on this site of 0.6 hectares, giving an overall 

density of 16 dwellings per hectare. 
 

10.94. SADPD Policy HOU14 (Housing Density) states that “residential development proposals 
will generally be expected to achieve a net density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare”.  
Whilst this target is somewhat higher than that which is provided, it is considered to be an 
appropriate balance to making efficient use of land and preserving the local character. 
 

10.95. While detailed design is not for determination at Planning in Principle stage, the indicative 
proposals demonstrate that 1 dwelling can be accommodated without harm to character. 
The surrounding area comprises a mixture of residential properties, the primary school, and 
the garden centre commercial buildings. A single dwelling would sit comfortably within this 
context.  

 
11. PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION 

 
11.1. A Planning Authority must exercise its judgement and consider many (sometimes) 

conflicting issues to decide whether planning permission should be granted. This will mean 
examining the Development Plan and taking material considerations which apply to the 
proposal into account. These things must be properly considered otherwise the decision of 
whether or not to grant permission may be unlawful. 
 

11.2. The application proposals seek planning permission in principle for the development of a 
residential dwelling. 
 

11.3. The application site is within the Green Belt and is not previously developed. 
 

Page 104



 

 

 

11.4. The proposals are not considered to fall within the ‘limited infilling in villages’ exception to 
inappropriate development.  In consideration of the exception within paragraph 155 of the 
NPPF, that relating to grey belt, it is accepted that the application site represents grey belt 
land, it is also considered that the application site falls in a sustainable location. As such, it 
is also deemed that the proposals fall within the grey belt exception to inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. 
 

11.5. Given the statutory constraints of a permission in principle, it is considered that a residential 
scheme in principle (site location, the type and amount of development) could be provided 
on site. 
 

11.6. The Council current housing land supply position is 3.8 years. In an era of national, and in 
this instance, local housing shortages, the provision of a unit would assist in increasing the 
supply of housing across Cheshire East. These matters attract moderate weight in favour 
of the proposal.  
 

11.7. The impact of the development on residential amenity, noise, air quality, contaminated land, 
highways, ecology and drainage and flood risk would all be considered at the Technical 
Details Stage. 
 

11.8. The proposal would also provide economic benefits during the construction period. The 
future occupiers would also provide economic benefits to the nearby area once the 
development would be complete through their use of nearby shops and services. These 
matters attract limited yet additional positive weight. 
 

11.9. The benefits are that the development would provide an additional house and are a social 
benefit, considering the housing land supply shortfall. The benefits of the scheme also 
include investment in the local economy and the creation of jobs during the construction 
phase, increased support for local shops and businesses by the future occupants.  The 
scheme would generate Council Tax income, which could provide a source of revenue 
funding for the Local Authority in delivering services as well as investing in the locality. 
 

11.10. In the context of paragraph 11 of the Framework, the adverse impacts of the development 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole, including those 
seeking to boost the supply of homes, achieve well designed places and making effective 
use of land, would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Therefore, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development applies which points towards the grant 
of planning permission. 
 

11.11. For the reasons set out above, and having taken account of all matters raised, it is 
recommended that this application is approved. 
 

11.12. It is not possible for conditions to be attached to a grant of permission in principle, and its 
terms may only include the site location, the type of development and amount of 
development. The PPG advises that where permission in principle is granted by application, 
the default duration of that permission is 3 years. Planning obligations (S.106 Legal 
Agreements) cannot be secured at the permission in principle stage. 
 

 
12. RECOMMENDATION 

 
Approve permission in principle 

 

Page 105



 

 

 

 
 
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such 
as to delete, vary or add Conditions / Informatives / Planning Obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Strategic Planning Board, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision. 

 

  

Page 106



 

 

 

 

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

25/4184/PIP 

Land At Lostock Hall Road,  

Poynton 

 

P
age 109



Supplied by Streetwise Maps Ltd
www.streetwise.net

Licence No: 100047474

AREA 4 HA

CENTRE COORDINATES:

SCALE: 1:1250 on A4

390786 383352,

SITE LOCATION PLAN

12:06:23 29/10/2025

Page 110

info
Polygon

info_1
Text Box
Land at Lostock Hall Road, Poynton

Location for one dwelling edged in red 




 

 

 

Application No: 25/3963/PIP 

Application Type: Permission in Principle 

Location: Caudebec Congleton Road, Alderley Edge, Cheshire East, SK9 7AL 

Proposal: Permission in principle for the construction of up to 2 dwellings   

Applicant: Mr Andrew O'Dua, White Pennant Limited 

Expiry Date: 19 November 2025 

 

Summary 
 

• The application proposals seek permission in principle for the development of up to two 
residential dwellings. 
 

• The proposals are not considered to fall within the ‘limited infilling in villages’ exception 
to inappropriate development.  

 

• In consideration of the exception within paragraph 155 of the NPPF, that relating to grey 
belt, it is accepted that the application site represents grey belt land, it is also considered 
that the application site falls in a sustainable location.  

 

• Given the statutory constraints of a permission in principle, it is considered that a 
residential scheme in principle (site location, the type and amount of development) could 
be provided on site. 

 

• The presumption in favour of sustainable development applies which points towards the 
grant of planning permission. 

 
Summary recommendation 
 
Approve 

 
1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
1.1. The application relates to a significant departure from Cheshire East’s Local Plan Policies, 

which the Head of Planning is minded to approve, and under the terms of the Constitution 
it is required to be determined by the Northern Planning Committee. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 

 
2.1. The site lies to the south of Alderley Edge and extends to 0.45 hectares of residential 

garden land fronting Congleton Road to the west. 
 

2.2. The immediate area is characterised by a ribbon of development or residential development 
along Congleton Road. The site has existing access from Congleton Road via an existing 
gate. The site and its surrounds are washed over by a Green Belt designation and for the 
purposes of the Local Plan, the land is within the open countryside. 
 

  

Page 111 Agenda Item 9



 

 

 

3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 

3.1. The application proposals seek permission in principle for the development of up to two 
residential dwellings. 

 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1. Following a review of the Council’s records, the relevant planning history for the dwelling 

known as Caudebec, is considered as follows: 
 

4.1.1. 07/3145P: Redevelopment of site to provide two residential units and garages 
following demolition of two residential units and garages – Approved 16 April 2008; 
 

4.1.2. 08/1900P: Demolition of sunroom extension, erection of single storey extension 
and external alterations – Approved 17 October 2008; 
 

4.1.3. 11/0227M: Orangery style kitchen extension with roof lantern and bi-fold doors – 
Approved 19 April 2011; 
 

4.1.4. 11/4359M: Side extension to existing dwelling to link main dwelling to ancillary 
annexe to create one dwelling without annexe – Approved 25 January 2012; 
 

4.1.5. 17/00116M: Alterations/extension to existing dwelling and annex building. 
Proposed stable block and menage, external works including new access 
road/hardstanding and associated landscaping – Approved 3 May 2017; 
 

4.1.6. 18/0684M: Proposed alterations to dwelling, and single storey side and first floor 
rear extensions; proposed menage; stable block; external works including new 
driveway, hardstanding areas, tennis court and landscaping (amendments to 
17/0116M) – Approved 15 May 2018; 
 

4.1.7. 18/3351D: Discharge of condition 06 on 18/0684M – Approved 13 July 2018; 
 

4.1.8. 18/3652D: Discharge of conditions 07 and 08 on 18/0684M – Approved 13 August 
2018; and  
 

4.1.9. 21/3927M: Two storey link extension between the main dwelling and ancillary 
outbuilding to provide additional living accommodation – approved 22 February 
2022. 

 
4.2. The site also partially overlaps the site of an application for two dwellings as set out below:- 

 
4.2.1. 21/3276M: Permission in Principle application for construction of two dwellings – 

Refused 2 December 2021.  
 

4.2.2. That appeal was dismissed on 20 May 2022, under reference 
APP/R0660/W/21/3288337.   
 

4.2.3. To summarise, the Inspector found that there was too much of a gap between the 
appeal site and further built form to the south, along Congleton Road, and as the 
appeal site was found to be at the end of a ribbon of development, the development 
would not be in ‘a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or a relatively small 
gap between existing buildings’ and would not be infill development.  

Page 112



 

 

 

5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 
 

5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 
March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies 
for England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications 
and the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be 
taken into account for the purposes of decision making. 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 

 
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 

planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) 
was adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was 
adopted in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this 
application are set out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where 
applicable to the application site. 

 
6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and Cheshire East 

Site Allocations and Development Plan Policies Document (SADPD) 

• MP1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

• PG1 Overall Development Strategy 

• PG2 Settlement Hierarchy 

• PG3 Green Belt  

• PG6 Open Countryside 

• PG7 Spatial Distribution of Development 

• SD1 Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 

• SD2 Sustainable Development Principles 

• IN1 Infrastructure 

• IN2 Developer Contributions 

• SC4 Residential Mix 

• SE1 Design 

• SE2 Efficient Use of Land 

• SE4 The Landscape 

• SE5 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 

• SE12 Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability 

• SE13 Flood Risk and Water Management 

• CO1 Sustainable Travel and Transport 

• CO4 Travel Plans and Transport Assessments 

• Appendix C Parking Standards 

• PG8 Development at local service centres 

• PG9 Settlement Boundaries 

• PG10 Infill villages 

• GEN1 Design principles 

• ENV1 Ecological network 

• ENV5 Landscaping 

• ENV6 Trees, hedgerows and woodland implementation 

• ENV16 Surface water management and flood risk 

• HOU1 Housing mix 

• HOU12 Amenity 

• HOU13 Residential standards 

Page 113



 

 

 

• HOU14 Housing density 

• HOU16 Small and medium sized sites 

• INF1 Cycleways, bridleways and footpaths 

• INF3 Highways safety and access 
 

6.3. Neighbourhood Plan 
 

6.4. The Nether Alderley Neighbourhood Plan has reached Regulations 17 and 18 Stage 
(Examination). The examination began on the 30 October 2025. Therefore, limited to 
moderate weight can be given to the policies within this NP. 

• HD1 Local Design and Character 

• LE2 The Countryside 

• H1 Housing to Address Local Needs 
 

7. Relevant supplementary planning documents or guidance 
 

7.1. Supplementary Planning Documents and Guidance do not form part of the Development 
Plan but may be a material consideration in decision making. The following documents are 
considered relevant to this application 
 

7.2. Cheshire East Design Guide. 
 

8. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 
 

8.1. Nether Alderley Parish Council – The Parish Council has previously objected to an 
application on this site and we also object to this one. It is not infilling development, being 
at the end of a long stretch of ribbon development. It is close to the difficult junction at Welsh 
Row, and, above all, it is in the Green Belt. We do not consider this development to be grey 
belt and ask that it be refused. 

 
8.2. Highways – No objections but raised concerns regarding the access. 

 
8.3. Environmental Health – No objection. 

 
8.4. United Utilities – No objection. 

 
8.5. Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection. 

 
9. REPRESENTATIONS 

 
9.1. The application has been duly advertised by means of direct neighbour notification letters 

and site notice. 
 

9.2. Two letters of representation have been received, and their comments can be summarised 
as follows: - 

• Lack of details 

• Not eligible to be a PIP 

• Increased Traffic and Highway Safety Concerns 

• Increased Noise Pollution 

• Increased Light Pollution 

• Loss and Destruction of Habitat 

• Increased Litter and Environmental Degradation 

• Impact on Rural Character  

Page 114



 

 

 

10. OFFICER APPRAISAL  
 

Preliminary Matters: 
 

10.1. The proposal is for permission in principle (PIP). The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
advises that this is an alternative way of obtaining planning permission for housing-led 
development.  
 

10.2. The permission in principle consent route has two stages: the first stage (or PIP stage) 
establishes whether a site is suitable in-principle and the second (‘technical details 
consent’) stage is when the detailed proposals are assessed. This appeal relates to the first 
of these 2 stages. 
 

10.3. The scope of the considerations for permission in principle is limited to location, land use 
and the amount of development permitted. All other matters are considered as part of a 
subsequent Technical Details Consent (TDC) application if permission in principle is 
granted.  
 

10.4. The Local Planning Authority may not grant Permission in Principle for a major 
development. Major development, in the case of Permission in Principle are applications 
where the number of houses is 10 or more, the floor space created is 1,000m2 or more, or 
the development is carried out on a site having an area of 1 hectare or more.  
 

10.5. In this case the development is for two units, and the red line site has an area of less than 
1 hectare (0.45ha). The floor-space to be created is unknown at this stage but would need 
to be assessed at the Technical Details stage. 
 

10.6. Therefore, the main issue is whether the site is suitable for residential development, having 
regard to its location, the proposed land use and amount of development. 
 
Location  

 
10.7. The site is located within the Green Belt. 

 
Inappropriate development  

 
10.8. The Framework identifies that the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban 

sprawl by keeping land permanently open, with the essential characteristics of the Green 
Belt being their openness and permanence.  
 

10.9. The Framework goes on to state that inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful 
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances. 
 

10.10. Policy PG3 of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2017 (CELPS) seeks to protect the 
Cheshire East Green Belt. In that respect, its aims are broadly consistent with the 
Framework.  
 

10.11. The Framework further establishes that the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt 
should be regarded as inappropriate, subject to a number of exceptions as set out in 
paragraphs 154 and 155. CELPS Policy PG3 lists similar exceptions.  
 
 

  

Page 115



 

 

 

 
 

10.12. The 2021 refusal on the site and subsequent appeal were assessed against a previous 
iteration of the NPPF. However, it is again considered that there is too much of a gap 
between the site and further built form to the south, along Congleton Road, and as the site 
is at the end of a ribbon of development. Therefore, the development would still not be in 
‘a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or a relatively small gap between existing 
buildings’ and would not be infill development for the purposes of CELPS Policy PG3(3v), 
or the Framework test at paragraph 154(e). 
 

10.13. The proposals would also not be considered limited infilling or the partial or complete 
redevelopment of previously developed land for the purposes of the Framework test at 
paragraph 154(g).  
 
Identifying grey belt:  
 

10.14. However, Paragraph 155 of the Framework now identifies further circumstances where 
development is not inappropriate in the Green Belt. Paragraph 155 states that: -  

 
“Development of homes should not be regarded as inappropriate where: -  
(a) the development would utilise grey belt land and would not fundamentally undermine 
the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan;  
(b) there is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed; 
(c) the development would be in a sustainable location, with particular reference to 
paragraphs 110 and 115 of the Framework; and  
(d) where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements 
set out in Framework paragraphs 156-157.” 

 
10.15. It is acknowledged that CELPS Policy PG3 would usually be a key policy for determining 

the appropriateness of development in the Green Belt, however the policy is no longer 
consistent with the NPPF as it does not include ‘grey belt’ in the list of exceptions. See 
above. However, Paragraph 225 of the Framework states that due weight should be given 
to policies according to their degree of consistency with the Framework. 
 
Identifying grey belt - purposes a, b and d 
 

10.16. The NPPF defines ‘Grey Belt’ in Annex 2 as: -  
 
Grey belt: For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined 
as land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other land 
that, in either case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b), or (d) in 
paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the policies relating to 
the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would provide a strong reason 
for refusing or restricting development. 

 
10.17. The application site in this case would constitute ‘other land’. 

 
10.18. Whether the site should be classed as ‘grey belt’ is based on an assessment of how that 

site contributes to the purpose (a), (b) or (d) of the Green Belt as defined by paragraph 143 
of the NPPF. 

 

• Purpose (a) is – ‘to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas’; 

• Purpose (b) is – ‘to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another’; and 

Page 116



 

 

 

• Purpose (d) is – ‘to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns’. 
 

10.19. With regards to ‘Purpose A’ (sprawl), it is accepted that the 2015 Green Belt Assessment 
concludes that the wider area makes a significant contribution to purpose (a).  However, 
when assessed against the guidance in the PPG, the proposed development site is minor 
in scale at 0.45 hectares and contained within the curtilage of Caudebec, and its use would 
not make a harmful contribution to urban sprawl. 

 
10.20. Furthermore, the 2015 Green Belt assessment identifies that: “the area is well contained 

by the A357, the A358 and the A34 which form strong boundaries; this has contained 
development in Alderley Edge, Prestbury, and the northwest area of Macclesfield”. 
 

10.21. The application site is retained within these strong highway boundaries and does not 
breach them. Further, the site is enclosed by highways to the west (Congleton Road) and 
to the south (Artists Lane), a Public Right of Way to the east and the host dwelling of 
Caudebec to the north. It is agreed that development of the site would not allow any more 
sprawl outside of the residential enclave of Caudebec. 
 

10.22. With regard to ‘Purpose B’ (towns merging), the 2015 CEC Green Belt Assessment 
concludes that the wider parcel of land makes a significant contribution to this purpose as 
the general area assists in preventing settlements from merging including Prestbury and 
Macclesfield. The NPPG now confirms that this purpose relates to the merging of towns 
and not villages. The land does not form part of a gap between towns. 
 

10.23. Finally, in regard to ‘Purpose D’ (character) of the Green Belt, this relates to preserve the 
setting and special character of historic towns. It is considered that the contribution that the 
land subject to the application makes to the special character of historic towns is ‘Weak’. 
This is because of how far away the application site is to Alderley Edge subsequently having 
no visual, physical, or experiential connection to the historic aspects of the town. 
 
Identifying Grey Belt – Footnote 7 

 
10.24. Footnote 7 identifies protected areas or assets of particular importance, where the overall 

scale, type or distribution of development can be restricted. 
 

10.25. Footnote 7 reads as: - 
 

Footnote 7:  The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in 
development plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 194) 
and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, 
Local Green Space, a National Landscape, a National Park (or within the Broads 
Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; designated heritage 
assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote 75); 
and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change. 

 
10.26.  None of the areas or assets listed in footnote 7 apply to the application site. 

 
Identifying Grey Belt – Conclusions 
 

10.27. The application site is deemed to meet this key test as to whether a site represents grey 
belt in that the site is not considered to ‘strongly’ contribute to either purposes a, b or d.  It 
is not considered that the application site falls within any of the policies, areas nor assets 
in footnote 7 that would provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting development. 

Page 117



 

 

 

 
Grey belt and fundamentally undermine purposes of Green Belt (155a) 
 

10.28. Given the above, the impact of the scheme at a site-specific level would be very limited. 
However, the key consideration is whether there would be a fundamental impact on the 
remaining Green Belt across the plan area of Cheshire East as a whole.  
 

10.29. The use of this modest site for a minor development of up to two dwellings would not affect 
the ability of the remaining Green Belt across the area of the plan from serving all five of 
the Green Belt purposes in a meaningful way for the purposes of paragraph 155(a) of the 
Framework. 
 
Unmet Need (155b)  
 

10.30. The application proposes the erection of up to two dwellings. 
 

10.31. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy was adopted on the 27 July 2017 and forms part of 
the statutory development plan. The plan sets out the overall strategy for the pattern, scale 
and quality of development, and makes sufficient provision for housing (36,000 new 
dwellings over the plan period, equating to 1,800 dwellings per annum) in order to meet the 
objectively assessed needs of the area.  
 

10.32. As the plan is more than five years old, deliverable housing land supply is measured using 
the local housing need figure (plus 5% buffer), which is currently 2,603 dwellings per year 
rather than the LPS figure of 1,800 dwellings per year.  
 

10.33. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) identifies the circumstances in which 
relevant development plan policies should be considered out-of-date. These include: 

• Where a local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites (with appropriate buffer) or: 

• Where the Housing Delivery Test Measurement indicates that the delivery of housing 
was substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing required over the previous three 
years. 

 
10.34. In accordance with the NPPF, the council produces an annual update of housing delivery 

and housing land supply. The council’s most recent Housing Monitoring Update (base date 
31 March 2024) was published in April 2025. The published report identifies a deliverable 
five-year housing land supply of 10,011 dwellings which equates to a 3.8-year supply 
measured against the five-year local housing need figure of 13,015 dwellings. 

 
10.35. The 2023 Housing Delivery Test Result was published by the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing & Communities on the 12 December 2024 and this confirms a Housing Delivery 
Test Result of 262%. Housing delivery over the past three years (7,392 dwellings) has 
exceeded the number of homes required (2,820). The publication of the HDT result affirms 
that the appropriate buffer to be applied to the calculation of housing land supply in 
Cheshire East is 5%.  

 
10.36. In the context of five-year housing land supply, relevant policies concerning the supply of 

housing should be considered out-of-date and consequently the ‘tilted balance’ at 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF is engaged. 

 

Page 118



 

 

 

10.37. As such, the proposals would be acceptable under paragraph 155 (b) as the type of 
development proposed is housing, and there currently is an unmet need for housing in 
Cheshire East. 
 
Sustainable location (155c) 

 
10.38. The Framework is clear that, when reviewing Green Belt boundaries, the need to promote 

sustainable patterns of development should determine whether a site’s location would be 
appropriate for the kind of development proposed. Similarly, when making decisions 
regarding planning applications on grey belt land, authorities should ensure that the 
development would be in a sustainable location. For the purpose of these decisions, where 
grey belt land is not in a location that is or can be made sustainable, development on this 
land is inappropriate. 

 
10.39. Whether locations are sustainable should be determined in light of local context and site or 

development-specific considerations. However, in reaching these judgements, national 
policy is clear that authorities should consider opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions, as set out in paragraphs 110 and 115 of the NPPF. 

 
10.40. Paragraph 110 of the Framework seeks to actively manage patterns of growth to support 

the objectives in Paragraph 109 of the Framework. In this instance, the most relevant 
objective in Paragraph 109 (when considering whether the development would be in a 
sustainable location for the purposes of Paragraph 155 of the Framework) is pursuing 
opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport using a vision-led approach.      
 

10.41. This objective needs to be considered in the context that Paragraph 110 also states that 
opportunities to maximise sustainable transport will vary between urban and rural areas. 
 

10.42. In other words, some allowance should be made for a site’s rural location. However, that 
does not mean that all sites in rural areas should be considered equally. Some will be better 
placed for development than others when considering access to services and facilities. 
 

10.43. The Development Plan of Cheshire East sets out what can be described as a vision-led 
approach to the sustainable location of development through a spatial strategy. It seeks to 
direct development to built-up areas with the precise location depending on accessibility to 
facilities by suitable travel modes. Thus, the development plan identifies sustainable 
locations for development through Policies MP1 and PG1.  
 

10.44. The site is within 1.2 km of the centre of Alderley Edge where there is a range of local 
shopping, leisure and service facilities, school and medical centre. Bus services run along 
Congleton Road within walking distance of the site. The closest train station is in Alderley 
Edge village centre.  
 

10.45. The centre of Alderley Edge is accessible on foot, either via Congleton Road which has a 
pedestrian footpath leading into Alderley Edge, or the public footpath running to the rear of 
the site to the east of Congleton Road. However, it must be acknowledged that walking 
conditions are not ideal, as there is no street lighting and pedestrians would have to manage 
a steep hill up into, and back from, the village. 
 

10.46. The Council have previously assessed the sustainability of the site and consider it to be in 
a village and ‘locationally sustainable in the round’.  
 

Page 119



 

 

 

10.47. Given the above, the site is considered to be a sustainable location for the purposes of 
meeting Paragraph 155(c) of the Framework with due regard given to paragraphs 110 and 
115 of the Framework and the PPG. 
 
Golden Rules 155d 
 

10.48. NPPF Paragraph 155 (d), states that ‘Where applicable, the development proposed meets 
the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements set out in paragraphs 156 and 157 below.’ 
 

10.49. Paragraph 156 states: 
 

‘Where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed on land released 
from the Green Belt through plan preparation or review, or on sites in the Green Belt subject 
to a planning application, the following contributions (‘Golden Rules’) should be made: 
a. affordable housing which reflects either: (i) development plan policies produced in 

accordance with paragraphs 67-68 of this Framework; or (ii) until such policies are 
in place, the policy set out in paragraph 157 below; 

b. necessary improvements to local or national infrastructure; and  
c. the provision of new, or improvements to existing, green spaces that are accessible 

to the public. New residents should be able to access good quality green spaces 
within a short walk of their home, whether through onsite provision or through access 
to offsite spaces.”  

 
10.50. As this application does not meet the criteria of a ‘major’ development, none of the Golden 

Rules apply. 
 
Green Belt Conclusion 
 

10.51. The site does not make a strong contribution to purposes a), b) or d) of the Green Belt as 
set out at paragraph 143 of the Framework and is not covered by the areas or assets listed 
in footnote 7 and therefore comprises ‘Grey Belt’ land. The development of the site would 
not fundamentally undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt 
across the area of the plan. The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply 
of housing and there is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed.  
The development would be in a sustainable location having regard to paragraphs 110 and 
115 of the Framework.  The proposed scheme is not major development and therefore is 
not required to meet the ‘Golden Rules’ requirements set out in paragraphs 156-157 of the 
Framework.  
 

10.52. It has been demonstrated above that the site and proposals would meet the requirements 
of paragraph 155 of the Framework, therefore the proposed delivery of housing on the site 
should not be regarded as inappropriate development in the Green Belt. 
 
Land Use 

 
10.53. The proposed land use is for residential purposes.  

 
10.54. The Local Planning Authority are keen to make sure that new residential development 

creates satisfactory living environments for both new and existing residents. Therefore, it is 
necessary to look at any ‘in principle constraints’ the site has for a residential use. 
 

  

Page 120



 

 

 

Highway Access, Safety and Parking Provision  
 

10.55. CELPS Policy CO1 deals with Sustainable Travel and Transport. It seeks to encourage a 
shift away from car travel to public transport, cycling and walking.   SADPD Policy INF3 
relates to highway safety and access. It sets out the circulation and access criteria for new 
development. This includes amongst other matters, the provision of adequate visibility 
splays, manoeuvring vehicles and emergency vehicles. 
 

10.56. There is sufficient space within the site for off-street parking provision to be in accordance 
with CEC parking standards for up to two dwellings.  
 

10.57. The Council Head of Strategic Transport has stated that a potential access to this site could 
be difficult in providing the necessary visibility splays without affecting the boundary 
trees/hedges. This would be assessed at the technical details stage, and if necessary, 
further consents could be withheld.  
 
Ecology 
 

10.58. CELPS Policy SE3 deals with biodiversity and geodiversity. It seeks to protect areas of high 
biodiversity and geodiversity. It also requires all development to aim to positively contribute 
to the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity.   
 

10.59. The site is not covered by a statutory or non-statutory nature conservation designation. The 
proposed works are unlikely to have an impact on any statutory nature designated sites, 
including SSSI’s and RAMSAR sites. The Council’s Ecologist has therefore advised that 
there are no ecological constraints to warrant withholding a permission in principle for this 
application. 
 
Arboricultural Implications 
 

10.60. CELPS Policy SE5 relates to Trees Hedgerows and Woodland. It seeks to protect trees 
hedgerows and woodlands, that provide a significant contribution to the amenity, 
biodiversity, landscape character, or historic character of a surrounding area. SADPD Policy 
ENV6, seeks to protect trees and woodlands worthy of formal protection from development 
unless certain circumstances apply. 
 

10.61. Although no arboricultural information was submitted with the application, it can be seen 
that the application site is heavily treed, and this is supported by formal submissions with 
previous applications on the site. 
 

10.62. Whilst this would not preclude the possibility of a residential scheme being acceptable on 
the site, this would constrain the design and amount of any dwellings provided. 
 
Amenity 
 

10.63. SADPD Policy HOU12 states that development proposals should not significantly injure the 
amenities of adjoining or nearby residential properties through loss of privacy, loss of 
sunlight/daylight, visual intrusion, noise and disturbance and traffic generation. SADPD 
Policy HOU13 sets out guidelines of space between buildings. 
 

10.64. A residential use which is compatible with the mainly residential surroundings. Although 
there is farm land in close proximity of the site, there are numerous other dwellings in close 

Page 121



 

 

 

proximity that are already affected by the general noise, disturbance and odours of living 
next to such buildings. As such, the proposed land use is acceptable in principle. 
 
Flood Risk 
 

10.65. CELPS Policy SE13 (Flood Risk and Water Management) states that “all planning 
applications for development at risk of flooding are supported by an appropriate Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) to demonstrate that development proposals will not increase flood risk 
on site or elsewhere and opportunities to reduce the risk of flooding are sought, taking into 
account the impacts of Climate Change in line with the Cheshire East SFRA”. SADPD 
Policies ENV16 (Surface water management and flood risk) and ENV17 (Protecting water 
resources) also seek to manage surface water drainage effectively and reduce the risk of 
flooding elsewhere, and also to ensure development proposals will not have a detrimental 
impact on the flow or quality of groundwater or surface water. 
 

10.66. It is noted that the LLFA and United Utilities have not found any reason to object to this 
application, subject to a planning condition to submit a drainage strategy before 
development commences. This of course can be provided at the technical consent stage.  
 

10.67. The site is not within a Flood Risk Zone, and is not at risk of surface water flooding, except 
for a 1 in 1000-year storm event. United Utilities have commented that they will make 
another recommendation if a subsequent application is submitted at the Technical Detail 
Consent stage. They have requested further information regarding sustainable drainage 
systems. The previous comments apply. 
 
Contamination 
 

10.68. CELPS Policy SE12 (Pollution, Land Contamination and Land Instability) states that “The 
council will seek to ensure all development is located and designed so as not to result in a 
harmful or cumulative impact upon air quality, surface water and groundwater, noise, smell, 
dust, vibration, soil contamination, light pollution or any other pollution which would 
unacceptably affect the natural and built environment, or detrimentally affect amenity or 
cause harm”. 
 

10.69. The application is for a proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the presence 
of contamination. Residential properties are a sensitive end use and could be affected by 
any contamination present or brought onto the site.  
 

10.70. Given the history of the site, significant contamination is unlikely, to warrant an objection to 
a residential use at this stage.  Any Technical Matters Consent would need to address 
contamination risks. 
 
Public Rights of Way 
 

10.71. SADPD Policy INF1 relates to cycleways, bridleways and footpaths. National planning 
policy highlights that the transport system needs to be balanced in favour of sustainable 
transport modes, giving people a real choice about how they travel. It also says that 
planning policies should protect and enhance public rights of way and access. 
 

10.72. The property is adjacent to public footpath Nether Alderley No. 7 as recorded on the 
Definitive Map. PROWs are of course, protected, and it appears unlikely that the proposal 
would affect the public right of way. This matter could be further examined at the Technical 
Matters Consent stage. 

Page 122



 

 

 

 
Manchester Airport (Aerodrome Safeguarding) 
 

10.73. SADPD Policy GEN5 relates to aerodrome safeguarding. Development that would 
adversely affect the operational integrity or safety of any officially safeguarded civil 
aerodrome or associated aerodrome navigation aids, radio aids or telecommunications 
systems will not be permitted. 
 

10.74. The proposed development has not been examined against aerodrome safeguarding 
measures. The assessment of any not conflict with any safeguarding criteria would be 
undertaken during the Technical Matters Consent stage.  
 
Land Use Summary 
 

10.75. Bearing the above in mind therefore, the land use elements of the permission in principle 
scheme are deemed to be acceptable 
 
Amount 

 
10.76. This proposal seeks to bring forward up to two dwellings on this site of 0.45 hectares, giving 

an overall density of 4 dwellings per hectare. 
 

10.77. SADPD Policy HOU14 (Housing Density) states that “residential development proposals 
will generally be expected to achieve a net density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare”.  
Whilst this target is somewhat higher than that which is provided, it is considered to be an 
appropriate balance to making efficient use of land and preserving the local character. 

 
10.78. The immediate area is characterised by a ribbon of development or residential development 

along Congleton Road. This assessment had been well established, as well by the 
applicant in their supporting evidence for their in-fill planning application in 2021. 
 

10.79. Given the existing tree cover within the site, the rather contrived red line plan, and that two 
dwellings are being proposed, it is considered that the most likely achievable layout or 
design would be a tandem form of development. This being with one dwelling to the front 
of the site, and the remaining dwelling being at the rear. 
 

10.80. Properties are generally set towards the back of long, narrow plots that are enhanced by 
well-established vegetation and mature trees which impart a distinctly sylvan quality on the 
area. Therefore, sensitive control is necessary to ensure that the character and amenity of 
the surrounding residential area is not damaged. 
 

10.81. However, the PIP is for ‘up to’ two dwellings, therefore the applicant may only come forward 
with a TDC for one dwelling, or a pair of semis at the rear of the site, or even a single 
building comprising two apartments. For these reasons, it is considered that a scheme 
comprising of up to two dwellings could be accommodated on this site in some 
configuration. If a form of development that is not deemed acceptable, (tandem 
development) that would adversely affect the character of the area, this could be 
resisted/negotiated during the TDC application 

 
  

Page 123



 

 

 

11. PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION 
 

11.1. A Planning Authority must exercise its judgement and consider many (sometimes) 
conflicting issues to decide whether planning permission should be granted. This will mean 
examining the Development Plan and taking material considerations which apply to the 
proposal into account. These things must be properly considered otherwise the decision of 
whether or not to grant permission may be unlawful. 
 

11.2. The application proposals seek planning permission in principle for the development of up 
to two residential dwellings. 
 

11.3. The application site is within the Green Belt and is not previously developed. 
 

11.4. The proposals are not considered to fall within the ‘limited infilling in villages’ exception to 
inappropriate development.  In consideration of the exception within paragraph 155 of the 
NPPF, that relating to grey belt, it is accepted that the application site represents grey belt 
land, it is also considered that the application site falls in a sustainable location. As such, it 
is also deemed that the proposals fall within the grey belt exception to inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. 
 

11.5. Given the statutory constraints of a permission in principle, it is considered that a residential 
scheme in principle (site location, the type and amount of development) could be provided 
on site. 
 

11.6. The Council current housing land supply position is 3.8 years. In an era of national, and in 
this instance, local housing shortages, the provision of two units would assist in increasing 
the supply of housing across Cheshire East. These matters attract moderate weight in 
favour of the proposal.  
 

11.7. The impact of the development on residential amenity, noise, air quality, contaminated land, 
highways, ecology and drainage and flood risk would all be considered at the Technical 
Details Stage. 
 

11.8. The proposal would also provide economic benefits during the construction period. The 
future occupiers would also provide economic benefits to the nearby area once the 
development would be complete through their use of nearby shops and services. These 
matters attract limited yet additional positive weight. 
 

11.9. The benefits are that the development would provide up to two additional houses and are 
a social benefit, considering the housing land supply shortfall. The benefits of the scheme 
also include investment in the local economy and the creation of jobs during the 
construction phase, increased support for local shops and businesses by the future 
occupants.  The scheme would generate Council Tax income, which could provide a source 
of revenue funding for the Local Authority in delivering services as well as investing in the 
locality. 
 

11.10. In the context of paragraph 11 of the Framework, the adverse impacts of the development 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole, including those 
seeking to boost the supply of homes, achieve well designed places and making effective 
use of land, would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits. Therefore, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development applies which points towards the grant 
of planning permission. 

 

Page 124



 

 

 

11.11. For the reasons set out above, and having taken account of all matters raised, it is 
recommended that this application is approved. 
 

11.12. It is not possible for conditions to be attached to a grant of permission in principle, and its 
terms may only include the site location, the type of development and amount of 
development. The PPG advises that where permission in principle is granted by application, 
the default duration of that permission is 3 years. Planning obligations (S.106 Legal 
Agreements) cannot be secured at the permission in principle stage. 

 
12. RECOMMENDATION 

 
Approve permission in principle 
 
In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such 
as to delete, vary or add Conditions / Informatives / Planning Obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Northern Planning Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s 
decision. 

 

  

Page 125



 

 

 

 

P
age 126



 

 

25/3963/PIP 

Caudebec Congleton Road,  

Alderley Edge, SK9 7AL 

 

P
age 127



Caudebec, Congleton Road, Alderley Edge, SK9 7AL

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025. OS AC0000813445

Plotted Scale - 1:1250. Paper Size - A4

P
age 128



Application No: 25/1197/FUL 

Application Type: Full Planning 

Location: Dawson Farm Buxton Road, Bosley, Macclesfield, Cheshire East, 
SK11 0PX 
 

Proposal: Demolition of existing agricultural buildings and dwellinghouse, and 
construction of new replacement dwellinghouse with associated 
renewables and landscaping.   
 

Applicant: Mr Alan Budden Eco Design Consultants,  

Expiry Date: 16 January 2026 

 

 

Summary 
 
The application has been submitted following the refusal of application reference 23/1174M 
which was not supported on the grounds that it would represent a materially larger 
replacement building in the Open Countryside, alongside design and landscape concerns. 
Due to the application being refused, a further reason for refusal was issued due to failure 
to accord with the Habitats Regulations.  
  
As submitted, the application has made a meaningful reduction in the amount of built form 
proposed, now resulting in a net reduction in built form (as opposed to a net increase as 
previously proposed). Combined with the reduced visual impact the development would 
have on the rural character of the Open Countryside and Local Landscape Designation, the 
proposal is considered to comply with the relevant design and landscape policies of the Local 
Plan. 
 
The proposed solar panel array has also been significantly reduced in scale compared to 
the previously refused scheme. The reduced scale of the solar panel array would still provide 
100% of the proposed dwellinghouse’s energy demand, with excess energy being returned 
to the grid for use elsewhere. This element of the proposal therefore carries significant 
positive weight with regard to renewable energy generation and energy security. 
 
With regard to protected species, all other reasons for refusal are considered to have been 
adequately addressed. As such, the three Habitat Regulations tests have been met and the 
third reason for refusal on the previous application has also been addressed. 
 
All other matters, including those relating to heritage, amenity, nature conservation, trees, 
highways, drainage and contamination are found to accord with the relevant policies of the 
local plan, subject to necessary conditions where needed. 
 
 
Summary recommendation 
 
APPROVE subject to following conditions 

 

1. REASON FOR REFERRAL 
 
1.1. The application is referred to the Northern Planning Committee due to the site area falling 

within the 1 – 4ha bracket (3.6 hectares) in accordance with the terms of the Council’s 
Constitution.  

Page 129 Agenda Item 10



  
1.2. The previous application for a similar development (23/1174M) was considered at Northern 

Planning Committee in April 2024 where a resolution was made to approve the application. 
As the resolution to approve represented a departure from the development plan, the 
application was subsequently referred to the Strategic Planning Board where the application 
was refused on the grounds of the replacement building being materially larger, the character 
and landscape impacts of the development, and the impact on bats. 

 
2. DESCRIPTION OF SITE AND CONTEXT 

 
2.1. The site comprises 3.6 hectares of land and buildings which form Dawsons Farm located 

within Bosley, to the northeast of Congleton. The farmstead is within an agricultural holding of 
around 36ha grazed by dairy cattle and accessed via a long track, (from the A54), which slopes 
upwards in a northerly direction leading to the brick farmhouse, brick barns and outbuildings 
and a range of modern agricultural buildings and sheds, totalling 9 buildings in all.  

 
2.2. The existing farmhouse sits at the northern end of the site. It is a two-storey building with a 

brick exterior, although parts have been rendered, with a stone slate roof. There is a single 
storey pitched roof outbuilding on the rear elevation, with a lean-to on the west gable, with this 
having a corrugated sheet roof and an open porch on the front elevation.  

 
2.3. The agricultural buildings are located to the south and east of the house and can be separated 

into two groups. Firstly, there are two traditional barns close to the house. The one to the south 
is a traditional brick barn with a stone slate roof, with a single storey outshot on the south 
elevation; this barn is to be retained in the proposed development for a bat roost. The second 
barn is a single storey building that runs north south to the east of the access road. The 
northern part of this is brick-built, with a blue clay tile roof, but the southern section is a later 
extension in a different, more modern brick and with a lower pitched roof clad with metal 
corrugated sheets. In addition to these buildings are several modern agricultural buildings and 
structures, built in a variety of materials, but primarily blockwork, grey brick, and metal and 
timber cladding located to the south and southeast of the farmhouse.  

 
2.4. Within the site land falls to the west and south and rises to the north and east, with a steep 

rise to the northeast to Sutton Common. There are no public rights of way close to the site 
with Bosley public right of way FP9 running approximately 200m away to the west. The site 
occupies an isolated position with scattered farmsteads in the surrounding area being over 
600m from the site.  

 
2.5. The application site benefits from established trees and boundary hedgerows across the site 

although none of these are afforded protection by a Tree Preservation Order and the site is 
not located within a Conservation Area.  

 
2.6. A habitat action plan woodland area lies immediately to the east of the site with a very small 

section falling within the red line.  
 
2.7. The site lies within the Open Countryside and within the Peak Park Fringe Local Landscape 

Designation Area. None of the buildings on site are listed and there are no nature designations 
on the site although it does fall within Natural England’s SSSI impact risk zones.  

 
2.8. The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and generally within in an area at very low risk from 

surface water flooding, with several small areas within high-risk areas to the north of the 
existing buildings. 

 
 
 

Page 130



 
3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSAL 
 
3.1. The application seeks planning permission for the “Demolition of existing agricultural buildings 

and dwellinghouse, and construction of new replacement dwellinghouse with associated 
renewables and landscaping”. The application is a resubmission of application ref 23/1174M 
which sought approval for a similar redevelopment of the site. Following this refusal, the 
proposal has been amended, with a key difference being a reduction in built form now resulting 
in a smaller dwellinghouse and a reduced number of solar panels compared to the previous 
scheme. 
  

3.2. The proposed dwellinghouse would be subterranean and would provide accommodation over 
three floors. Bedrooms and living spaces would be located on ground and first floor levels with 
garaging, storage and plant on the second floor (accessed from the rear). The dwellinghouse 
would be built to the Passivhaus Premium standard. 

 

3.3. The proposed development also includes the installation of a 260 solar panel array on a parcel 
of land to the east of the proposed dwellinghouse and existing building to be retained. This is 
a reduction from the 760 solar panels proposed as part of the previously refused application. 

 

3.4. The following plans and documents accompany the application: 
 

- Application Form 
- Planning Statement 
- Design and Access Statement 
- Environmental Statement 
- Existing and Proposed Plans 
- Landscape and Visual Appraisal Report 
- Photographs and Photomontages inc. Verified Views 
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
- Habitats Regulations Assessment Report 
- Bat Roost Assessment 
- Biodiversity Net Gain Statement and Metric 
- Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy 
- Ground Investigation Report 
- External Lighting Impact Assessment 
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment 

 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

 
4.1. 76825P – not decided – March 1994 

Agricultural workers dwelling 
 

4.2. 23/1174M – refused – April 2024 
Demolition of existing agricultural buildings and dwellinghouse, and construction of new 
replacement dwellinghouse with associated renewables and landscaping. 

 
5. NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY 

 
5.1. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published by the Government in 

March 2012 and has since been through several revisions. It sets out the planning policies for 
England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning applications and 
the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. The NPPF is a material consideration which should be taken into 
account for the purposes of decision making. 

Page 131



 
6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY 

 
6.1. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires decisions on 

planning applications to be made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (2010 – 2030) was 
adopted in July 2017. The Site Allocations and Development Policies Documents was adopted 
in December 2022. The policies of the Development Plan relevant to this application are set 
out below, including relevant Neighbourhood Plan policies where applicable to the application 
site. 

 
6.2. Relevant policies of the Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS) and Cheshire East Site 

Allocations and Development Plan Policies Document (SADPD) 
 

Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy (CELPS)  
 
MP 1 Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
PG 1 Overall Development Strategy 
PG 6 Open Countryside 
SD 1 Sustainable Development in Cheshire East 
SD 2 Sustainable Development Principles 
SC 3 Health and Well-being 
SE 1 Design 
SE 2 Efficient use of land 
SE 3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
SE 4 The Landscape 
SE 5 Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland 
SE 6 Green Infrastructure 
SE 7 The Historic Environment 
SE 8 Renewable and Low Carbon energy 
SE 9 Energy Efficient Development 
SE 12 Pollution, Land contamination and land instability 
SE 13 Flood risk and water management 
SE 15 Peak District National Park Fringe 
CO 1 Sustainable Travel and Transport 
 
Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) 
 
GEN 1 Design principles 
RUR 5 Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land  
RUR 12 Residential Curtilages outside of settlement boundaries 
RUR 13 Replacement Buildings outside of settlement boundaries 
ENV 1 Ecological Network 
ENV 2 Ecological implementation 
ENV 3 Landscape character  
ENV 5 Landscaping 
ENV 6 Trees, hedgerows and woodland implementation 
ENV 7 Climate Change 
ENV 10 Solar Energy 
ENV 12 Air quality 
ENV 14 Light pollution 
ENV 16 Surface water management and flood risk 
ENV 17 Protecting water resources 
HER 1 Heritage assets  
HER 7 Non designated Heritage Assets 

Page 132



HOU 8 Space Accessibility and wheelchair housing standards 
HOU 12 Amenity 
HOU 13 Residential Standards 
INF 1 Cycleways, bridleways and footpaths 
INF 3 Highways safety and access 
INF 6 Protection of existing and proposed infrastructure 
INF 9 Utilities 

 
7. CONSULTATIONS (External to Planning) 

 
7.1. Environmental Protection – No objection, subject to conditions relating to the management 

of contaminated land before and during construction. 
  

7.2. Highways – No objection. Access, car parking and highway impacts are considered to be 
acceptable. 

 

7.3. Lead Local Flood Authority – No objection, subject to the development being carried out in 
accordance with the submitted FRA and Drainage Strategy. 

 

7.4. Bosley Parish Council – “no objections or comments with respect to this application 
 

8. REPRESENTATIONS 
 

8.1. One comment was received from a member of public, raising the following matters: 
- No objection subject to impact on water supply 
- Potential impact of large dwelling on water to neighbouring bore hole 

 
9. OFFICER APPRAISAL  

 
Principle of Development  
 

9.1. The site is with the Open Countryside and is located within the Peak Park Fringe Local 
Landscape Designation. The proposals seek to demolish all existing buildings on the site 
(other than a two-storey brick barn) and replace with one single dwelling to the west and an 
array of ground mounted solar panels to the east of the site. These two elements of the 
proposal are considered in turn, below. 
  
Replacement Buildings 
 

9.2. CELPS policy PG6 Open Countryside sets out the main policy criteria for development in the 
open countryside. Within the Open Countryside only development that is essential for the 
purposes of agriculture, forestry, outdoor recreation, public infrastructure, essential works 
undertaken by public service authorities or statutory undertakers, or for other uses appropriate 
to a rural area will be permitted. Exceptions may be made for a number of developments 
including:  
 

iii. for the replacement of existing buildings (including dwellings) by new buildings not 
materially larger than the buildings they replace” 
 

9.3. This policy also advises that acceptability of such development will be subject to compliance 
with all other relevant policies in the Local Plan. In this regard, particular attention should be 
paid to design and landscape character so that the appearance and distinctiveness of the 
Cheshire East countryside is preserved and enhanced.  
 

Page 133



9.4. SADPD policy RUR13 states that the replacement of existing buildings in the open countryside 
will only be permitted where the replacement building:  

 

i. is not materially larger than the existing building; and  
ii. would not unduly harm the rural character of the countryside, by virtue of 
prominence, scale, bulk or visual intrusion.  

 
9.5. When considering whether a replacement building is materially larger, matters including 

height, bulk, form, siting, design, floorspace and footprint will be taken into account. Increases 
in overall building height and development extending notably beyond the existing footprint in 
particular have the potential to be materially larger. When assessing the net increase in 
floorspace between the existing building and the replacement building as part of the 
consideration of whether a proposal is materially larger, floorspace from any detached 
outbuildings in the curtilage will only be taken into account where the buildings to be replaced 
can sensibly be considered together in comparison with what is proposed to replace them. 
  

9.6. The below table provides a comparison of the existing and proposed amount of development. 
This includes all existing agricultural buildings sought for removal, with the proposed including 
the dwellinghouse and also Building 6 which is to be retained. A full breakdown of individual 
buildings is provided in the applicant’s Planning Statement. 
 

Existing GIA Proposed GIA % Difference 

3,228m2 2,651m2 -18% 

 
9.7. As set out above, the proposed redevelopment of the site would amount to an 18% reduction 

in built form when comparing existing and proposed floorspace across the site. This is a 
significant reduction when compared to the previously refused application which proposed a 
33% increase. The proposed reduction in built form therefore contributes to the conclusion 
that the development would not be materially larger than existing. 
 

9.8. It is also important to consider the impact on the rural character of the countryside, by virtue 
of prominence, scale, bulk or visual intrusion as required by policy RUR 13. By nature, the 
proposed subterranean dwellinghouse would be largely covered by earth which reduces its 
visual impact on the landscape. The application is supported by several verified view images 
showing a realistic comparison of the application site before and after the proposed 
development. These demonstrate that the impact of the proposed dwellinghouse on the wider 
rural landscape would be reduced when viewed alongside the existing cluster of buildings 
which are comparative much more exposed and visible from wider viewpoints. 

 

9.9. Whilst agricultural buildings are commonplace within the rural landscape, the demolition of the 
majority of existing buildings would be a welcome enhancement to the site. Overall, the 
replacement of existing buildings with the proposed dwellinghouse would meet the relevant 
exception to development in the Open Countryside under policy PG 6 and RUR 13. 

 

Solar Panels 
 

9.10. The application also seeks planning permission for the construction of a solar array to the 
east of the site. The array would be formed of 260 individual PV structures.  
  

9.11. When assessed against the exceptions set out in CELPS policy PG 6, the proposed solar 
panels would not comfortably fit within any of the exceptions to development in the Open 
Countryside.  

 
9.12. However, the proposed solar panels would positively contribute to the provision of renewable 

sources of energy and associated environmental benefits of such developments. It is 

Page 134



important to take these matters into consideration in order to reach a balanced judgement on 
whether the benefits of the scheme outweigh the development’s conflict with CELPS policy 
PG 6.  

 
9.13. Policy SE 8 is the overarching Local Plan consideration for renewable and low carbon energy 

installations. It supports the development of such schemes due to the wider environmental, 
economic and social benefits they can deliver, subject to consideration of the potential impacts 
including landscape, habitats, residential amenity and air traffic. 
 

9.14. Policy ENV 10 provides further policy guidance on solar installations, stating that where solar 
photovoltaics do not fall within permitted development, these will be encouraged where they 
do not conflict with other local planning policies, particularly in relation to the impact upon 
heritage assets, conservation areas and the principles set out in Policy SE 8. 

 
9.15. In May 2019 Cheshire East Council committed to becoming a carbon neutral organisation 

by 2025. Due to the financial landscape of the council, this aim has been reset to 2027, 
however it remains to be one of the most ambitious targets in the country for carbon neutrality. 
A further pledge has also been made for the entire borough to achieve carbon neutral status 
by 2045. 

 
9.16. At a national level, Chapter 14 of the NPPF sets out how development proposals should 

meet the challenges of climate change, flooding and coastal change. It states that the planning 
system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. Paragraph 
168 states that local planning authorities should recognise that even small-scale projects 
provide a valuable contribution to significant cutting greenhouse gas emissions 
 

9.17. In this case, the proposed solar panel installation would provide 100% of the energy demand 
for the proposed dwellinghouse. It would also feed any excess energy into the grid, supporting 
the wider transition to renewable energy. Therefore, there would be no reliance on fossil fuels 
which represents a significant benefit to the proposed development as a whole. The Planning 
Statement advises that the household would use only electric vehicles and therefore the zero 
emission merits of the proposed development would extend to the occupier’s mobility. Whilst 
the exclusive use of electric vehicles is not a determinative matter which could be secured via 
condition, it nevertheless demonstrates the wider benefits of the development. 

 

9.18. The solar panels have been calculated to produce 97,708 kWh/a, exceeding the 120kWh 
per square meter of footprint area criteria for Passivhaus Premium. This is likely to save 20.2 
tonnes of CO2 per annum, which represents a significant environmental benefit. 
 

9.19. The proposal is therefore considered to contribute to tackling the challenges of climate 
change through reduction of dependence on fossil fuels. The reduced reliance on fossil fuels 
would also assist in improving energy security. 
 

9.20. Furthermore, the proposed development would not be a permanent fixture to the ground, 
being relatively straightforward to remove – therefore reducing the permanence of the 
development. Policy SE 8 advises that conditions are attached in the event of approval to 
secure the removal of the infrastructure and restoration of the land once the scheme is ready 
for decommissioning. A condition is therefore recommended to secure this. 
 

9.21. Therefore, on balance the wider benefits associated with renewable energy production in 
this case would outweigh the identified conflict with Open Countryside policies.  
 
 
 
 

Page 135



Design, Character and Appearance 
 

9.22. Policy SD 2 of the CELPS states that all development will be expected to contribute 
positively an area's character and identity, creating or reinforcing local distinctiveness in 
terms of scale, materials and design features. Policy SE 1 of the CELPS details that 
development proposals should make a positive contribution to their surroundings in terms 
of a number of criteria. This includes ensuring design solutions achieve a sense of place 
by protecting and enhancing the quality, distinctiveness and character of an area.  
 

9.23. SADPD policy GEN 1 expands on this, expecting all development proposals to contribute 
positively to the borough’s quality of place and local identity through appropriate character, 
appearance and form in terms of scale, height, density, layout, grouping, form, siting, good 
architecture, massing and materials. 

 
9.24. The proposals will result in the removal of all buildings, except a two-storey brick barn, and 

replacement with a single contemporary 3-storey house built to Passivhaus Premium 
standard (which is a building design standard for an energy efficient building which uses 
minimal space heating or cooling and that will produce considerably more energy than it 
uses and be a net contributor). This is in addition to the solar panels proposed.  

 

9.25. The house would be located in a depression on a south facing slope to the west of the site, 
with engineering works to recontour the land to accommodate the dwelling. 

 
9.26. The application is accompanied by a detailed design and access statement and it is clear 

that a very thorough process has been undertaken to develop the proposals. Pre-
application discussion have also taken place with officers following the refusal of a previous 
application. 

 

9.27. In refusing the previous application, a significant factor was the appearance of the dwelling: 
 
“Overall, the dwelling would be a significant scale and would be prominent within 
the site and an uncharacteristic building when compared to the existing traditional 
farmstead. The dwelling would not be in keeping with the vernacular and would 
present a bland and austere northern elevation resembling a service access rather 
than the entrance point to a dwelling. The southern elevation by virtue of its scale 
and with the evenly spaced gritstone clad pillars, regular openings and glazing 
patterns has the appearance of a hotel rather than single dwelling.” 
 

9.28. The current application has undergone significant reductions in scale compared to the 
previously refused scheme. Large urbanising features and heavy hard landscaping has 
now been omitted, resulting a much more subdued appearance. The dwellinghouse as 
proposed now comfortably sits within the plot as a result of the reduced scale, mass and 
bulk. The Design Officer previously commented that the proposed dwelling would be 
unobtrusive to the point of being almost invisible from all vantage points. This is particularly 
relevant now that the scale of the proposal has been meaningfully reduced as part of this 
resubmission. 
  

9.29. In terms of the solar panel array, these were previously found to be at odds with the 
countryside location and would appear obtrusive and detrimental to the character of the 
countryside to which this site forms a part. The number of solar panels has been reduced 
from 760 to 260 individual panels. Together with the significant weight attached to the 
environmental benefits of the array, the visual impact is outweighed by the positive 
enhancements the proposal would make to wider renewable energy and energy security 
considerations.  

 

Page 136



9.30. The curtilage extension was previously found to have a detrimental impact on the character 
and appearance of the surrounding open countryside. This has been addressed as part of 
the current proposal, with a much tighter and more appropriately sized curtilage being 
drawn around the proposed dwellinghouse. 

 
9.31. For the above reasons, the proposed development is considered to have successfully 

addressed the previous reasons for refusal in relation to design, character and 
appearance. The proposal would accord with the relevant policies of the development plan. 
 
Landscape 
 

9.32. Between them, CELPS policy SE 4 and SADPD policy ENV 3 recognise the high quality of 
the built and natural environment as a significant characteristic of the borough. It states 
that all development should conserve the landscape character and quality and should 
where possible, enhance and effectively manage the historic, natural and man-made 
landscape features that contribute to local distinctiveness of both rural and urban 
landscapes. All development is expected to incorporate appropriate landscaping which 
reflects the character of the area through appropriate design and management. 

 
9.33. SADPD policy ENV 3 identifies Local Landscape Designations which represent the highest 

quality and most valued landscapes in the area of the borough covered by the Cheshire 
East Local Plan. In Local Landscape Designations, CELPS policy SE 4 and ENV 3 state 
that the Council will seek to conserve and enhance the quality of the landscape and to 
protect it from development which is likely to have an adverse effect on its character and 
appearance and setting. Where development is considered to be acceptable in principle; 
measures will be sought to integrate it into the landscape character of the area. Where 
development may affect a local or national (i.e. Peak District National Park) designation a 
full understanding of the context, characteristics and significance should be provided. 

 
9.34. SADPD policy ENV 5 states that where appropriate, development proposals must include 

and implement a landscape scheme. The proposed landscape scheme should respond 
sympathetically the existing landscape and should enhance the quality, setting and layout 
design of the development. Landscape schemes should include satisfactory provision for 
the maintenance and aftercare of the scheme. 

 

9.35. The site lies within the Peak Fringe Local Landscape Designation (LLD) which recognises 
that the area is an extension of many of the special qualities associated with the nationally 
protected Peak Park landscapes. The naturally varied undulating landform and buildings 
of local materials add sense of place including stone walls, dispersed settlements, farms, 
and narrow winding lanes all feature in the summary of special qualities of the area. Most 
of the site lies within the Upland foot slopes Landscape character type.  

 
9.36. The site currently comprises a series of traditional and non-traditional but typical farm 

buildings. The farmland is attractive and characteristic of the Peak Fringe Area with 
panoramic views within the site to the south and west over the Cheshire Plains. 

 
9.37. In refusing the previous application, it was concluded that the scale and form of the 

gritstone-clad dwelling would not be in keeping with the vernacular of the Peak Fringe and 
the architectural design would not be exceptional. It was also found that the development 
would contrast with the existing landscape context and would have an adverse effect on 
the character of the landscape. 

 

9.38. Whilst the application would still result in the loss of a cluster of buildings which form a 
traditional farmstead within the LLD, the proposed development has evolved in order to 
reduce its impact the landscape to a degree which can now be considered acceptable. 

Page 137



 

9.39. The application has been submitted following pre-application discussions involving the 
Landscape Officer whereby reductions in scale have been a welcome amendment, in 
addition to greater detail provided in order to better understand the landscape visual 
impact. 

 
9.40. Following pre-application discussions and amendments during the course of the 

application, the Landscape Officer advises that they have no objection to the proposed 
development. A number of conditions are recommended in order to control the landscape 
impact in terms of planting plans, details of earthworks, lighting as well as a 30 year 
management plan to ensure ongoing maintenance of the approved landscaping. 
 
Heritage Conservation 

 
9.41. CELPS policy SE 7 seeks to enhance and conserve the borough’s varied and extensive 

historic environment.  
  

9.42. The buildings on site are of a traditional form and appearance and appear on the tithe maps 
(1885-1889). As concluded with the previous application at Dawsons Farm, the existing 
buildings do not meet the criteria to qualify as non-designated heritage assets. The Heritage 
Conservation Officer agreed with this conclusion, and as such no significant heritage concerns 
are raised. 
 
Amenity 

 
9.43. Policy SE 1 of the CELPS expects all development to be designed to ensure an appropriate 

level of privacy for new and existing residential properties. Policy HOU 12 of the SADPD 
states that development proposals must not cause unacceptable harm to the amenities of 
adjoining or nearby occupiers of residential properties, sensitive uses, or future occupiers 
of the proposed development. HOU 13 sets out the minimum standards expected in order 
to achieve a suitable level of privacy and light. 

 
9.44. Dawsons Farm is situated in a relatively isolated location with no immediate neighbouring 

properties. The nearest property is Sourbutts Farm approximately 500 metres to the 
southwest of the site. Given this distance and the siting and design of the proposed 
replacement dwelling, the proposal will not harm the amenities of any neighbouring 
properties. 

 
9.45. With regard to living conditions for future occupiers, all habitable rooms (bedrooms, living 

rooms, dining rooms etc) would have windows in the southern elevation of the building 
enabling daylight to enter and a suitable outlook provided. Other rooms including a gym, 
cinema room, kitchen, games room, storage spaces and plant are located toward the rear 
of the building where the subterranean nature of the building would result in no natural 
daylight or outlook. However, it is not necessary for these rooms to have a source of 
daylight in order to provide suitable living conditions. 

 
9.46. Accordingly, the proposed development is found to be acceptable with regard to amenity 

and living conditions. 
 
Nature Conservation 
 

9.47. CELPS policy SD 1 expects all development to contribute to the protection and 
enhancement of the natural environment. CELPS policy SE 3 sets out criteria relating to 
biodiversity at a strategic level including matters relating to the impact on designated sites, 

Page 138



habitats and protected species. It expects all development to aim to positively contribute 
to the conservation and enhancement of biodiversity. 

 
9.48. SADPD policy ENV 1 identifies the ecological network of the borough which includes core 

areas, corridors, stepping stones, restoration areas and the Meres and Mosses 
catchments. Depending on which component of the network a site forms part of, 
development proposals should increase the size, quality or quantity of habitat; improve 
connectivity, resilience and function of the network or minimise adverse impacts from 
pollution and disturbance. SADPD policy ENV 2 expects all development proposals to 
deliver a net gain in biodiversity in line with national policy and sets out the level of 
information a planning application is expected to include where there are likely to be 
biodiversity or geodiversity considerations. 
  
Statutory Nature Designated Sites  

 

9.49. It is advised that there is a reasonable likelihood that a Statutory Nature Designated Site, 
such as SSSI or SAC sites, will not be impacted by the proposed works.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)  

 

9.50. Mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain applies in this instance. The submitted biodiversity metric 
calculates a 36.47% habitat net gain, 30.10% hedgerow net gain and a 66.67% watercourse 
net gain. It is advised that the metric is suitable, and the proposed works adhere to the 
biodiversity gain and mitigation hierarchy. It is therefore advised that sufficient information 
regarding Biodiversity Net Gain has been submitted at this stage. The biodiversity gain 
condition must therefore be secured with any planning approval, which relates to the deemed 
gain condition.  
 

9.51. The proposed habitat creation and enhancement measures are considered to be ‘significant’ 
and therefore a Habitat Creation Method Statement and Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan condition is required. 

 

Birds  
 

9.52. Nesting birds were recorded on site, which are protected under the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981. A condition to safeguard breeding birds during nesting season is therefore 
recommended,  
 
Bats  

 

9.53. Evidence of bat activity in the form of a number of minor roosts have been recorded within 
the buildings and a tree on site. The usage of the building by bats is likely to be limited to 
single or small numbers of animals of each species using the buildings for relatively short 
periods of time and there is no evidence to suggest a significant maternity roost is present.  
 

9.54. The loss of the roosts associated with the buildings on this site, in the absence of mitigation, 
is likely to have a low impact upon on bats at the local level and a low impact upon the 
conservation status of the species concerned as a whole. The submitted report recommends 
the installation of bat boxes on the nearby trees and also features for bats to be incorporated 
into the retained barn building as a means of compensating for the loss of the roost and also 
recommends the timing and supervision of the works to reduce the risk posed to any bats that 
may be present when the works are completed.  

 

9.55. The nocturnal surveys are now ~2 years old for the most recent surveys. However, the extent 
of bat roosting on site is reasonably understood, with bat surveys covering two bat activity 

Page 139



seasons. It is advised that the extent of bats utilising the site has been established, and 
therefore a planning decision can be issued. However, a full suite of updated surveys may be 
required to apply for a Natural England protected species licence. This must be undertaken 
prior to the commencement of works.  

 

9.56. Furthermore, if determination of the application is delayed for any reason past April 30th 
2026 (i.e. into the next bat activity season) then a site visit will be required to update the 
appraisal of the buildings and advise whether any update nocturnal surveys are necessary to 
inform the application. 

 
9.57. It should be noted that since a European Protected Species has been recorded on site and 

is likely to be adversely affected by the proposed development the local planning authority 
must have regard to whether Natural England would be likely to subsequently grant the 
applicant a European Protected Species License under the Habitat Regulations. A license 
under the Habitats Regulations can only be granted when:  

 

(i) The development is of overriding public interest,  
(ii) There are no suitable alternatives and  
(iii) The favourable conservation status of the species will be maintained.  

 
9.58. With regard to the first test (i), the proposed development is recommended for approval. As 

such, it is acknowledged that the development accords with local and national planning policy 
and can therefore be considered to be of overriding public interest. 
  

9.59. The second test (ii) requires consideration of alternatives. In this case, there are no 
alternatives presented which would be considered suitable. 

 
9.60. Finally, with regard to the third test (iii), on the submitted Proposed Site Plan, tree T2 (as 

identified in the bat survey reports) would be retained as part of the proposed development. 
The submitted bat report includes proposals to minimise the disturbance of T2 during the 
felling of adjacent trees. The Nature Conservation Officer advises that if planning consent is 
granted the proposed mitigation/compensation is acceptable and is likely to maintain the 
favourable conservation status of the species of bat concerned and as such, test (iii) would 
be met. 

 

9.61. Accordingly, all three tests are met and therefore Natural England would be likely to grant 
the relevant licence under the Habitat Regulations. 
 
Hedgehog and Brown Hare  

 

9.62. These two priority species may occur in the broad locality of the application site, but the 
proposed development is not likely to result in a significant impact upon them.  
 
Amphibians/Reptiles  

 

9.63. There are no ponds within the vicinity of the application site, so consequently amphibians 
are not reasonable likely to be affected by the proposed development. In terms of Reptiles, 
no evidence of their presence was recorded during the desk-based assessment. The 
submitted ecological assessment however identifies the potential loss of habitat for these 
species. These species (if present) would also be at risk of being harmed during the 
construction stage. The Nature Conservation Officer advises that the risk of reptiles being 
killed or injured during works could be addressed through the implementation of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan. A condition is therefore recommended 
requiring a CEMP to be prepared. 
  

Page 140



Potential Local Wildlife Site (pLWS) 
 

9.64. The submitted ecological assessment refers to a Potential Local Wildlife Site (pLWS) being 
present on site, but no details of this are provided. Details of the potential Local Wildlife Site 
have been submitted by Cheshire Wildlife Trust and the Nature Conservation Officer advises 
that only a small part of the application site falls within the boundary of the pLWS and no 
significant habitats are present where there is an overlap between the two Local Wildlife Site 
and the application site.  
 

9.65. In the event that planning consent is granted a condition requiring the submission and 
implementation of a CEMP to safeguard the pLWS during the construction phase.  

 

Ecological Enhancements  
 

9.66. The Nature Conservation Officer advises that that the proposed bat boxes, bird boxes and 
habitat creation is considered to be suitable to provide ecological enhancements on site, in 
line with local policy ENV 1. 
 
Trees  

 
9.67. CELPS policy SE 5 states that development proposals which will result in the loss of, or 

threat to, the continued health and life expectancy of trees, that provide a significant 
contribution to the amenity, biodiversity, landscape character or historic character of the 
surrounding area, will not normally be permitted. SADPD policy ENV 6 expands on this, 
expecting proposals to retain and protect trees. 

 
9.68. The application site is located within open countryside and benefits from established 

hedgerows and trees within and adjacent to the site boundary. The site is not within a 
Conservation Area and no Tree Preservation Orders are present on the site. 

 

9.69. As noted previously, the farm and existing natural landscape features are not highly visible 
from adjacent roads or public rights of way. As a result, the tree losses as proposed would 
be unlikely to have a significant impact on the wider amenity of the area. There is additional 
tree and hedgerow planting proposed and the provision for replacement planting of native 
species and high canopy trees could be secured via detailed landscaping condition on any 
approval. 

 

9.70. A Tree Protection Plan has been prepared in support of the application. A condition is 
therefore recommended ensuring adherence to this plan during the demolition and 
construction phase. 

 
9.71. Subject to the above matters being secured via condition, the proposed development 

would have an acceptable relationship with existing trees in accordance with policies SE 6 
and ENV 6. 
 
Flood Risk and Drainage 

 

9.72. CELPS policy SE 13 states that all planning applications for development at risk of flooding 
must be supported by an appropriate Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to demonstrate that 
development proposals will not increase flood risk on site or elsewhere and opportunities 
to reduce the risk of flooding are sought, taking into account the impacts of Climate Change 
in line with the Cheshire East SFRA. New development will be required to include or 
contribute to flood mitigation, compensation and / or protection measures, where 
necessary, to manage flood risk associated with or caused by the development. 

 

Page 141



9.73. SE 13 continues to state that all developments, including changes to existing buildings, 
seek improvements to the current surface water drainage network and be designed to 
manage surface water. This should include appropriate sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS) and green infrastructure to store, convey and treat surface water prior to discharge 
with the aim of achieving a reduction in the existing runoff rate, but must not result in an 
increase in runoff. 

 
9.74. SADPD policy ENV 16 expands on this, setting out the criteria that development is 

expected to meet in relation to the management of flood risk and drainage, with SuDS 
being encouraged. It expects development proposals to clearly demonstrate how surface 
water runoff can be appropriately managed. 
 

9.75. The LLFA initially objected to the proposed development due to the lack of a detailed 
drainage strategy. A detailed Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy was 
subsequently submitted during the course of the application. 
 

9.76. The LLFA have reviewed the additional information and advise that their objection can be 
lifted subject to the development being carried out in accordance with the submitted details, 
and with a whole site maximum discharge rate not exceeding 5.9 l/s. 

 

Contaminated Land 
 

9.77. CELPS policy SE 12 states that development for new housing or other environmentally 
sensitive development will not normally be permitted where existing air pollution, soil 
contamination, noise, smell, dust, vibration, light or other pollution levels are unacceptable 
and there is no reasonable prospect that these can be mitigated against. 

 
9.78. Where a proposal may affect or be affected by contamination developers are required to 

provide a report which investigates the extent of the contamination and the possible affect 
it may have on the development and its future users, the natural and built environment. 
development will only be deemed acceptable where it can be demonstrated that any 
contamination or land instability issues can be appropriately mitigated against and 
remediated, if necessary. 
 

9.79.  The Contaminated Land team advise they have no objection to the application. They 
advised that the application is for a proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the 
presence of contamination and residential properties are a sensitive end use and could be 
affected by any contamination present or brought onto the site. The application stie also has 
a history of agricultural use and therefore the land may be contaminated.  
 

9.80. GEA report J22287 Rev1, Desk Study & Ground Investigation Report (November 2022) was 
submitted in support of the application. Environmental Protection Officers advise that the 
investigation was constrained by the buildings currently present on site and therefore those 
areas may be a source of potential contamination at the site. 
 

9.81. An area of significant infill was identified on-site that may represent a ground gas risk to the 
proposed development.  A ground gas risk assessment should therefore be undertaken. 
 

9.82. The desk study identifies that pesticides, detergents and fuels may have been stored in 
quantity at the site.  Areas of fuel and chemical storage should be targeted in any 
supplementary investigation. 
 

9.83. The finalised position of the proposed development was unknown at the time of the report 
issue. Soils, including topsoil, in proposed garden areas and soft landscaping should be 
proved suitable for retention in a sensitive residential end-use.   

Page 142



 
9.84. Asbestos has also been identified at the site. 

 

9.85. As such, and in accordance with paragraphs 187, 196 and 197 of the NPPF 2024, this 
Environmental Protection Officers recommend a number of conditions which must be adhered 
to in order to appropriately deal with the risk of contaminated land. 
 
Highways  
 

9.86. Amongst several other matters, CELPS policy SD 1 states that all development proposals 
should provide safe access and sufficient car parking in accordance with adopted highway 
standards. SADPD policy INF 1 supplements this and expects all development to provide 
safe access to and from the site for all highway users and incorporate safe internal 
movement in the site. 
 

9.87. Cheshire East Highways advise that the use of the existing farm access to the adopted 
highway network, in lieu of the existing agricultural use, is acceptable. There is sufficient 
space within the site for off-street car parking provision to be in accordance with CEC 
parking standards. 
 

9.88. The commuter peak hour and daily traffic generation associated with the change of use, 
would not be expected to have a material impact on the safe operation of the adjacent or 
wider highway network. 
 

9.89. Accordingly, the Head of Strategic Transport has no objection to the planning application. 
 
Agricultural Land Quality 
 

9.90. Policy SD1 of the CELPS states that development should, wherever possible (and amongst 
other matters), protect the best and most versatile agricultural land. Policy SD2 of the 
CELPS states that all development will be expected to avoid the permanent loss of areas of 
agricultural land quality 1, 2 or 3a, unless the strategic need overrides these issues.  
 

9.91. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute and enhance 
the natural and local environment by recognising the benefits of (amongst other matters) 
best and most versatile agricultural land. Agricultural land falling within classes 1-3a are 
classed as ‘Best and Most Versatile’ BMV.  
 

9.92. According to the 2010 Natural England Land Classification Map for the North West Region, 
the site falls within land which is either Grade 4 ‘poor’ quality or Grade 5 ‘Very poor’ quality.  
 

9.93. According to a more up to date (2017) map produced by Natural England, which considers 
the likelihood of parcels of land being Best and Most Versatile, the map shows that the site 
as being of moderate likelihood of BMV.  
 

9.94. In consideration of both maps, the site is not understood to comprise BMV Land. 
 
Other Matters  
 

9.95. Comments were received from a member of public raising concern that the proposed 
dwellinghouse may impact access to water from their bore hole. This is not a material planning 
consideration. Any disputes between landowners with regard to private water supplies would 
be a civil matter. 
  

Page 143



9.96. The Safeguarding Authority for Manchester Airport has assessed the previous proposal and 
its potential to conflict aerodrome safeguarding criteria and advise that they have no 
objections. The same conclusion can be reached with the current reduced scheme. 

 
10. PLANNING BALANCE/CONCLUSION 

 
10.1. The application has been submitted following the refusal of application reference 23/1174M 

which was not supported on the grounds that it would represent a materially larger 
replacement building in the Open Countryside, alongside design and landscape concerns. 
Due to the application being refused, a further reason for refusal was issued due to failure to 
accord with the Habitats Regulations.  
  

10.2. As submitted, the application has made a meaningful reduction in the amount of built form 
proposed, now resulting in a net reduction in built form (as opposed to a net increase as 
previously proposed). Combined with the reduced visual impact the development would have 
on the rural character of the Open Countryside and Local Landscape Designation, the 
proposal is considered to comply with the relevant design and landscape policies of the Local 
Plan. 

 
10.3. The proposed solar panel array has also been significantly reduced in scale compared to the 

previously refused scheme. The reduced scale of the solar panel array would still provide 
100% of the proposed dwellinghouse’s energy demand, with excess energy being returned to 
the grid for use elsewhere. This element of the proposal therefore carries significant positive 
weight with regard to renewable energy generation and energy security. 

 
10.4. With regard to protected species, all other reasons for refusal are considered to have been 

adequately addressed. As such, the three Habitat Regulations tests have been met and the 
third reason for refusal on the previous application has also been addressed. 

 
10.5. All other matters, including those relating to heritage, amenity, nature conservation, trees, 

highways, drainage and contamination are found to accord with the relevant policies of the 
local plan, subject to necessary conditions where needed. 

 
10.6. Accordingly, the proposed development is recommended for approval. 

 
11. RECOMMENDATION 

 
Approve subject to following conditions: 
 

1. Three-year commencement 
2. Approved plans 
3. Materials samples to be submitted 
4. Biodiversity net gain plan to be submitted 
5. Habitat creation method statement to be submitted 
6. Nesting bird safeguarding measures 
7. Bat licence to be submitted 
8. Updated badger survey to be submitted 
9. Construction Ecological Management Plan (CEMP) to be submitted 
10. Ecological enhancement scheme to be submitted 
11. Detailed landscaping plans to be submitted 
12. Development in accordance with tree protection plan 
13. Development in accordance with drainage strategy 
14. Contamination investigation and remediation to be submitted 
15. Contamination verification report to be submitted 
16. Contaminattion of imported soils to be tested with results submitted 

Page 144



17. Removal of solar panels following decommissioning 
18. Demolition of existing buildings prior to occupation 

 
 

 

 

 

In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s decision (such as 
to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives / planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Head of Planning has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chair of the Northern Planning Committee, provided 
that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
  

Page 145



 

P
age 146



 

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

25/1197/FUL 

Dawson Farm Buxton Road,  

Bosley, Macclesfield, SK11 0PX 

P
age 149



252.20

250.80

251.00

250.90

250.0

250.5

250.5

251

236

235.5

235.00

234.50

236.5

237.0

235.5

235

237.5

238.00

236.0 236.5 237.0 237.5

237.5
238.00

PROPOSED SHRUB
PLANTING
To be selected from the following:
Cornus alba 'Elegantissima'
Cotoneaster conspicuus 'Decorus'
Erysimum 'Bowles Mauve'
Euonymus fortunei 'Emerald Gaiety'
Enkianthus campanulatus
Hebe albicans 'Red Edge'
Hedera helix 'Golden Ingot'
Heuchera micrantha 'Purple Palace'
Lonciera nitada 'Baggesien's Gold'
Bergenia cordifilia
Ceanothus thyrsiflorus 'repens'
Citus purpureus
Cotoneaster 'Gnom'
Geranium oxonianum 'Sweet
Candy'
Hebe 'Midsummer beauty'
Heuchera 'Key Lime Pie'
Lavandula angustifolia 'Hidcote'
Loncera nitida 'May green'
Nandina domestica 'Fire Power'
Nepeta x fassenii 'Walkers Low'
Prunus lusitanica
Rosa alba 'Meidiland'
Rosmarinus officinalis 'Miss
Jessops'
Rudbeckia fulgida var sullivantii
Salvia nemorosa 'Caradonna'
Skimmia japonica 'Rubella'

EXISTING BUILDING
LINE

PROPOSED NATIVE
TREE
To be selected from the following:
Acer campestre
Alnus glutinosa
Betula pendula
Prunus avium
Quercus robur
Sorbus aucuparia

EXISTING TREE

LANDSCAPE KEY

LAWN AREA

WILDFLOWER SEED MIX
To be seeded with:
EM2F Wildflower Mixture

EXISTING TREE AND
VEGETATION

SITE BOUNDARY

SQUARE UNIT BLOCK
PAVING TO SHARED
SPACE

EXISTING TRACK

BUILDING UNDER
GROUND

MARGINAL PLANTING
To be selected from the following:
Caltha palustris
Eupatorium cannabinum
Iris pseudacorus
Lythrum salicaria
Mentha aquatica
Potamogeton natans
Ranunclus aqualtis
Callitriche sp.
Filipendula ulmaria
Juncus effuscus
Lycopus europaeus
Myosotis scorpioides
Pulicaria dysenterica
Sparganium erectum

RESIN BOUND
PATHWAYS

SOLAR PV ARRAY WATER CATCHMENT
RILL

RETAINING WALL

ECO-GRID PARKING
BAYS WITH MARKINGS

GRASS AREA
To be seeded with:
EM4 Meadow Grassland Mixture

PROPOSED
INDIGENOUS
STRUCTURE PLANTING
To be selected from the following:
20% Hawthorn Crataegus
monogyna
20% Blackthorn Prunus spinosa
20% Hazel Corylus avellana
10% Holly Ilex aquifolium
10% Bird cherry Prunus padus
10% Dog rose Rosa canina agg.
8% Crab apple Malus sylvestris
1% Pedunculate oak Quercus
robur
1% Rowan Sorbus aucuparia

NATIVE HEDGEROW
To be selected from the following:
40% Crataegus monogyna
15% Prunus spinosa
5% Malus sylvestris
5% Euonymus europaeus
5% Cornus sanguinea
15% Acer campestre
5% Viburnum opulus
10% Corylus avellana

BOUND DRIVEWAY

OVERHANG

POND

DOMESTIC CURTILAGE
LINE

GRASSLAND HABITAT
ENHANCED AND
RETAINED

MARSHY GRASSLAND
RETAINED

GATE ACCESS WITH
FENCE

project

title

drawing number

scale

revision

checked

date

drawn

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DWG   I   DRAWING SUBJECT TO COPYRIGHT©

Gloucester House,
399 Silbury Boulevard,
Milton Keynes,
Buckinghamshire
MK9 2AH
T  01908 303701
W  www.enplan.net

revision / date / description / drawn

client

Note:
The material contained in this document has been
reproduced from an Ordnance Survey map with permissionof
the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office. Crown
Copyright Licence number AL100035542

N

issue
S3 - Suitable for Review & Comment

Dawson Farm
Macclesfield

General Arrangement

05-1099-301

A1 @ 1:500

ZX

Nov 2022

RH

P15

P11 2024.01.05 Update Plan ZX

P13 2025 03 19 Update Plan ZX
P14 2025 09 09 Update Plan JY

P15 2025 09 10 Update Plan JY

P12 2025.02.21 Update Plan ZX

-

P01 Inital Issue ZX

P
age 150

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
225.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
225.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
267.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
222.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
223.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
223.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
224.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
224.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
266.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
266.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
269.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
268.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
268.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
267.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
265.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
265.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
264.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
264.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
228.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
228.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
228.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
226.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
226.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
226.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
226.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
226.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
227.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
227.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
227.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
225.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
225.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
224.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
224.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
221.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
223.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
223.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
222.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
366900N

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
392700E

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
392750E

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
392800E

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
392900E

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
392900E

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
366900N

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
366800N

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
366850N

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
366900N

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
392600E

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
392650E

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
392700E

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
392600E

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
392650E

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
392700E

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
392750E

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
392800E

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
392600E

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
392650E

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
392700E

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
392750E

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
392800E

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
366750N

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
366800N

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
366850N

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
366900N

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
366750N

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
366800N

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
366850N

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
366900N

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
366750N

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
366800N

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
366850N

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
366900N

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
392900E

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
392900E

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
392750E

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
392800E

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
392900E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
366700N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
366750N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
366800N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
392600E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
392650E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
392700E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
392750E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
392800E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
366700N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
366700N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
366700N

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
392850E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
392900E

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
225.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
225.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
267.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
222.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
223.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
223.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
224.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
224.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
228.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
230.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
233.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
238.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
246.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
250.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
251.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
253.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
258.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
261.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
266.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
266.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
264.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
269.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
268.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
268.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
267.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
263.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
265.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
265.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
262.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
263.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
264.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
264.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
255.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
259.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
259.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
258.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
261.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
260.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
252.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
257.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
256.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
256.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
253.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
254.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
254.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
249.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
249.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
248.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
248.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
247.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
244.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
245.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
246.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
243.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
244.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
243.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
242.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
240.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
241.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
239.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
239.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
236.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
238.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
236.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
237.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
234.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
235.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
234.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
233.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
231.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
232.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
231.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
229.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
229.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
228.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
228.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
228.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
226.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
226.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
226.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
226.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
226.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
227.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
227.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
227.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
225.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
225.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
224.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
224.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
221.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
223.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
223.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
222.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
241.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
251.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
50m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
Scale 1:500



X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 005 Existing Site Plan.dwg

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

PLANNING

DS

Dawsons Farm, Macclesfield

Existing site plan

1:500

E3355 005 C

A1

0 31/10/22 First Issue KS AB

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing except for planning purposes

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

KEY

Site Ownership Boundary

Planning Application Boundary

Proposed Contour lines

Existing Trees / Dense Vegetation

Existing watercourse

1 Existing Site Plan
1:500

A 21/11/22 Existing barn survey added KS AB

0 10 20 m10 m

Scale 1:500

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Existing brick barn building 6 to be
retained, refer to Ecology report

B 10.01.24 Countour heights added
Existing watercourse added

KS AB

Assumed route of
buried culvert

C 14.03.25 Boundary updated MS AB

P
age 151

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
225.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
225.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
230.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
235.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
240.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
245.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
270.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
270.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
277.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
277.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
277.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
290.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
272.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
275.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
267.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
267.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
267.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
267.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
262.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
265.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
257.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
260.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
252.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
255.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
250.0

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
247.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
242.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
237.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
232.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
227.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
222.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
222.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
220.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
Pipe 180%%C



U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

B

C

D

E

F

G

A

1

G

87
00

30
0

46
25

1000

24
50

25
75

28
00

29
00

36
50

44
00

40
05

46
25

30
0

87
00

10
00

25
0

46
25

30
0

87
00

10
00

10
00

70
25

10
00

64
05

10
00

30
0

26
00

30
0

300

1000

300

300

1000

300

300 1000 300

300 843

500
500

425 425

5650 1300 9300 1300 9300 1300 7200 1300 5750

56
3

20
0

12
2

44175

20
15

5

300

1000
300

A

A

BB

1 Ground Floor Plan
1:100

All modifications, alterations, or changes to the project design, specifications, materials, or methods must be reviewed and approved by the Principal Designer. No changes are to be implemented without prior discussion and written consent from the Principal Designer. This process ensures that all
design intents and structural integrity are maintained and that any potential impacts on the project are fully assessed. Failure to adhere to this protocol may result in non-compliance with design standards and the Building Safety ACT, and could affect project timelines and costs.

X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 075 - 077 Proposed Dwelling - Plans.dwg

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

PLANNING

DS

Dawsons Farm, Macclesfield

Ground Floor Plan

1:100

E3355 075 D

A1

0 2 4 m2 m

Scale 1:100

0 06.12.22 First Issue KS AB

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing except for planning purposes

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

Airtightness zone
Insulation zone

Concrete structure

New walls

New insulation

Low head room

Waterproofing
line

A 31.01.23 General updates KS AB
B 22.05.23 Revised to be smaller KS AB
C 22.08.24 Updated landscape MS AB
D 04.02.25 House Reduced in Size TR AB

X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 075 - 077 Proposed Dwelling - Plans.dwg

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

PLANNING

DS

Dawsons Farm, Macclesfield

Ground Floor Plan

1:100

E3355 075 D

A1

0 2 4 m2 m

Scale 1:100

0 06.12.22 First Issue KS AB

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing except for planning purposes

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

Airtightness zone
Insulation zone

Concrete structure

New walls

New insulation

Low head room

Waterproofing
line

A 31.01.23 General updates KS AB
B 22.05.23 Revised to be smaller KS AB
C 22.08.24 Updated landscape MS AB
D 04.02.25 House Reduced in Size TR AB

DRAFT

GIA Ground Floor    802 m²

GIA Overall    946 m²

P
age 152



2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

B

C

D

E

F

G

A

1

G

87
00

30
0

46
25

1000

24
50

25
75

28
00

29
00

36
50

44
00

40
05

46
25

30
0

87
00

10
00

25
0

46
25

30
0

87
00

10
00

10
00

70
25

10
00

64
05

10
00

30
0

26
00

30
0

300

1000

300

300

1000

300

300 1000 300

300 843

500
500

425 425

5650 1300 9300 1300 9300 1300 7200 1300 5750

56
3

20
0

12
2

44175

20
15

5

300

1000
300

3900

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

A

A

BB

2 First Floor Plan
1:100

All modifications, alterations, or changes to the project design, specifications, materials, or methods must be reviewed and approved by the Principal Designer. No changes are to be implemented without prior discussion and written consent from the Principal Designer. This process ensures that all
design intents and structural integrity are maintained and that any potential impacts on the project are fully assessed. Failure to adhere to this protocol may result in non-compliance with design standards and the Building Safety ACT, and could affect project timelines and costs.

X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 075 - 077 Proposed Dwelling - Plans.dwg

0 2 4 m2 m

Scale 1:100

0 06.12.22 First Issue KS AB

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing except for planning purposes

Airtightness zone
Insulation zone

Concrete structure

New walls

New insulation

Low head room

Waterproofing
line

A 31.01.23 General updates KS AB
B 22.05.23 Revised to be smaller KS AB
C 22.08.24 Updated landscape MS AB
D 04.02.25 House Reduced in Size TR AB

X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 075 - 077 Proposed Dwelling - Plans.dwg

0 06.12.22 First Issue KS AB
A 31.01.23 General updates KS AB
B 22.05.23 Revised to be smaller KS AB
C 22.08.24 Updated landscape MS AB
D 04.02.25 House Reduced in Size TR AB

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

PLANNING

DS

Dawsons Farm, Macclesfield

First Floor Plan

1:100

E3355 076 D

A1

0 06.12.22 First Issue KS AB

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

DRAFT

GIA Ground Floor    802 m²

GIA Overall    946 m²

P
age 153



2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

B

C

A

1

87
00

29
00

36
50

40
05

87
00

10
00

87
00

10
00

10
00

64
05

10
00

26
00

30
0

300

1000

300

300

1000

300

300 1000 300

300 843

5650 1300 9300 1300 9300 1300 7200 1300 5750

44175

20
15

5

300

1000
300

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Battery Storage

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

B

C

D

E

F

G

A

1

G

87
00

30
0

46
25

1000

24
50

25
75

28
00

29
00

36
50

44
00

40
05

46
25

30
0

87
00

10
00

25
0

46
25

30
0

87
00

10
00

10
00

70
25

10
00

64
05

10
00

30
0

26
00

30
0

300

1000

300

300

1000

300

300 1000 300

300 843

500
500

425 425

5650 1300 9300 1300 9300 1300 7200 1300 5750

56
3

20
0

12
2

44175

20
15

5

300

1000
300

U
P

U
P

U
P

U
P

FARMING EQUIPMENT STORAGE

D

E

F

G

G

30
0

46
25

1000

24
50

25
75

28
00

44
00

46
25

30
0

25
0

46
25

30
0

10
00

70
25 30

0

500
500

425 425

56
3

20
0

12
2

A

A

BB

3 Second Floor Plan
1:100

All modifications, alterations, or changes to the project design, specifications, materials, or methods must be reviewed and approved by the Principal Designer. No changes are to be implemented without prior discussion and written consent from the Principal Designer. This process ensures that all
design intents and structural integrity are maintained and that any potential impacts on the project are fully assessed. Failure to adhere to this protocol may result in non-compliance with design standards and the Building Safety ACT, and could affect project timelines and costs.

X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 075 - 077 Proposed Dwelling - Plans.dwg

0 2 4 m2 m

Scale 1:100

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing except for planning purposes

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

Airtightness zone
Insulation zone

Concrete structure

New walls

New insulation

Low head room

Waterproofing
line

X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 075 - 077 Proposed Dwelling - Plans.dwg

Airtightness zone
Insulation zone

Concrete structure

New walls

New insulation

Low head room

Waterproofing
line

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

PLANNING

DS

Dawsons Farm, Macclesfield

Second Floor Plan

1:100

E3355 077 D

A1

0 06.12.22 First Issue KS AB
A 31.01.23 General updates KS AB

DRAFT
B 22.05.23 Revised to be smaller KS AB
C 22.08.24 Updated landscape MS AB
D 04.02.25 House Reduced in Size TR AB

GIA Ground Floor    802 m²

GIA Overall    946 m²

P
age 154



X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.2 Drawing Sheets\E3355 100-103 Elevations.dwg

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

Planning

Dawsons Farm,
Macclesfield

Proposed North Elevation

1:100

E 3355 102 C

A1

0 2 4 m2 m

Scale 1:100

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing. Only use figured dimensions.
All dimensions to be checked on site, before work commences. Any
discrepancies must be reported to the architect / contract administrator.

CDM regulations 2015
- For notifiable projects the building contractor must produce a
Construction Phase Plan, which will include :- a statement of methods
of construction, hazards, risks and how the works are to be controlled.
- A notifiable project is defined as works that are 30 working days long,
with 20 workers at any point in the project or exceeds 500 working
person days - this includes domestic projects.
To be read in conjunction with all CDM and HSE regulations.
- Drawings must be read in conjunction with Construction stage health
and safety plan.

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

All modifications, alterations, or changes to the project design,
specifications, materials, or methods must be reviewed and
approved by the Principal Designer. No changes are to be
implemented without prior discussion and written consent from
the Principal Designer. This process ensures that all design
intents and structural integrity are maintained and that any
potential impacts on the project are fully assessed.
Failure to adhere to this protocol may result in non-compliance
with design standards and the Building Safety ACT, and could
affect project timelines and costs.

0 23.08.24 First issue MS AB

A 28.08.24 Pre-planning MS AB
B 08/01/25 Planning KY AB
C 04/02/25 Planning MS AB

Client

DS

P
age 155



X:\Jobs\E3355 Dawson Farm, Macclesfield\3.0 Drawings\3.5 Model\02 Elevations-Sections\E3355 Elevations.dwg

©
 e

co
 d

es
ig

n 
co

ns
ul

ta
nt

s

PROJECT

DRAWING NAME

STATUS

JOB NO.

SCALE.

REVISION.

SIZE.

DRAWING NO.

REVISION DATE DESCRIPTIONREVISION DATE DESCRIPTION CHECKEDBY

Planning

Dawsons Farm,
Macclesfield

Proposed South Elevation

1:100

E 3355 100 C

A1

0 2 4 m2 m

Scale 1:100

NOTES
Do not scale from this drawing. Only use figured dimensions.
All dimensions to be checked on site, before work commences. Any
discrepancies must be reported to the architect / contract administrator.

CDM regulations 2015
- For notifiable projects the building contractor must produce a
Construction Phase Plan, which will include :- a statement of methods
of construction, hazards, risks and how the works are to be controlled.
- A notifiable project is defined as works that are 30 working days long,
with 20 workers at any point in the project or exceeds 500 working
person days - this includes domestic projects.
To be read in conjunction with all CDM and HSE regulations.
- Drawings must be read in conjunction with Construction stage health
and safety plan.

COPYRIGHT © This drawing is copyright and issued to you in
confidence.  It must not be copied, used or disclosed, in whole or in
part. to third parties.  It remains the property of eco design consultants
Read in conjunction with all relevant structural, mechanical and
electrical engineers and landscaping

South Pavilion, MK Art Centre, Parklands,
Great Linford, Milton Keynes, MK14 5DZ
T:     01908 886854
E:     studio@ecodesignconsultants.co.uk
W:    www.ecodesignconsultants.co.uk

eco
Architects & Environmental Consultants

design
consultants

All modifications, alterations, or changes to the project design,
specifications, materials, or methods must be reviewed and
approved by the Principal Designer. No changes are to be
implemented without prior discussion and written consent from
the Principal Designer. This process ensures that all design
intents and structural integrity are maintained and that any
potential impacts on the project are fully assessed.
Failure to adhere to this protocol may result in non-compliance
with design standards and the Building Safety ACT, and could
affect project timelines and costs.

0 23.08.24 First issue MS AB

A 28.08.24 Pre-planning MS AB
B 08/01/25 Planning KY AB
C 04/02/25 Planning MS AB

Client

DS

P
age 156


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 25/2053/FUL - LAND OF THE FORMER KNOWLE HOUSE, SAGARS ROAD, HANDFORTH, SK9 3EA: Erection of care home facility to provide 76no. bedspaces including new parking, landscaping and other works to facilitate the development
	25 2053 FUL Key Plans
	FRONT SHEET 25 2053 FUL.pdf
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-100-P2-LOCATION-PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-100_LOCATION PLAN


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-101-P3-EX-SITE-PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-101_EX SITE PLAN


	HCH-CAA-XX-00-DR-A-200-P4-PR-GROUND-FLOOR-PLAN
	Sheets
	200 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan


	HCH-CAA-XX-01-DR-A-201-P4-PR-FIRST-FLOOR-PLAN
	Sheets
	201 - Proposed First Floor Plan


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-211-P7-PR-ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	211 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-214-P2-PR-ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	214 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-215-P1-PR-SITE-SECTION
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-215_PR SITE SECTION


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-102-P6-EX-TREE-SITE-PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-102_EX TREE SITE PLAN


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-210-P7-PR-ELEVATIONS
	Sheets
	210 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	HCH-CAA-XX-R1-DR-A-104-P12-PR-ROOF-PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-R1-DR-A-104_PR ROOF PLAN


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-103-P12-PR-SITE-PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-103_PR SITE PLAN


	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-105-P5-PR-EXTERNAL-WORKS
	Sheets and Views
	HCH-CAA-XX-ZZ-DR-A-105_PR EXTERNAL WORKS


	TEL-Landscape-Care-Home-Development-Handforth-MR25-046-101-rev-F-Soft-Landscape-Specification
	Sheets and Views
	101


	TEL-Landscape-Care-Home-Development-Handforth-MR25-046-102-rev-E-Hard-Landscape-Specification
	Sheets and Views
	102




	6 25/3610/OUT - LAND AT PIGGINSHAW, ALTRINCHAM ROAD, SK9 5NW: Outline application for the phased development of up to 4 residential self-build, custom-build or open market dwellings, all matters reserved apart from primary access point and associated infrastructure
	25 3610 OUT Key Plans
	FRONT SHEET 25 3610 OUT.pdf
	25070_PL_001D_Illustrative Site Plan
	Sheets and Views
	25070(PL)001C_Site Plan




	7 25/3557/FUL - QC65 FIRST AVENUE, POYNTON, STOCKPORT, SK12 1ND: Change of use of QC65, First Avenue from Use Class B2 (General Industry) to Use Class B8 (Storage and distribution) and alterations to the existing building
	25 3557 FUL Key Plans
	Front sheet 25 3557 FUL.pdf
	24045-C4P-10-S01ZZ-D-A-1007-S2-P03-Site-Location-plan33587516_1
	Sheets
	1007 - LocationPlan


	24045-C4P-80-B01ZZ-D-A-8012-S2-P02-Building-LPA-Pre-Demolition-Elevations
	Sheets
	8012 - LPA_Pre-Demolition Elevations


	24045-C4P-80-B01ZZ-D-A-8013-S2-P03-Building-LPA-Post-Demolition-Elevations
	Sheets
	8013 - LPA_Post-Demolition Elevations


	24045-C4P-80-S01ZZ-D-A-8008-S2-P02-Site-LPA_Plan as Proposed
	Sheets
	8008 - LPA_Plan as Proposed


	24045-C4P-80-S01ZZ-D-A-8011-S2-P03-Site-LPA-External-Buildings-Demolition-Plan
	Sheets
	8011 - LPA_External Buildings Demolition Plan




	8 25/4184/PIP - LAND AT LOSTOCK HALL ROAD, POYNTON: Permission in principle for one dwelling
	25 4184 PIP Key Plans
	FRONT SHEET 25 4184 PIP.pdf
	SER-PIP-Site-Edged-Red


	9 25/3963/PIP - CAUDEBEC CONGLETON ROAD, ALDERLEY EDGE, CHESHIRE EAST, SK9 7AL: Permission in principle for the construction of up to 2 dwellings
	25 3963 PIP Key Plans
	FRONT SHEET 25 3963 PIP.pdf
	24-531-Location-plan-FV


	10 25/1197/FUL - DAWSON FARM BUXTON ROAD, BOSLEY, MACCLESFIELD, CHESHIRE EAST, SK11 0PX: Demolition of existing agricultural buildings and dwellinghouse, and construction of new replacement dwellinghouse with associated renewables and landscaping
	25 1197 FUL Key Plans
	FRONT SHEET 25 1197 FUL.pdf
	05-1099-301-P15-General-Arrangement
	Sheets and Views
	A1 Landscape XXXX-XXX


	E3355-005-C-Existing-site-plan
	Sheets and Views
	E3355 005-C Existing site plan


	E3355 075-D Ground Floor Plan
	Sheets and Views
	E3355 075-D Ground Floor Plan


	E3355 076-D First Floor Plan
	Sheets and Views
	E3355 076-D First Floor Plan


	E3355 077-D Second Floor Plan
	Sheets and Views
	E3355 077-D Second Floor Plan


	E3355 102-C North Elevation
	Sheets and Views
	E3355 102-C North Elevation (2)


	E3355 100-C South Elevation
	Sheets and Views
	E3355 100-C South Elevation (2)







